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Prologue




Unnatural Nation

Because they are so many, and so various, the people of India are also divided. It appears to have
always been so. In the spring of 1827 the poet Mirza Asadullah Khan Ghalib set out on a journey from
Delhi to Calcutta. Six months later he reached the holy Hindu city of Banaras. Here he wrote a poem
called ‘Chirag-i-Dair’ (Temple Lamps), which contains these timeless lines:

Said I one night to a pristine seer

(Who knew the secrets of whirling Time),
“Sir, you well perceive,

That goodness and faith,

Fidelity and love

Have all departed from this sorry land.
Father and son are at each other’s throat;
Brother fights brother. Unity

and Federation are undermined.

Despite these ominous signs

Why has not Doomsday come?

Why does not the Last Trumpet sound?
Who holds the reins of the Final Catastrophe?’L

Ghalib’s poem was composed against the backdrop of the decline of the Mughal Empire. His home
territory, the Indo-Gangetic plain, once ruled by a single monarch, was now split between contending
chiefdoms and armies. Brother was fighting brother; unity and federation were being undermined. But
even as he wrote, a new (and foreign) power was asserting its influence across the land in the form of
the British, who were steadily acquiring control of the greater part of the subcontinent. Then in 1857
large sections of the native population rose up in what the colonialists called the Sepoy Mutiny and
Indian nationalists later referred to as the First War of Indian Independence.

Some of the bloodiest fighting was in Ghalib’s home town, Delhi — still nominally the capital of
the Mughals and in time to become the capital of the British Raj as well. His own sympathies were
divided. He was the recipient of a stipend from the new rulers, yet a product of Mughal culture and
refinement. He saw, more clearly than the British colonialist did then or the Indian nationalist does
now, that it was impossible here to separate right from wrong, that horrible atrocities were being
committed by both sides. Marooned in his home, he wrote a melancholy account of how ‘Hindustan
has become the arena of the mighty whirlwind and the blazing fire’. ‘To what new order can the Indian
look with joy?’ he asked.2

An answer to this question was forthcoming. After the events of 1857 the Crown took over
control of the Indian colonies. A sophisticated bureaucracy replaced the somewhat ad-hoc and
haphazard administration of the old East India Company. New districts and provinces were created.
The running of the state was overseen by the elite cadre of the Indian Civil Service supported by
departments of police, forests, irrigation, etc. Much energy (and money) was spent on building a



railway network that criss-crossed the land. This contributed enormously to the unity of British India,
as well as to its stability, for now the rulers could quickly move troops to forestall any repeat of 1857.

I1

By 1888 the British were so solidly established in India that they could anticipate, if not a thousand-
year Raj, at least a rule that extended well beyond their own lifetimes. In that year a man who had
helped put the Raj in place gave a series of lectures in Cambridge which were later published in book
form under the simple title India. The man was Sir John Strachey. Strachey had spent many years in
the subcontinent, ultimately becoming amember of the Governor General’s Council. Now in
retirement in England, he set his Indian experience against the background of recent political
developments in Europe.

Large chunks of Strachey’s book are taken up by an administrative history of the Raj; of its army
and civil services, its land and taxation policies, the peculiar position of the ‘native states’.This was a
primer for those who might work in India after coming down from Cambridge. But there was also a
larger theoretical argument to the effect that ‘India’ was merely alabel of convenience, ‘a name which
we give to a great region including a multitude of different countries’.

In Strachey’s view, the differences between the countries of Europe were much smaller than
those between the ‘countries’ of India. ‘Scotland is more like Spain than Bengal is like the Punjab.’ In
India the diversities of race, language and religion were far greater. Unlike in Europe, these
‘countries’ were not nations; they did not have a distinct political or social identity. This, Strachey
told his Cambridge audience, ‘is the first and most essential thing to learn about India — that there is
not, and never was an India, or even any country of India possessing, according to any European ideas,
any sort of unity, physical, political, social or religious’.

There was no Indian nation or country in the past; nor would there be one in the future. Strachey
thought it ‘conceivable that national sympathies may arise in particular Indian countries’, but ‘that
they should ever extend to India generally, that men of the Punjab, Bengal, the North-western
Provinces, and Madras, should ever feel that they belong to one Indian nation, is impossible. You
might with as much reason and probability look forward to a time when a single nation will have taken
the place of the various nations of Europe.’3

Strachey’s remarks were intended as a historical judgement. At the time, new nations were
vigorously identifying themselves within Europe on the basis of a shared language or territory,
whereas none of the countries that he knew in India had displayed a comparable national awakening.
But we might also read them as a political exhortation, intended to stiffen the will of those in his
audience who would end up in the service of the Raj. For the rise of every new ‘nation’ in India would
mean a corresponding diminution in the power and prestige of Empire.

Ironically, even as he spoke Strachey’s verdict was being disputed by a group of Indians. These
had set up the Indian National Congress, a representative body that asked for a greater say for natives
in the running of their affairs. As the name suggests, this body wished to unite Indians across the
divisions of culture, territory, religion, and language, thus to construct what the colonialist thought
inconceivable — namely, a single Indian nation.

Very many good books have been written on the growth of the Indian National Congress, on its
move from debating club through mass movement to political party, on the part played by leaders
such as Gokhale, Tilak and (above all) Gandhi in this progression. Attention has been paid to the
building of bridges between linguistic communities, religious groupings and castes. These attempts



were not wholly successful, for low castes and especially Muslims were never completely convinced
of the Congress’s claims to be a truly ‘national’ party. Thus it was that when political independence
finally came in 1947 it came not to one nation, but two — India and Pakistan.

This is not the place to rehearse the history of Indian nationalism.2 I need only note that from the
time the Congress was formed right up to when India was made free — and divided — there were
sceptics who thought that Indian nationalism was not a natural phenomenon at all. There were, of
course, British politicians and thinkers who welcomed Indian self-rule and, in their own way, aided its
coming into being. (One of the prime movers of the Indian National Congress was a colonial official
of Scottish parentage, A. O. Hume.) Yetthere were many others who argued that, unlike France or
Germany or Italy, there was here no national essence, no glue to bind the people and take them
purposively forward. From this perspective stemmed the claim that it was only British rule that held
India and the Indians together.

Among those who endorsed John Strachey’s view that there could never be an independent Indian
nation were writers both famous and obscure. Prominent in the first category was Rudyard Kipling,
who had spen this formative years in — and was to write some of his finest stories about — the
subcontinent. In November 1891 Kipling visited Australia, where a journalist asked him about the
‘possibility of self-government in India’. ‘Oh no!’ he answered: ‘They are 4,000 years old out there,
much too old to learn that business. Law and order is what they want and we are there to give it to
them and we give it them straight.’s

Where Kipling laid emphasis on the antiquity of the Indian civilization, other colonialists
stressed the immaturity of the Indian mind to reach the same conclusion: namely, that Indians could
not govern themselves. A cricketer and tea planter insisted, after forty years there, that

[c]haos would prevail in India if we were ever so foolish to leave the natives to run their own
show. Ye gods! What a salad of confusion, of bungle, of mismanagement, and far worse, would
be the instant result.

These grand people will go anywhere and do anything if led by us.

Themselves they are still infants as regards governing or statesmanship. And their so-called
leaders are the worst of the lot.6

Views such as these were widely prevalent among the British in India, and among the British at home
as well. Politically speaking, the most important of these ‘Stracheyans’ was undoubtedly Winston
Churchill. In the 1940s, with Indian independence manifestly round the corner, Churchill grumbled
that he had not become the King’s first minister in order to preside over the liquidation of the British
Empire.

A decade previously he had tried to rebuild a fading political career on the plank of opposing
self-government for Indians. After Gandhi’s ‘salt satyagrafra’ of 1930 in protest against taxes on salt,
the British government began speaking with Indian nationalists about the possibility of granting the
colony dominion status. This was vaguely defined, with no timetable set for its realization. Even so,
Churchill called the idea ‘not only fantastic in itself but criminally mischievous in its effects’. Since
Indians were not fit for self-government, it was necessary to marshal ‘the sober and resolute forces of
the British Empire’ to stall any such possibility.

In 1930 and 1931 Churchill delivered numerous speeches designed to work up, in most unsober
form, the constituency opposed to independence for India. Speaking to an audience at the City of
London in December 1930, he claimed that if the British left the subcontinent, then ‘an army of white
janissaries, officered if necessary from Germany, will be hired to secure the armed ascendancy of the
Hindu’. Three months later, speaking at the Albert Hall on ‘Our Duty to India’ — with his kinsman the



Duke of Marlborough presiding — Churchill argued that ‘to abandon India to the rule of the Brahmins
[who in his opinion dominated the Congress Party] would be an act of cruel and wicked negligence’. If
the British left, he predicted, then the entire gamut of public services created by them — the judicial,
medical, railway and public works departments — would perish, and ‘India will fall back quite rapidly
through the centuries into the barbarism and privations of the Middle Ages’.z

II1

A decade and a half after Winston Churchill issued these warnings, the British left India. A time of
barbarism and privation did ensue, the blame for which remains a matter of much dispute. But then
some sort of order was restored. No Germans were necessary to keep the peace. Hindu ascendancy,
such as it was, was maintained not by force of arms but through regular elections based on universal
adult franchise.

Yet, throughout the sixty years since India became independent, there has been speculation about
how long it would stay united, or maintain the institutions and processes of democracy. With every
death of a prime minister has been predicted the replacement of democracy by military rule; after
every failure of the monsoon there has been anticipated country wide famine; in every new
secessionist movement has been seen the disappearance of India as a single entity.

Among these doomsayers there have been many Western writers who, after 1947, were as likely
to be American as British. Notably, India’s existence has been a puzzle not just to casual observers or
commonsensical journalists; it has also been an anomaly for academic political science, according to
whose axioms cultural heterogeneity and poverty do not make a nation, still less a democratic one.
That India ‘could sustain democratic institutions seems, on the face of it, highly improbable’, wrote
the distinguished political scientist Robert Dahl, adding: ‘It lacks all the favourable conditions.’ ‘India
has a well-established reputation for violating social scientific generalizations’, wrote another
American scholar, adding: ‘Nonetheless, the findings of this article furnish grounds for skepticism
regarding the viability of democracy in India.’8

The pages of this book are peppered with forecasts of India’s imminent dissolution, or of its
descent into anarchy or authoritarian rule. Here, let me quote only a prediction by a sympathetic
visitor, the British journalist Don Taylor. Writing in 1969, by which time India had stayed united for
two decades and gone through four general elections, Taylor yet thought that

the key question remains: can India remain in one piece — or will it fragment? . . . When one
looks at this vast country and its 524 million people, the 15 major languages in use, the
conflicting religions, the many races, it seems incredible that one nation could ever emerge.

It is difficult to even encompass this country in the mind — the great Himalaya, the wide
Indo-Gangetic plain burnt by the sun and savaged by the fierce monsoon rains, the green flooded
delta of the east, the great cities like Calcutta, Bombay and Madras. It does not, often, seem like
one country. And yet there is a resilience about India which seems an assurance of survival.
There is something which can only be described as an Indian spirit.

I believe it no exaggeration to say that the fate of Asia hangs on its survival.2

The heart hoped that India would survive, but the head worried that it wouldn’t. The place was too
complicated, too confusing — a nation, one might say, that was unnatural.
In truth, ever since the country was formed there have also been many Indians who have seen the



survival of India as being on the line, some (the patriots) speaking or writing in fear, others (the
secessionists or revolutionaries) with anticipation. Like their foreign counterparts, they have come to
believe that this place is far too diverse to persist as a nation, and much too poor to endure as a
democracy.

IV

In the last decade of the last century I became a resident of Ghalib’s native city. I lived, however, not
in the old walled town where his family haveli, or mansion, still stands, but in New Delhi, built as an
imperial capital by the British. As in the poet’s day, Indian was fighting Indian. On my way to work I
had to pass through Rajpath (formerly Kingsway), the road whose name and location signal the
exercise of state power. For about a mile, Rajpath runs along flat land; on either side are spacious
grounds meant to accommodate the thousands of spectators who come for the annual Republic Day
parade. The road then ascends a hill and reaches the majestic sandstone buildings known as the North
and South Blocks, which house the offices of the Government of India. The road ends in the great
house where the Viceroy of British India once lived.

By the time I moved to New Delhi the British had long departed. India was now a free and
sovereign republic. But not, it seemed, an altogether happy one. The signs of discord were everywhere.
Notably on Rajpath, where the grounds meant to be empty except on ceremonial days had become a
village of tents, each with colourful placards hung outside it. One tent might be inhabited by peasants
from the Uttarak-hand Himalaya, seeking a separate province; a second by farmers from Maharashtra,
fighting for a higher price for their produce; a third by residents of the southern Konkan coast, urging
that their language be given official recognition by inclusion in the Eighth Schedule of the
Constitution of India.

The people within these tents and the causes they upheld were ever changing. The hill peasants
might be replaced by industrial workers protesting retrenchment; the Maharashtra farmers by Tibetan
refugees asking for Indian citizenship; the Konkani speakers by Hindu monks demanding a ban on
cow slaughter.

In the early nineties, these tents were summarily dismantled by a government worried about the
impression made on foreign visitors by such open expression of dissent. Rajpath was vacated of
encroachments and the lawns restored to their former glory. But the protesters regrouped, and
relocated. They now placed themselves a mile to the north-west, next to the Jantar Mantar observatory
in Connaught Place. Here they were away from the eyes of the state, but directly in view of the
citizens who daily passed through this busy shopping district. In 1998 the police decided this would
not do either. The shanties were once again demolished, but, as a newspaper report had it, ‘as far as
the authorities are concerned, only the venue has changed — the problem persists. The squatters are
merely to be shifted to an empty plot at the Mandir Marg—Shankar Road crossing, where they are
likely to draw less attention.’10

When I lived in Delhi, in the 1990s, I wished I had the time to walk on Rajpath every day from
the first of January to the thirty-first of December, chronicling the appearance and disappearance of
the tents and their residents. That would be the story of India as told from a single street, and in a
single year. The book that is now in your hands follows a different method. Its narrative extends over
six decades, from 1947 to the present. However, like the book that I once intended to write — based on
a year spent walking up and down Rajpath — this too is a story, above all, of social conflicts, of how
these arise, how they are expressed, and how their resolution is sought.



These conflicts run along many axes, among which we may — for the moment — single out four as
pre-eminent. First, there is cast, a principal identity for many Indians, defining whom they might
marry, associate with and fight against. ‘Caste’ is a Portuguese word that conflates two Indian words:
jati, the endogamous group one is born into, and varna, the place that group occupies in the system of
social stratification mandated by Hindu scripture. There are four varnas, with the former
‘Untouchables’ constituting afifth (and lowest) strata. Into these varnas fit the 3,000 and more jatis,
each challenging those, in the same region, that are ranked above it, and being in turn challenged by
those below.

Then there is language. The Constitution of India recognizes twenty-two languages as ‘official’.
The most important of these is Hindi, which in one form or another is spoken by upwards of 400
million people. Others include Telugu, Kannada, Tamil, Malayalam, Marathi, Gujarati, Oriya,
Punjabi, Bengali and Assamese, each of which is written in a distinct script and boasts many millions
of native speakers. Naturally, national unity and linguistic diversity have not always been seen to be
compatible. Indians speaking one tongue have fought with Indians who speak another.

A third axis of conflict is religion. A vast majority of the billion-plus Indians are Hindus. But
India also has the second largest population of Muslims in the world — about 140 million (only
Indonesia has more). In addition there are substantial communities of Christians, Sikhs, Buddhists,
and Jains. Since faith is as fundamental a feature of human identity as language, it should scarcely be
a surprise that Indians worshipping one variation of God have sometimes quarrelled with Indians
worshipping another.

The fourth major axis of conflict is class. India is a land of unparalleled cultural diversity but
also, less appealingly, of massive social disparities. There are Indian entrepreneurs who are fabulously
wealthy, owning huge homes in London and New York. Yet fully 26 per cent of the country’s
population, about 300 million individuals, are said to live below the official poverty line. In the
countryside there are deep inequalities in landholding; in the city, wide divergences in income. Not
unexpectedly, these asymmetries have fuelled many movements of opposition.

These axes of conflict operate both singly and in tandem. Sometimes a group professing a
particular faith also speaks a separate language. Often the low castes are the subordinate classes as
well. And to these four central axes one should perhaps add a fifth that cuts right across them: that of
gender. Here,again, India offers the starkest contrasts. A woman served as prime minister for a full
fifteen years, yet in some parts of India female infanticide is still very common. Landless labourers
are paid meagre wages, the women among them the lowest of all. Low castes face social stigma, the
women among them most of all. And the holy men of each religion tend to assign their women an
inferior position in both this world and the next. As an axis of discrimination, gender is even more
pervasive than the others, although it has not so often expressed itself in open and collective protest.

As a laboratory of social conflict the India of the twentieth century is — for the historian — at least
as interesting as the Europe of the nineteenth. In both the conflicts were produced by the conjunction
of two truly transformative processes of social change: industrialization and the making of modern
nation-states. In India the scope for contention has been even greater, given the diversity of competing
groups across religion, caste, class and language. Conflicts are also more visible in the subcontinent
since, unlike nineteenth-century Europe, contemporary India is a democracy based on adult suffrage,
with a free press and a largely independent judiciary. At no other time or place in human history have
social conflicts been so richly diverse, so vigorously articulated, so eloquently manifest in art and
literature, or addressed with such directness by the political system and the media.

One way of summarizing the history of independent India — and the contents of this book — would
be through a series of ‘conflict maps’. One might draw a map of India for each decade, with the
conflicts then prevalent marked in various colours depending on their intensity: blue for those that



democratically advance the interests of a particular group; red for those that more aggressively, yet
still non-violently, ask for a major change in the law; black for those that seek the destruction of the
Indian state by armed insurrection.

Reading these maps chronologically, one would find major variations across the decades, with
red areas becoming black, black areas becoming red, and blue and red areas becoming white, that
being the colour of those parts of India where there appears to be no major conflict at all. These maps
would present a vivid kaleidoscope of changing colours. But amid all the changes the discerning
observer would also notice that two things remain constant. The first is that the shape of the map does
not change through all its iterations. This is because no part of India has successfully left India. The
second is that at no time do the blue, red and black areas, taken together, anywhere approximate the
extent of the white areas of the map. Even in what were once known as its ‘dangerous decades’, much
more than 50 per cent of India was comfortably at peace with itself.

The press nowadays — broadsheet and tabloid, pink and white, Indian and Western —is chock full
of stories of India’s economic success, this reckoned to be so much at odds with its past history of
poverty and deprivation. However, the real success story of modern India lies not in the domain of
economics butin that of politics. The saluting of India’s ‘software boom’ might be premature. We do
not yet know whether this will lead to amore general prosperity among the masses. But that India is
still a single nation after sixty testing years of independence, and that it is still largely democratic —
these are facts that should compel our deeper attention. A recent statistical analysis of the relationship
between democracy and development in 135 countries found that ‘the odds against democracy in India
were extremely high’. Given its low levels of income and literacy, and its high levels of social
conflict, India was ‘predicted as [a] dictatorship during the entire period’ of the study (1950-90).
Since, in fact, it was a democracy practically the entire period studied, there was only one way to
characterize India, namely as ‘a major outlier’.L.

To explain this anomaly, this paradox, one needs perhaps to abandon the methods of statistical
social science — in which India will always be the exception to the rule — in favour of the more
primitive techniques of the narrative historian. The forces that divide India are many. This book pays
due attention to them. But there are also forces that have kept India together, that have helped
transcend or contain the cleavages of class and culture, that — so far, at least — have nullified those
many predictions that India would not stay united and not stay democratic. These moderating
influences are far less visible; it is one aim of this book to make them more so. I think it premature
now to identify them; they will become clearer as the narrative proceeds. Suffice it to say that they
have included individuals as well as institutions.

v

‘[The] period of Indian history since 1947’, writes the political theorist Sunil Khilnani, ‘might be seen
as the adventure of apolitical idea: democracy.” Viewed thus, independent India appears as the ‘third
moment in the great democratic experiment launched at the end of the eighteenth century by the
American and French revolutions’. Each of these experiments ‘released immense energies; each raised
towering expectations; and each has suffered tragic disappointments’. While the Indian experiment is
the youngest, says Khilnani, ‘its outcome may well turn out to be the most significant of them all,
partly because of its sheer human scale, and partly because of its location, a substantial bridgehead of
effervescent liberty on the Asian continent’.12

As an Indian, I would like to think that democracy in India will turn out to be ‘more significant’
than comparable experiments in the West. As a historian, I know only that it is much less studied.



There are hundreds, perhaps thousands, of books on the French and American revolutions: biographies
of their leaders famous and obscure, studies of the social background of those who participated in
them, assessments of their deepening or degradation in the decades and centuries that followed. By
contrast, the works by historians on any aspect of Indian democracy can be counted on the fingers of
one hand — or, if one is more open-minded, two.

The educationist Krishna Kumar writes that ‘for Indian children history itself comes to an end
with Partition and Independence. As a constituent of social studies, and later on as a subject in its own
right, history runs right out of content in 1947 . . . All that has happened during the last 55 years may
filter through them easly civics syllabus, popular cinema and television; history as formally
constituted knowledge of the past does not cover it.’13

If, for Indian children, history comes to an end with Independence and Partition, this is because
Indian adults have mandated it that way. In the academy, the discipline of history deals with the past,
while the disciplines of political science and sociology deal with the present. This is a conventional
and in many ways logical division. The difficulty is that in the Indian academy the past is defined as a
single, immovable date: 15 August 1947. Thus, when the clock struck midnight and India became
independent, history ended, and political science and sociology began.

In the decades since 1947, the present has moved on. Political scientists studied the first general
election of 1952, and then the next one held five years later. Social anthropologists wrote accounts of
Indian villages in the 1950s, and then some more in the 1960s. The past, however, has stayed fixed. By
training and temperament, historians have restricted themselves to the period before Independence. A
vast literature grew — and is still growing — on the social, cultural, political and economic
consequences of British colonialism. A even more vast literature grew — and it too is still growing —
on the forms, functions, causes and consequences of the opposition to colonial rule. Leading that
opposition was the social reformer, spiritualist, prophet and political agitator Mohandas Karamchand
Gandhi.

Gandhi was, and remains, greatly admired by some and cordially detested by others. Much the
same could be said of the monumental edifice he opposed, the British Raj. The British finally left
India in August 1947; Gandhi was assassinated by a fellow Indian a bare five and a half months later.
That the demise of the Raj was followed so quickly by the death of its most celebrated opponent has
had a determining influence on the writing of history. One cannot say whether, if Gandhi had lived on
much longer, historians would have shown greater interest in the history of free India. As it turned out,
by custom and convention Indian history is seen as ‘ending’ on 15 August 1947 — although
biographers of the Mahatma are allowed a six-month extension. Thus many fine, as well as
controversial, books have been written on the last intense, conflict-filled years of British India. That
great institution, the British Raj, and that great individual, Mahatma Gandhi, continue to be of
absorbing interest to historians. But the history of independent India has remained a field mostly
untilled. If history is ‘formally constituted knowledge of the past’, then for the period since 1947 this
knowledge practically does not exist.

And yet, as this book shows, the first years of freedom were as full of dramatic interest as the last
years of the Raj. The British had formally handed over power, but authority had to be created anew.
Partition had not put an end to Hindu—Muslim conflict, nor Independence to class and caste tension.
Large areas of the map were still under the control of the Maharajas; these had to be brought into the
Indian Union by persuasion or coercion. Amidst the wreckage of a decaying empire a new nation was
being born — and built.

Of his recent history of postwar Europe, Tony Judt writes that ‘a book of this kind rests, in the
first instance, on the shoulders of other books'. He notes that ‘for the brief sixty-year period of
Europe’s history since the end of the Second World War — indeed, for this period above all — the



secondary literature in English is inexhaustible’.14 The situation in India is all too different. Here the
gaps in our knowledge are colossal. The Republic of India is a union of twenty-eight states, some
larger than France. Yet not even the bigger or more important of these states have had their histories
written. In the 1950s and 60s India pioneered a new approach to foreign policy, and to economic
policy and planning as well. Authoritative or even adequate accounts of these experiments remain to
be written. India has produced entrepreneurs of great vision and dynamism — but the stories of the
institutions they built and the wealth they created are mostly unwritten. Again, there are no proper
biographies of some of the key figures in our modern history: such as Sheikh Abdullah or Master Tara
Singh or M. G. Ramachandran, ‘provincial’ leaders each of whose province is the size of a large
European country.

Unlike a history of postwar Europe, a history of postwar India cannot simply rest on the
shoulders of other books on more specialized subjects. In matters great and small it must fill in the
blanks using materials picked up by the author. My first mentor, a very wise old civil servant named
C. S. Venkatachar, once told me that every work of history is ‘interim’, to be amplified, amended,
contested, and overthrown by works written in its wake. Despite the range of subjects it covers, this
book cannot hope to have treated any of them comprehensively. Individual readers will have their own
particular grouses; some might complain, for instance, that I have not said enough here about tribals,
others that I should have written even more pages on Kashmir.

My own hopes for this book are best expressed in the words of Marc Bloch, writing about another
country in another time:

I could liken myself to an explorer making a rapid survey of the horizon before plunging into
thickets from which the wider view is no longer possible. The gaps in my account are naturally
enormous. I have done my best not to conceal any deficiencies, whether in the state of our
knowledge in general or in my own documentation . . . When the time comes for my own work to
be superseded by studies of deeper penetration, I shall feel well rewarded if confrontation with
my false conjectures has made history learn the truth about herself.1

VI

The great Cambridge historian F. W. Maitland liked to remind his students that ‘what is now in the
past was once in the future’. There could be no better maxim for the historian, and especially the
historian of the recent past, who addresses an audience with very decided views on the subjects about
which he presumes to inform them. An American historian of the Vietnam War is read by those who
have mostly made up their minds on whether the war was just or not. A French historian of the student
movement of 1968 knows that his readers shall have forceful, if mutually contradictory, opinions
about that particular upsurge.

Those who write contemporary history know that the reader is not a passive vessel to receive the
text placed before him or her. The reader is also a citizen, a critical citizen, with individual political
and ideological preferences. These preferences direct and dictate the reader’s view of the past, and of
leaders and lawmakers most particularly. We live with the consequences of decisions taken by modern
politicians, and often presume that an alternate politician — someone modelled on oneself — would
have taken better or wiser decisions.

The furtherback we go in time, the less of a problem this is. Historians of the eighteenth century
seek to interpret and understand that time, and so, following them, do their readers. A biographer of
Jefferson or Napoleon can count on more trusting readers — they do not presume to know the things



those men did, or wish they should have done them differently. Here, the reader is usually happy to be
led and guided by the expert. But the biographer of John F. Kennedy or Charles de Gaulle is not so
fortunate. Some, perhaps many, potential readers already know the ‘truth’ about these men, and are
less willing to hear alternative versions of it, even if they are backed up by copious footnotes.

Contemporary historians thus face a challenge from their readers which their more backward-
looking colleagues avoid. But there is also a second, and perhaps less commonly acknowledged,
challenge. This is that the historian too is a citizen. The scholar who chooses to write on the Vietnam
War already has strong views on the topic. The scholar who writes on the American Civil War would
have less strong views, and one who writes on the Revolutionary War weaker views still. For the
historian as well as the citizen, the closer one gets to the present, the more judgement alone tends to
become.

In writing this book I have tried to keep Maitland’s maxim always in front of me. I have been
driven by curiosity rather than certainty, by the wish to understand rather than the desire to pass
judgement. I have sought to privilege primary sources over retrospective readings, thus to interpret an
event of, say, 1957 in terms of what was known in 1957 rather than in 2007. This book is, in the first
instance, simply an attempt to tell the modern history of one-sixth of humankind. It is an account, as
well as analysis, of the major characters, controversies, themes and processes in independent India.
However, the manner of the story’s telling has been driven by two fundamental ambitions: to pay
proper respect to the social and political diversity of India, and to unravel the puzzle that has for so
long confronted scholar and citizen, foreigner as well as native — namely, why is there an India at all?
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PART ONE



PICKING UP THE PIECES



FREEDOM AND PARRICIDE

The disappearance of the British Raj in India is at present, and must for along time be, simply
inconceivable. That it should be replaced by a native Government or Governments is the wildest
of wild dreams . . . As soon as the last British soldier sailed from Bombay or Karachi, India
would become the battlefield of antagonistic racial and religious forces . . . [and] the peaceful and
progressive civilisation, which Great Britain has slowly but surely brought into India, would
shrivel up in a night.

J. E. WeLLpon, former Bishop of Calcutta, 1915

I have no doubt that if British governments had been prepared to grant in 1900 what they refused
in 1900 but granted in 1920; or to grant in 1920 what they refused in 1920 but granted in 1940; or
to grant in 1940 what they refused in 1940 but granted in 1947 — then nine-tenths of the misery,
hatred, and violence, the imprisonings and terrorism, the murders, flogging, shootings,
assassinations, even the racial massacres would have been avoided; the transference of power
might well have been accomplished peacefully, even possibly without Partition.

LeonarD WoOLF, 1967

Freepom came 1o Inpia on 15 August 1947, but patriotic Indians had celebrated their first ‘Independence
Day’ seventeen years before. In the first week of January 1930 the Indian National Congress passed a
resolution fixing the last Sunday of the month for countrywide demonstrations in support of purna
swaraj, or complete independence. This, it was felt, would both stoke nationalist aspirations and force
the British seriously to consider giving up power. In an essay in his journal Young India, Mahatma
Gandhi set out how the day should be observed. ‘It would be good’, said the leader, ‘if the declaration
[of independence] is made by whole villages, whole cities even . . . It would be well if all the meetings
were held at the identical minute in all the places.’

Gandhi suggested that the time of the meeting be advertised in the traditional way, by drum-
beats. The celebrations would begin with the hoisting of the national flag. The rest of the day would be
spent ‘in doing some constructive work, whether it is spinning, or service of “untouchables”, or
reunion of Hindus and Mussalmans, or prohibition work, or even all these together, which is not
impossible’. Participants would take a pledge affirming that it was ‘the inalienable right of the Indian
people, as of any other people, to have freedom and to enjoy the fruits of their toil’, and that ‘if any
government deprives a people of these rights and oppresses them, the people have a further right to
alter it or abolish it’.1

The resolution to mark the last Sunday of January 1930 as Independence Day was passed in the
city of Lahore, where the Congress was holding its annual session. It was here that Jawaharlal Nehru
was chosen President of the Congress, in confirmation of his rapidly rising status within the Indian
national movement. Born in 1889, twenty years after Gandhi, Nehru was a product of Harrow and
Cambridge who had become a close protégé of the Mahatma. He was intelligent and articulate,
knowledgeable about foreign affairs, and with a particular appeal to the young.

In his autobiography Nehru recalled how ‘Independence Day came, January 26th, 1930, and it



revealed to us, as in a flash, the earnest and enthusiastic mood of the country. There was something
vastly impressive about the great gatherings everywhere, peacefully and solemnly taking the pledge of
independence without any speeches or exhortation.’2 In a press statement that he issued the day after,
Nehru ‘respectfully congratulate[d] the nation on the success of the solemn and orderly
demonstrations’. Towns and villages had ‘vied with each other in showing their enthusiastic adherence
to independence’. Mammoth gatherings were held in Calcutta and Bombay, but the meetings in
smaller towns were well attended too.2

Every year after 1930, Congress-minded Indians celebrated 26 January as Independence Day.
However, when the British finally left the subcontinent, they chose to hand over power on 15 August
1947. This date was selected by the Viceroy, Lord Mountbatten, as it was the second anniversary of
the Japanese surrender to the Allied Forces in the Second World War. He, and the politicians waiting
to take office, were unwilling to delay until the date some others would have preferred — 26 January
1948.

So freedom finally came on a day that resonated with imperial pride rather than nationalist
sentiment. In New Delhi, capital of the Raj and of free India, the formal events began shortly before
midnight. Apparently, astrologers had decreed that 15 August was an inauspicious day. Thus it was
decided to begin the celebrations on the 14th, with a special session of the Constituent Assembly, the
body of representative Indians working towards a new constitution.

The function was held in the high-domed hall of the erstwhile Legislative Council of the Raj. The
room was brilliantly lit and decorated with flags. Some of these flags had been placed inside picture
frames that until the previous week had contained portraits of British viceroys. Proceedings began at
11 p.m. with the singing of the patriotic hymn ‘Vande Matram’ and a two-minute silence in memory
of those ‘who had died in the struggle for freedom in India and elsewhere’. The ceremonies ended
with the presentation of the national flag on behalf of the women of India.

Between the hymn and the flag presentation came the speeches. There were three main speakers
that night. One, Chaudhry Khaliquz-zaman, was chosen to represent the Muslims of India; he duly
proclaimed the loyalty of the minority to the newly freed land. A second, the philosopher Dr
Sarvepalli Radhakrishnan, was chosen for his powers of oratory and his work in reconciling East and
West: appropriately, he praised the ‘political sagacity and courage’ of the British who had elected to
leave India while the Dutch stayed on in Indonesia and the French would not leave Indo-China.4

The star turn, however, was that of the first prime minister of free India, Jawaharlal Nehru. His
speech was rich in emotion and rhetoric, and has been widely quoted since. ‘At the stroke of the
midnight hour, when the world sleeps, India will awake to life and freedom,’ said Nehru.2 This was ‘a
moment which comes but rarely in history, when we step out from the old to the new, when an age
ends, and when the soul of a nation, long suppressed, finds utterance’.

This was spoken inside the columned Council House. In the streets outside, as an American
journalist reported,

bedlam had broken loose. Hindus, Muslims, and Sikhs were happily celebrating together . . . It
was Times Square on New Year’s Eve. More than anyone else, the crowd wanted Nehru. Even
before he was due to appear, surging thousands had broken through police lines and flowed right
to the doors of the Assembly building. Finally, the heavy doors were closed to prevent a probably
souvenir-hunting tide from sweeping through the Chamber. Nehru, whose face reflected his
happiness, escaped by a different exit and after a while the rest of us went out.

No event of any importance in India is complete without a goof-up. In this case, it was relatively
minor. When, after the midnight session at the Constituent Assembly, Jawaharlal Nehru went to



submit his list of cabinet ministers to the governor general, he handed over an empty envelope.
However, by the time of the swearing-in ceremony the missing piece of paper was found. Apart from
Prime Minister Nehru, it listed thirteen other ministers. These included the nationalist stalwarts
Vallabhbhai Patel and Maulana Abul Kalam Azad, as well as four Congress politicians of the younger
generation.

More notable perhaps were the names of those who were not from the Congress. These included
two representatives of the world of commerce and one representative of the Sikhs. Three others were
lifelong adversaries of the Congress. These were R. K. Shanmukham Chetty, a Madras businessman
who possessed one of the best financial minds in India; B. R. Ambedkar, a brilliant legal scholar and
an ‘Untouchable’ by caste; and Shyama Prasad Mookerjee, a leading Bengal politician who belonged
(at this time) to the Hindu Mahasabha. All three had collaborated with the rulers while the Congress
men served time in British jails. But now Nehru and his colleagues wisely put aside these differences.
Gandhi had reminded them that ‘freedom comes to India, not to the Congress’, urging the formation
of a Cabinet that included the ablest men regardless of party affiliation.t

The first Cabinet of free India was ecumenical in ways other than the political. Its members came
from as many as five religious denominations (with a couple of atheists thrown in for good measure),
and from all parts of India. There was a woman, Rajkumari Amrit Kaur, as well as two Untouchables.

On 15 August the first item on the agenda was the swearing-in of the Governor General, Lord
Mountbatten, who until the previous night had been the last viceroy. The day’s programme read:

8.30 a.m. Swearing in of governor general and ministers at Government House
9.40 a.m. Procession of ministers to Constituent Assembly
9.50 a.m. State drive to Constituent Assembly
9.55 a.m. Royal salute to governor general
10.30 a.m. Hoisting of national flag at Constituent Assembly
10.35 a.m. State drive to Government House
6.00 p.m. Flag ceremony at India Gate
7.00 p.m. [lluminations
7.45 p.m. Fireworks display
8.45 p.m. Official dinner at Government House
10.15 p.m. Reception at Government House

It appeared that the Indians loved pomp and ceremony as much as the departing rulers. Across Delhi,
and in other parts of India, both state and citizen joyously celebrated the coming of Independence.
Three hundred flag-hoisting functions were reported from the capital alone. In the country’s
commercial hub, Bombay, the city’s mayor hosted a banquet at the luxurious Taj Mahal hotel. At a
temple in the Hindu holy town of Banaras, the national flag was unfurled by, significantly, a Muslim.
In the north-eastern hill town of Shillong, the governor presided over a function where the flag was
hoisted by four young persons — two Hindu and Muslim boy/girl pairings — for ‘symbolically it is
appropriate for young India to hoist the flag of the newlIndia that is being born’.

When the first, so to say fantastical, Independence Day was observed on 26 January 1930 the
crowds were ‘solemn and orderly’ (as Nehru observed). But, in 1947, when the real day of
Independence came, the feelings on display were rather more elemental. To quote a foreign observer,
everywhere, ‘in city after city, lusty crowds have burst the bottled-up frustrations of many years in an



emotional mass jag. Mob sprees have rolled from mill districts to gold coasts and back again . .. [T]he
happy, infectious celebrations blossomed in forgetfulness of the decades of sullen resentment against
all that was symbolized by a sahib’s sun-topi.’

The happenings in India’s most populous city, Calcutta, were characteristic of the mood. For the
past few years the city had been in the grip of a cloth shortage, whose signs now miraculously
disappeared in a ‘rash of flags that has broken out on houses and buildings . . ., on cars and bicycles
and in the hands of babes and sucklings’. Meanwhile, in Government House, a new Indian governor
was being sworn in. Not best pleased with the sight was the private secretary of the departing British
governor. He complained that ‘the general motley character of the gathering from the clothing point of
view detracted greatly from its dignity’. There were no dinner jackets and ties on view: only loincloths
and white Gandhi caps. With ‘the throne room full of unauthorized persons’, the ceremony was ‘a
foretaste of what was to come’ after the British had left India. Its nadir was reached when the outgoing
governor of Bengal, Sir Frederick Burrows, had a white Gandhi cap placed on his head as he made to
leave the room.

I1

In Delhi there was ‘prolonged applause’ when the president of the Constituent Assembly began the
meeting by invoking the Father of the Nation — Mohandas Karamchand Gandhi. Outside, the crowds
shouted ‘Mahatma Gandhi ki jai’. Yet Gandhi was not present at the festivities in the capital. He was
in Calcutta, but did not attend any function or hoist a flag there either. The Gandhi caps were on
display at Government House with neither his knowledge nor permission. On the evening of the 14th
he was visited by the chief minister of West Bengal, who asked him what form the celebrations should
take the next day. ‘People are dying of hunger all round,” answered Gandhi. ‘Do you wish to hold a
celebration in the midst of this devastation?’Z

Gandhi’s mood was bleak indeed. When are porter from the leading nationalist paper, the
Hindustan Times, requested a message on the occasion of Independence, he replied that ‘he had run
dry’. The British Broadcasting Corporation asked his secretary to help them record a message from
the one man the world thought really represented India. Gandhi told them to talk to Jawaharlal Nehru
instead. The BBC were not persuaded: they sent the emissary back, adding, as inducement, the fact
that this message would be translated into many languages and broadcast around the globe. Gandhi
was unmoved, saying: ‘Ask them to forget I know English.’

Gandhi marked 15 August 1947 with a twenty-four-hour fast. The freedom he had struggled so
long for had come at an unacceptable price. Independence had also meant Partition. The last twelve
months had seen almost continuous rioting between Hindus and Muslims. The violence had begun on
16 August 1946 in Calcutta and spread to the Bengal countryside. From there it moved on to Bihar,
then on to the United Provinces and finally to the province of Punjab, where the scale of the violence
and the extent of the killing exceeded even the horrors that had preceded it.

The violence of August—September 1946 was, in the first instance, instigated by the Muslim
League, the party which fuelled the movement for a separate state of Pakistan. The League was led by
Mohammad Ali Jinnah, an austere, aloof man, and yet a brilliant political tactician. Like Nehru and
Gandhi, he was a lawyer trained in England. Like them, he had once been a member of the Indian
National Congress, but he had left the party because he felt that it was led by and for Hindus. Despite
its nationalist protestations, argued Jinnah, the Congress did not really represent the interests of
India’s largest minority, the Muslims.



By starting a riot in Calcutta in August 1946, Jinnah and the League hoped to polarize the two
communities further, and thus force the British to divide India when they finally quit. In this
endeavour they richly succeeded. The Hindus retaliated savagely in Bihar, their actions supported by
local Congress leaders. The British had already said that they would not transfer power to any
government ‘whose authority is directly denied by large and powerful elements in the Indian national
life’.2 The blood shed of 1946-7 seemed to suggest that the Muslims were just such an element, who
would not live easily or readily under a Congress government dominated by Hindus. Now ‘each
communal outbreak was cited as a further endorsement of the two-nation theory, and of the
inevitability of the partition of the country’.2

Gandhi was not a silent witness to the violence. When the first reports came in from rural Bengal,
he set everything else aside and made for the spot. This 77-year-old man walked in difficult terrain
through slush and stone, consoling the Hindus who had much the worse of the riots. In a tour of seven
weeks he walked 116 miles, mostly barefoot, addressing almost a hundred village meetings. Later he
visited Bihar, where the Muslims were the main sufferers. Then he went to Delhi, where refugees from
the Punjab had begun to pour in, Hindus and Sikhs who had lost all in the carnage. They were filled
with feelings of revenge, which Gandhi sought to contain, for he was fearful that it would lead to
retributory violence against those Muslims who had chosen to stay behind in India.

Two weeks before the designated day of Independence the Mahatma left Delhi. He spent four
days in Kashmir and then took the train to Calcutta, where, a year after it began, the rioting had not yet
died down. On the afternoon of the 13th he set up residence in the Muslim dominated locality of
Beliaghata, in ‘a ramshackle building open on all sides to the crowds’, to see whether ‘he could
contribute his share in the return of sanity in the premier city of Calcutta’.

Gandhi decided simply to fast and pray on the 15th. By the afternoon news reached him of (to
quote a newspaper report) ‘almost unbelievable scenes of fraternity and rejoicing’ in some of the
worst affected areas of Calcutta. ‘While Hindus began erecting triumphal arches at the entrance of
streets and lanes and decorating them with palm leaves, banners, flags and bunting, Muslim
shopkeepers and householders were not slow in decorating their shops and houses with flags of the
Indian Dominion’. Hindus and Muslims drove through the streets in open cars and lorries, shouting
the nationalist slogan ‘Jai Hind’, to which ‘large, friendly crowds of both communities thronging the
streets readily and joyfully responded’.0

Reports of this spontaneous intermingling seem to have somewhat lifted the Mahatma’s mood.
He decided he would make a statement on the day, not to theBBC, butthrough his own preferred means
of communication, the prayer meeting. A large crowd — of 10,000 according to one report, 30,000
according to another — turned up to hear him speak at the Rash Bagan Maidan in Beliaghata. Gandhi
said he would like to believe that the fraternization between Hindus and Muslims on display that day
‘was from the heart and not a momentary impulse’. Both communities had drunk from the ‘poison cup
of disturbances’; now that they had made up, the ‘nectar of friendliness’ might taste even sweeter.
Who knows, perhaps as a consequence Calcutta might even ‘be entirely free from the communal virus
for ever’.

That Calcutta was peaceful on 15 August was a relief, and also a surprise. For the city had been
on edge in the weeks leading up to Independence. By the terms of the Partition Award, Bengal had
been divided, with the eastern wing going to Pakistan and the western section staying in India.
Calcutta, the province’s premier city, was naturally a bone of contention. The Boundary Commission
chose to allot it to India, sparking fears of violence on the eve of Independence.

Across the subcontinent there was trouble in the capital of the Punjab, Lahore. This, like Calcutta,
was a multireligious and multicultural city. Among the most majestic of its many fine buildings was
the Badshahi mosque, built by the last of the great Mughal emperors, Aurangzeb. But Lahore had also



once been the capital of a Sikh empire, and was more recently a centre of the Hindu reform sect, the
Arya Samaj. Now, like all other settlements in the Punjab, its fate lay in the hands of the British, who
would divide up the province. The Bengal division was announced before the 15th, but an nouncement
of the Punjab ‘award’ had been postponed until after that date. Would Lahore and its neighbourhood
be allotted to India, or to Pakistan?

The latter seemed more likely, as well as more logical, for the Muslims were the largest
community in the city. Indeed, a new governor had already been appointed for the new Pakistani
province of West Punjab, and had moved into Government House in Lahore. On the evening of the
15th he threw a party to celebrate his taking office.

As he later recalled, this ‘must have been the worst party ever given by anyone . . . The electric
current had failed and there were no fans and no lights. The only light which we had was from the
flames of the burning city of Lahore about half a mile away. All around the garden, there was firing
going on — not isolated shots, but volleys. Who was firing at who, no one knew and no one bothered to
ask.’1

No one bothered to ask. Not in the governor’s party, perhaps. In Beliaghata, however, Mahatma
Gandhi expressed his concern that this ‘madness still raged in Lahore’. When and how would it end?
Perhaps one could hope that ‘the noble example of Calcutta, if it was sincere, would affect the Punjab
and the other parts of India’.

II1

By November 1946 the all-India total of deaths in rioting was in excess of 5,000. As an army memo
mournfully observed: ‘Calcutta was revenged in Noakhali, Noakhali in Bihar, Bihar in
Garmukteshwar, Garmukteshwar in ???7?’12

At the end of 1946 one province that had escaped the rioting was the Punjab. In office there were
the Unionists, a coalition of Muslim, Hindu and Sikh landlords. They held the peace uncertainly, for
ranged against themwere the militant Muslim Leaguers on the one side and the no less militant Sikh
political party, the Akali Dal, on the other. Starting in January, episodic bouts of violence broke out in
the cities of Punjab. These accelerated after the first week of March, when the Unionists were forced
out of office. By May the epicentre of violence had shifted decisively from the east of India to the
north-west. A statement submitted to the House of Lords said that 4,014 people were killed in riots in
India between 18 November 1946 and 18 May 1947. Of these, as many as 3,024 had died in the Punjab
alone.13

There were some notable similarities between Bengal and Punjab, the two provinces central to
the events of 1946—7. Both had Muslim majorities, and thus were claimed for Pakistan. But both also
contained many millions of Hindus. In the event, both provinces were divided, with the Muslim
majority districts going over to East or West Pakistan, while the districts in which other religious
groups dominated were allotted to India.

But there were some crucial differences between the two provinces as well. Bengal had along
history of often bloody conflict between Hindus and Muslims, dating back to (at least) the last decades
of the nineteenth century. By contrast, in the Punjab the different communities had lived more or less
in peace — there were no significant clashes on religious groundsbefore 1947. In Bengal large sections
of the Hindu middle class actively sought Partition. They were quite happy to shuffle off the Muslim-
dominated areas and make their home in or around the provincial capital. For several decades now,
Hindu professionals had been making their way to the west, along with landlords who sold their



holdings and invested the proceeds in property or businesses in Calcutta. By contrast, the large Hindu
community in the Punjab was dominated by merchants and moneylenders, bound by close ties to the
agrarian classes. They were unwilling to relocate, and hoped until the end that somehow Partition
would be avoided.

The last difference, and the most telling, was the presence in the Punjab of the Sikhs. This third
leg of the stool was absent in Bengal, where it was a straight fight between Hindus and Muslims. Like
the Muslims, the Sikhs had one book, one formless God, and were a close-knit community of
believers. Sociologically, however, the Sikhs were closer to the Hindus. With them they had a roti-beti
rishta — a relationship of inter-dining and inter-marriage — and with them they had a shared history of
persecution at the hands of the Mughals.

Forced to choose, the Sikhs would come down on the side of the Hindus. But they were in no
mood to choose at all. For there were substantial communities of Sikh farmers in both parts of the
province. At the turn of the century, Sikhs from eastern Punjab had been asked by the British to settle
areas in the west, newly served by irrigation. In a matter of a few decades they had built prosperous
settlements in these ‘canal colonies’. Why now should they leave them? Their holy city, Amritsar, lay
in the east, but Nankana Saheb (the birthplace of the founder of their religion) lay in the west. Why
should they not enjoy free access to both places?

Unlike the Hindus of Bengal, the Sikhs of Punjab were slow to comprehend the meaning and
reality of Partition. At first they doggedly insisted that they would stay where they were. Then, as the
possibility of division became more likely, they claimed a separate state for themselves, to be called
‘Khalistan’. This demand no one took seriously, not the Hindus, not the Muslims, and least of all the
British.

The historian Robin Jeffrey has pointed out that, at least until the month of August 1947, the
Sikhs were ‘more sinned against than sinning’. They had been ‘abandoned by the British, tolerated by
the Congress, taunted by the Muslim League, and, above all, frustrated by the failures of their own
political leadership . . .’ It was the peculiar (not to say tragic) dilemma of the Sikhs that best
explains why, when religious violence finally came to the Punjab, it was so accelerated and
concentrated. From March to August, every month was hotter and bloodier than the last. Nature
cynically lent its weight to politics and history, for the monsoon was unconscionably late in coming in
1947. And, like the monsoon, the boundary award was delayed as well, which only heightened the
uncertainty.

The task of partitioning Bengal and the Punjab was entrusted to a British judge named Sir Cyril
Radcliffe. He had no prior knowledge of India (this was deemed an advantage). However, he was
given only five weeks to decide upon the lines he would draw in both east and west. It was, to put it
mildly, a very difficult job. He had, in the words of W. H. Auden, to partition a land ‘between two
people fanatically at odds / with their different diets and incompatible gods’, with ‘the maps at his
disposal . . . out of date’, and ‘the Census Returns almost certainly incorrect’.1

Radcliffe arrived in India in the first week of July. He was assigned four advisers for the Punjab:
two Muslims, one Hindu, and one Sikh. But since these fought on every point, he soon dispensed with
them. Still, as he wrote to his nephew, he knew that ‘nobody in India will love me for the award about
the Punjab and Bengal and there will be roughly 80 million people with a grievance who will begin
looking for me. I do not want them to find me . . .’16

On 1 August a Punjab Boundary Force was setup to control the violence. The force was headed by
a major general, T. W. ‘Pete’ Rees, a Welshman from Abergavenny. Under him were four advisers of
the rank of brigadier: two Muslims, one Hindu, and one Sikh. In his first report Rees predicted that the
boundary award ‘would please no one entirely. It may well detonate the Sikhs’.Z This was said on 7
August; on the 14th, the commander-in-chief of the British Indian Army, Field Marshal Sir Claude



Auchinleck, observed that ‘the delay in announcing the award of the Border Commission is having a
most disturbing and harmful effect. It is realised of course that the announcement may add fresh fuel
to the fire, but lacking the announcement, the wildest rumours are current, and are being spread by
mischief makers of whom there is no lack.’18

The rains still held off, and the temperature was a hundred degrees in the shade. This was
especially trying to Muslims, both soldiers and civilians, observing the dawn-to-dusk fast on the
occasion of Ramzan, which that year fell between 19 July and 16 August. Rees asked his Muslim
driver why the monsoon had failed, and he replied, ‘God too is displeased’.

The boundary award was finally announced on 16 August. The award enraged the Muslims, who
thought that the Gurdaspur district should have gone to Pakistan instead of India. Angrier still were
the Sikhs, whose beloved Nankana Sahib now lay marooned in an Islamic state. On both sides of the
border the brutalities escalated. In eastern Punjab bands of armed Sikhs roamed the countryside,
seeking out and slaying Muslims wherever they were to be found. Those who could escaped over the
border to West Punjab, where they further contributed to the cycle of retribution and revenge.
Muslims from Amritsar and around streamed into the (to them) safe haven of Lahore. The ‘stories of
these Refugees, oriental and biblical in exaggeration, are in deed founded on very brutal fact, and they
do not lack handless stumps etc., which they can and doparade before their fellow Muslims in Lahore
and further west . ..’

According to Pete Rees’s own figures, from March to the end of July, the casualties in the Punjab
were estimated at 4,500 civilians dead and 2,500 wounded. But in the month of August alone,
casualties as reported officially by the troops were estimated at 15,000 killed, and Rees admitted that
the actual figure ‘may well have been two or three times the number'.)

The Indian prime minister, Jawaharlal Nehru, was deeply worried about the Punjab troubles and
their wider repercussions. In the last fortnight of August he visited the province three times, talking to
people on either side of the border and taking aerial sorties. Nehru did not think that there was
‘anything to choose between the brutality of one side or the other. Both sides have been incredibly
inhuman and bar-barous’.22 The adjective that Rees himself used for the savagery was ‘pre-medieval’.
In truth, it was also medieval and modern. For the arms used by the rioters ‘varied from primitive axe,
spear, and club to the most modern tommy-gun and light machine-gun’.

On 2 September the Punjab Boundary Force was disbanded. It had not been especially effective
anyway. It was hampered by the problem of dual authority: by having to report to civilian officers in
the absence of martial law. With the exit of the Punjab Boundary Force, responsibility for law and
order was now vested in the governments of India and Pakistan. The riots continued, as did the two-
way exodus. West Punjab was being cleansed of Hindus and Sikhs, East Punjab being emptied of
Muslims. The clinical even-handedness of the violence was described by the Punjab correspondent of
the respected Madras-based weekly Swatantra. He wrote of seeing

an empty refugee special steaming into Ferozepur Station late one afternoon. The driver was
incoherent with terror, the guard was lying dead in his van, and the stoker was missing. I walked
down the platform — all but two bogeys were bespattered with blood inside and out; three dead
bodies lay in pools of blood in a third-class carriage. An armed Muslim mob had stopped the
train between Lahore and Ferozepur and done this neat job of butchery in broad daylight.

There is another sight I am not likely to easily forget. A five-mile-long caravan of Muslim
refugees crawling at a snail’s pace into Pakistan over the Sutlej Bridge. Bullock-carts piled high
with pitiful chattels, cattle being driven alongside. Women with babies in their arms and
wretched little tin trunks on their heads. Twenty thousand men, women and children trekking into
the promised land — not because it is the promised land, but because bands of Hindus and Sikhs in



Faridkot State and the interior of Ferozepur district had hacked hundreds of Muslims to death and
madelife impossible for the rest.2

Ten million refugees were on the move, on foot, by bullock-cart, and by train, sometimes travelling
under army escort, at other times trusting to fate and their respective gods. Jawaharlal Nehru flew over
one refugee convoy which comprised 100,000 people and stretched for ten miles. It was travelling
from Jullundur to Lahore, and had to pass through Amritsar, where there were 70,000 refugees from
West Punjab ‘in an excited state’. Nehru suggested bulldozing a road around the town, so that the two
convoys would not meet.2.

This was without question the greatest mass migration in history. ‘Nowhere in known history
ha[d]the transfer of so many millions taken place in so few days’. They fled, wrote an eyewitness,

through heat and rain, flood and bitter Punjab cold. The dust of the caravans stretched low across
the Indian plains and mingled with thes cent of fear and sweat, human waste and putrefying
bodies. When the cloud of hate subsided the roll of the dead was called and five hundred
thousand names echoed across the dazed land — dead of gunshot wounds, sword, dagger and knife
slashes and others of epidemic diseases. While the largest number died of violence, there were
tired, gentle souls who looked across their plundered gardens and then lay down and died. For
what good is life when reason stops and men run wild? Why pluck your baby from the spike or
draw your lover from the murky well?22

The trouble in the province was made worse by the noticeably partisan attitude of the governor of
West Punjab, Sir Francis Mudie. He was ‘inveterate against the Congress’. Mudie thought he ‘could
govern himself. Thus he thwarts his Cabinet, above all in their attempts to bridge the gulf between
West and East Punjab, and therefore between Pakistan and India’. Tragically, no Pakistani politician
was willing to take on religious fanaticism. Whatever their private thoughts, they were unwilling to
speak out in public. As for Pakistan’s new governor general, Mohammad Ali Jinnah, he was
headquartered in the coastal city of Karachi (the country’s capital), and had ‘only visited Lahore in
purdah and most carefully guarded’. This timidity was in striking contrast to the brave defence of their
minorities by the two pre-eminent Indian politicians. Indeed, as a British observer wrote, ‘Nehru’s and
Gandhi’s stock has never been so high with the Muslims of West Punjab’.2

Meanwhile, trouble had flared up once more in Bengal. There were reports of fresh rioting in
Noakhali. In Calcutta itself the peace was broken in Gandhi’s own adopted locality of Beliaghata.
Here, on 31 August, a Hindu youth was attacked by Muslims. Retaliatory violence followed and
spread. By dusk on 1 September more than fifty people lay dead. That night, Gandhi decided he would
go on a fast. ‘But how can you fast against the goondas [hooligans]?’ asked a friend. Gandhi’s answer,
according to an eyewitness, ran as follows: ‘I know I shall be able to tackle the Punjab too if I can
control Calcutta. But if I falter now, the conflagration may spread and soon. Icanseeclearly two or
three [foreign] Powers will be upon us and thus will end our short-lived dream of independence.’ ‘But
if you die the conflagration will be worse,’ replied the friend. ‘At least I won’t be there to witness it,’
said Gandhi. ‘I shall have done my bit.’24

Gandhi began his fast on 2 September. By the next day Hindu and Muslim goondas were coming
to him and laying down their arms. Mixed processions for communal harmony took place in different
parts of the city. A deputation of prominent politicians representing the Congress, the Muslim League
and the locally influential Hindu Mahasabha assured Gandhi that there would be no further rioting.
The Mahatma now broke his fast, which had lasted three days.



The peace held, prompting Lord Mountbatten to remark famously that one unarmed man had
been more effective than 50,000 troops in Punjab. But the Mahatma and his admirers might have
treasured as much this tribute from the Statesman, a British-owned paper in Calcutta that had long
opposed him and his politics: ‘On the ethics of fasting as a political instrument we have over many
years failed to concur with India’s most renowned practitioner of it . . . But never in a long career has
Mahatma Gandhi, in our eyes, fasted in a simpler, worthier cause than this, nor one calculated for
immediate effective appeal to the public conscience.’2

On 7 September, having spent four weeks in Beliaghata, Gandhi left for Delhi. He hoped to
proceed further, to the Punjab. However, on his arrival in the capital he was immediately confronted
with tales of strife and dispossession. The Muslims of Delhi were frightened. Their homes and places
of worship had come under increasing attack. Gandhi was told that no fewer that 137 mosques had
been destroyed in recent weeks. Hindu and Sikh refugees had also forcibly occupied Muslim homes.
As a Quaker relief worker reported, ‘the Muslim population of Delhi of all classes — civil servants,
businessmen, artisans, tongawallahs, bearers — had fled to a few natural strongholds’ — such as the
Purana Qila, the greathigh-walled fort in the middle of the city, and the tomb of the Mughal emperor
Humayun. In the Purana Qila alone there were 60,000 refugees, huddled together in tents, ‘in the
corners of battlements and in the open, together with their camels and tongas and ponies, battered old
taxis and luxury limousines’.2

Gandhi now put his Punjab programme on hold. He visited the camps in the capital and outside it.
In the plains around Delhi lived a farming community called Meos, Muslims by faith, but who had
adopted many of the practices and rituals of their Hindu neighbours. In the madness of the time this
syncretism was forgotten. Thousands of Meos were killed or driven out of their homes, whether these
lay in Indian territory or in the princely states of Alwar and Bharatpur.Z

Through September and October, writes his biographer D. G. Tendulkar, Gandhi ‘went round
hospitals and refugee camps giving consolation to distressed people’. He ‘appealed to the Sikhs, the
Hindus and the Muslims to forget the past and not to dwell on their sufferings but to extend the right
hand of fellowship to each other, and to determine to live in peace ...’ He ‘begged of them all to bring
about peace quickly in Delhi, so that he might be able to proceed to both East and West Punjab’.
Gandhi said ‘he was proceeding to the Punjab in order to make the Mussalmans undo the wrong that
they were said to have perpetrated there [against the Hindus and the Sikhs]. But he could not hope for
success, unless he could secure justice for the Mussalmans in Delhi.’28

Gandhi also spoke at a camp of the Rash triya Swayamsevak Sangh. Founded by a Maharashtrian
doctor in 1925, the RSS was a cohesive and motivated body of Hindu young men. Gandhi himself was
impressed by their discipline and absence of caste feeling, but less so by their antagonism to other
religions. He told the RSS members that ‘if the Hindus felt that in India there was no place for any one
except the Hindus and if non-Hindus, especially Muslims, wished to live here, they had to live as the
slaves of the Hindus, they would kill Hinduism’. Gandhi could see that the RSS was ‘a well-organized,
well-disciplined body’. But, he told its members, ‘its strength could be used in the interests of India or
against it. He did not know whether there was any truth in the allegations [of inciting communal
hatred] made against the Sangha. It was for the Sangha to showby their uniformbehaviour that the
allegations were baseless.’22

Unlike Gandhi, Jawaharlal Nehru was not inclined to give the Sangh the benefit of doubt. ‘It
seems to me clear’, he told his home minister, Vallabhbhai Patel, ‘that the RSS have a great deal to do
with the disturbances not only in Delhi but elsewhere. In Amritsar their activities have been very
obvious’. Nehru’s feelings about the RSS stemmed from his deeper worries about the communal
situation. He thought that there was ‘a very definite and well-organized attempt of certain Sikh and
Hindu fascist elements to overturn the government, or at least to break up its present character. It has



been something more than a communal disturbance. Many of these people have been brutal and
callous in the extreme. They have functioned as pure terrorists.’30

The worry was the greater because the fanatics were functioning in ‘a favourable atmosphere as
far as public opinion was concerned’. In Delhi, especially, the Hindu and Sikh refugees from Pakistan
were baying for blood. But the prime minister insisted that India must be a place where the Muslims
could live and work freely. An Englishman on the governor general’s staff wrote in his diary of how
‘to see Nehru at close range during this ordeal is an inspiring experience. He vindicates one’s faith in
the humanist and the civilised intellect. Almost alone in the turmoil of communalism, with all its
variations, from individual intrigue to mass madness, he speaks with the voice of reason andcharity.’s!

At the initiative of Gandhi and Nehru, the Congress now passed a resolution on ‘the rights of
minorities’. The party had never accepted the ‘two-nation theory’; forced against its will to accept
Partition, it still believed that ‘India is a land of many religions and many races, and must remain so’.
Whatever be the situation in Pakistan, India would be ‘a democratic secular State where all citizens
enjoy full rights and are equally entitled to the protection of the State, irrespective of the religion to
which they belong’. The Congress wished to ‘assure the minorities in India that it will continue to
protect, to the best of its ability, their citizen rights against aggression’.32

However, the Rashtriya Swayamsevak Sangh was actively sceptical of this viewpoint. Its
sarsanghchalak,or head, was a lean, bearded science graduate named M. S. Golwalkar. Golwalkar was
strongly opposed to the idea of a secular state that would not discriminate on the basis of religion. In
the India of his conception,

The non-Hindu people of Hindustan must either adopt Hindu culture and language, must learn
and respect and hold in reverence the Hindu religion, must entertain no idea but of those of
glorification of the Hindu race and culture . . . in a word they must cease to be foreigners, or may
stay in the country, wholly subordinated to the Hindu nation, claiming nothing, deserving no
privileges, far less any preferential treatment — not even citizens’ rights.33

On Sunday 7 December 1947 the RSS held a large rally at the Ramlila Grounds in the heart of Delhi.
The main speech was by M. S. Golwalkar. As the Hindustan Times reported, Golwalkar denied that the
RSS aimed at the establishment of a Hindu Raj, but nevertheless insisted: ‘We aim at the solidarity of
the Hindu society. With this ideal in view, the Sangh will march forward on its path, and will not be
deterred by any authority or personality.’34

The authorities being alluded to were the Congress Party and the government of India; the
personalities, Nehru and Gandhi, towards whom there was much hostility among those sections of the
refugees sympathetic to the RSS. Gandhi had his meetings disrupted by refugees who objected to
readings from the Quran, or who shouted slogans asking why he did not speak of the sufferings of
those Hindus and Sikhs still living in Pakistan. In fact, as D. G. Tendulkar writes, Gandhi ‘was equally
concerned with the sufferings of the minority community in Pakistan. He would have liked to be able
to go to their succour. But with what face could he now go there, when he could not guarantee full
redress to the Muslims in Delhi?’

With attacks on Muslims continuing, Gandhi chose to resort to another fast. This began on 13
January, and was addressed to three different constituencies. The first were the people of India. To
them he simply pointed out that if they did not believe in the two-nation theory, they would have to
show in their chosen capital, the ‘Eternal City’ of Delhi, that Hindus and Muslims could live in peace
and brotherhood. The second constituency was the government of Pakistan. ‘How long’, he asked
them, ‘can I bank upon the patience of the Hindus and the Sikhs, in spite of my fast? Pakistan has to
put a stop to this state of affairs’ (that is, the driving out of minorities from their territory).



Gandhi’s fast was addressed, finally, to the government of India. They had withheld Pakistan’s
share of the ‘sterling balance’ which the British owed jointly to the two dominions, a debt incurred on
account of Indian contributions during the Second World War. This amounted to Rs550 million, a fair
sum. New Delhi would not release the money as it was angry with Pakistan for having recently
attempted to seize the state of Kashmir. Gandhi saw this as unnecessarily spiteful, and so he made the
ending of his fast conditional on the transfer to Pakistan of the money owed to it.

On the night of 15 January the government of India decided to release the money owed to the
government of Pakistan. The next day more than 1,000 refugees signed a declaration saying they
would welcome back the displaced Muslims of Delhi and allow them to return to their homes. But
Gandhi wanted more authoritative assurances. Meanwhile, his health rapidly declined. His kidney was
failing, his weight was dropping and he was plagued by nausea and headache. The doctors issued a
warning of their own: ‘It is our duty to tell the people to take immediate steps to produce the requisite
conditions for ending the fast without delay.’

On 17 January a Central Peace Committee was formed under the leadership of the president of
the Constituent Assembly, Rajendra Prasad. Other Congress Party members were among its members,
as were representatives of the RSS, the Jamiat-ul-Ulema and Sikh bodies. On the morning of the 18th
they took a joint declaration to Gandhi which satisfied him enough to end his fast. The declaration
pledged ‘that we shall protect the life, property and faith of Muslims and that the incidents which have
taken place in Delhi will not happen again’.3

Would the ‘miracle of Calcutta’ be repeated in Delhi? The leaders of the militant groupings
seemed chastened by Gandhi’s fast. But their followers remained hostile. On previous visits to Delhi
Gandhi had stayed in the sweepers colony; this time, however, he was put up at the home of his
millionaire follower G. D. Birla. Even while his fast was on, bands of refugees marched past Birla
House, shouting, ‘Let Gandhi die'. Then, on 20 January, a Punjabi refugee named Madan Lal threw a
bomb at Gandhi in Birla House while he was leading a prayer meeting. It exploded at some distance
from him; luckily no one was hurt.

Gandhi was undaunted by the attempt on his life. He carried on meeting people, angry refugees
included. On 26 January he spoke at his prayer meeting of how that day was celebrated in the past as
Independence Day. Now freedom had come, but its first few months had been deeply disillusioning.
However, he trusted that ‘the worst is over’, that Indians would work collectively for the ‘equality of
all classes and creeds, never the domination and superiority of the major community over a minor,
however insignificant it may be in numbers or influence’. He also permitted himself the hope ‘that,
though geographically and politically India is divided into two, at heart we shall ever be friends and
brothers helping and respecting one another and be one for the outside world’.

Gandhi had fought a lifelong battle for a free and united India; and yet, at the end, he could view
its division with detachment and equanimity. Others were less forgiving. On the evening of 30 January
he was shot dead by a young man at his daily prayer meeting. The assassin, who surrendered
afterwards, was a Brahmin from Poona named Nathuram Godse. He was tried and later sentenced to
death, but not before he made a remarkable speech justifying his act. Godse claimed that his main
provocation was the Mahatma’s ‘constant and consistent pandering to the Muslims’, ‘culminating in
his lastpro-Muslim fast [which] at last goaded me to the conclusion that the existence of Gandhi
should be brought to an end immediately’.36

IV



Gandhi’s death brought forth an extraordinary outpouring of grief.There were moving tributes from
Albert Einstein, who had long held Gandhi to be the greatest figure of the twentieth century, and from
George Orwell, who had once thought Gandhi to be a humbug but now saw him as a saint. There was a
characteristically flippant reaction from George Bernard Shaw — It shows you how dangerous it is to
be good’ — and a characteristically petty one from Mohammad Ali Jinnah, who said that the death of
hi sold rival was a loss merely to ‘the Hindu community’.

However, the two most relevant public reactions were from Gandhi’s two most distinguished, not
to say most powerful, followers, Vallabhbhai Patel and Jawaharlal Nehru. Patel who was now home
minister in the government of India, was a fellow Gujarati who had joined Gandhi as far back as 1918.
He was a superb organizer and strategist who had played a major role in making the Congress a
national party. In the Indian Cabinet, he was second only to the prime minister, Jawaharlal Nehru.
Nehru had come to Gandhi a couple of years later than Patel, and could converse with him in only two
of his three languages (Hindi and English). But he had a deep emotional bond with the Mahatma. Like
Patelhegenerally called Gandhi ‘Bapu’, or ‘Father’.But he was, in many ways, the favourite son
(dearer by far than the four biological children of the Mahatma), and also his chosen political heir.

Now, in an India caught in the throes of civil strife, both men told the nation that while their
master had gone, his message remained. Speaking on All-India Radio immediately after Gandhi’s
death, Patel appealed to the people not to think of revenge, but ‘tocarry the message of love and non-
violence enunciated by Mahatmaji. It is a shame for us that the greatest man of the world has had to
pay with his life for the sins which we have committed. We did not follow him when he was alive; let
us at least follow his steps now he is dead.’3Z Speaking at Allahabad after immersing Gandhi’s ashes in
the Ganga, Nehru observed that ‘we have had our lesson at a terrible cost. Is there anyone amongst us
now who will not pledge himself after Gandhi’s death to fulfil his mission . . .?’ Indians, said Nehru,
had now ‘to hold together and fight that terrible poison of communalism that has killed the greatest
man of our age’.38

Nehru and Patel both called for unity and forgiveness, but as it happened the two men had
recently been involved in a bitter row. In the last fortnight of December Nehru had planned to visit the
riot-hit town of Ajmer. At the last minute he called off his trip and sent his personal secretary instead.
Patel took serious offence. He felt that since the Home Ministry had sent its own enquiry team to
Ajmer, the tour of the prime minister’s underling implied a lack of faith. Nehru explained that he had
been forced to cancel his own visit because of a death in the family, and had thus sent his secretary —
mostly so as not to disappoint those who had expected him to come. But in anycase, as the head of
government he had the right to go wherever he wished whenever he wished, or to send someone else to
deputize for him. Patel answered that in a cabinet system the prime minister was merely the first
among equals; he did not stand above and dominate his fellow ministers.

The exchange grew progressively more contentious, and at one stage both men offered to resign.
Then it was agreed that they would put their respective points of view before Gandhi. Before a suitable
time could be found the Mahatma began his final fast. The next week Patel was out of Delhi, but the
matter lay very much on his mind, and on Nehru’s. Indeed, on 30 January Gandhi met Patel just before
the fateful prayer meeting and asked that he and Nehru sort out their differences. He also said he
would like to meet both of them the next day.

Three days after Gandhi’s assassination Nehru wrote Patel a letter which said that ‘with Bapu’s
death, everything is changed and we have to face a different and more difficult world. The old
controversies have ceased to have much significance and it seems to me that the urgent need of the
hour is for all of us to functionas closely and co-operatively as possible . . .” Patel, in reply, said he
‘fully and heartily reciprocate[d] the sentiments you have so feelingly expressed . . . Recent events
had made me very unhappy and I had written to Bapu . . . appealing to him to relieve me, but his death



changes everything and the crisis that has overtaken us must awaken in us afresh realisation of how
much we have achieved together and the need for further joint effortsin our grief-strickencountry’s
interests.’32

Gandhi could not reconcile, in life, Hindu with Muslim, but he did reconcile, through hisdeath,
Jawaharlal Nehru with Vallabhbhai Patel. It was apatch-up of rather considerable consequence for the
newand very fragile nation.



THE LOGIC OF DIVISION

It was India’s historic destiny that many human races and cultures should flow to her, finding a
home in her hospitable soil, and that many a caravan should find rest here . . . Eleven hundred
years of common history [of Islam and Hinduism] have enriched India with our common
achievements. Our languages, our poetry, our literature, our culture, our art, our dress, our
manners and customs, the innumerable happenings of our daily life, everything bears the stamp
of our joint endeavour . . . These thousand years of our joint life have moulded us into a common
nationality . . . Whether we like it or not, we have now become an Indian nation, united and
indivisible. No fantasy or artificial scheming to separate and divide can break this unity.

Maurana AsuL Karam Azap,
Congress Presidential Address, 1940

The problem in India is not of an intercommunal but manifestly of an international character, and
must be treated as such . . . It is a dream that Hindus and Muslims can evolve a common
nationality, and this misconception of one Indian nation has gone far beyond the limits, and is the
cause of most of our troubles, and will lead India to destruction, if we fail to revise our actions in
time. The Hindus and Muslims belong to two different religious philosophies, social customs,
and literature. They neither intermarry, nor interdine together, and indeed they belong to two
different civilizations which are based mainly on conflicting ideas and conceptions. Their aspects
on and of life are different.

M. A. JiNNAH,
Muslim League Presidential Address, 1940

Dip Inpia mave o be partitioned? When the British left, could they not have left a single country
behind? Ever since 1947 such questions have been asked. And in the process of being answered, they
bring forth the supplementary question — Why was India partitioned?

The nostalgia for an undivided India has been mostly manifest among people on the Indian side
of the border. But there has sometimes been a sense of loss displayed in what has become Pakistan
too. Indeed, on 15 August 1947 itself, a veteran Unionist politician wrote of how he wished he

could do anything to save the unity of the Punjab . . . It is heartbreaking to see what is happening .
.. It is all due to the policy of liquidating and quitting before any real agreement has been arrived
at . .. The fixing of a date for transference of power ruled out any adjustment and vivisection was
the only course left . . . We will have to start afresh [but] there is hardly any hope of building
things on old lines as communal hatred and mutual destruction are now uppermost in
everybody’s mind.!

Why could not the unity of Punjab, or of India, be saved? There have been three rather different
answers on offer. The first blames the Congress leadership for underestimating Jinnah and the
Muslims. The second blames Jinnah for pursuing his goal of a separate country regardless of human



consequences. The third holds the British responsible, claiming that they promoted a divide between
Hindus and Muslims to perpetuate their rule.2

All three explanations, or should one say accusations, carry an element of truth. It is true that
Nehru and Gandhi made major errors of judgement in their dealings with the Muslim League. In the
1920s Gandhi ignored Jinnah and tried to make common cause with the mullahs. In the 1930s Nehru
arrogantly and, as it turned out, falsely, claimed that the Muslim masses would rather follow his
socialist credo than a party based on faith. Meanwhile, the Muslims steadily moved over from the
Congress to the League. In the 1930s, when Jinnah was willing to make a deal, he was ignored; in the
1940s, with the Muslims solidly behind him, he had no reason to cut a deal at all.

It is also true that some of Jinnah’s political turns defy any explanation other than that of
personal ambition. He was once known as an ‘ambassador of Hindu—Muslim unity’ and a practitioner
of constitutional politics. Even as he remade himself as a defender of Islam and Muslims, in his
personal life he ignored the claims of faith. (He liked his whisky and, according to some accounts, his
ham sandwiches too.)2 However, from the late 1930s he assiduously began to stoke religious passions.
The process was to culminate in his calling for Direct Action Day, the day that set in train the bloody
trail of violence and counter-violence that made Partition inevitable.

Finally, it is also true that the British did welcome and further the animosities between Hindus
and Muslims. In March 1925, by which time the anti-colonial struggle had assumed a genuinely
popular dimension, the secretary of state for India wrote to the viceroy: ‘I have always placed my
highest and most permanent hopes upon the eternity of the Communal Situation.’# Within England the
growth of liberal values placed a premium on the sovereignty of the individual; but in the colonies the
individual was always seen as subordinate to the community. This was evident in government
employment, where care was taken to balance numbers of Muslim and Hindu staff, and in politics,
where the British introduced communal electorates, such that Muslims voted exclusively for other
Muslims. Most British officials were predisposed to prefer Muslims, for, compared with Hindus, their
forms of worship and ways of life were less alien. Overall, colonial policy deepened religious
divisions, which helped consolidate the white man’s rule.

The short-sightedness of Congress, Jinnah’s ambition, Britain’s amorality and cynicism — all
these might have played their part, but at least by the early 1940s Partition was written into the logic
of Indian history. Even if the British had not encouraged communal electorates, the onset of modern
electoral politics would have encouraged the creation of community vote banks. Muslims were
increasingly persuaded to think of themselves as, indeed, ‘Muslims’. As late as 1927 the Muslim
League had a mere 1,300 members. By 1944 it had more than half a million in Bengal alone (Punjab
had 200,000). Muslims of all classes flocked to the League. Artisans, workers, professionals,
businessmen — all rallied to the call of ‘Islam in Danger’, fearing the prospect, in a united India, of a
‘Brahmin Bania Raj’.2

The call for Pakistan was first made formally by the Muslim League in March 1940. The Second
World War had kept the question of Pakistan (as of Indian independence more generally) on hold.
After the war a Labour government came to power in Great Britain. Unlike the Conservatives, the
Labour Party ‘regarded itself as morally committed to speed up the process of independence for
India’. On the subject of India, Prime Minister Clement Attlee showed ‘a decisiveness and passion
unusual during hiscareer’.

Some leading Labour politicians had close ties to Congress. These included Sir Stafford Cripps,
who in the beginning of 1946 was sent as part of a three-member Cabinet Mission to negotiate the
terms of Indian independence. Cripps, and other Labour leaders, would have liked to leave behind a
united India for the Congress to govern and guide. But a note prepared for the Mission in December
1945 showed how unlikely this would be. Its author was Penderel Moon, a Fellow of All Souls and



sometime member of the Indian Civil Service. Moon pointed out that ‘there is more likelihood of
obtaining Hindu consent to Division than Muslim consent to Union’. From the British point of view,
‘to unite India against Muslim wishes would necessarily involve force. To divide India against Hindu
wishes would not necessarily involve force; and at worst the force required is likely to be less. The
Hindus of Madras, Bombay, U. P, and C. P. may loudly lament their brethren in Bengal and the Punjab
being torn from the embrace of Mother India, but they are not likely to have the will or the power to
undertake a Crusade on their behalf.’Z

The next few months bore out the cold wisdom of these remarks. Early in 1946 elections were
held to the various provincial assemblies. These were conducted on a franchise restricted by education
and property. About 28 per cent of the adult population was eligible to vote — but this, in a land the
size of British India, still amounted to some 41 million people.8

The world over, the rhetoric of modern democratic politics has been marked by two rather
opposed rhetorical styles. The first appeals to hope, to popular aspirations for economic prosperity and
social peace. The second appeals to fear, to sectional worries about being worsted or swamped by
one’s historic enemies. In the elections of 1946 the Congress relied on the rhetoric of hope. It had a
strongly positive content to its programme, promising land reforms, workers’ rights, and the like. The
Muslim League, on the other hand, relied on the rhetoric of fear. If they did not get a separate
homeland, they told the voters, then they would be crushed by the more numerous Hindus in a united
India. The League sought, in effect, a referendum on the question of Pakistan. As Jinnah put it in a
campaign speech, ‘Elections are the beginning of the end. If the Muslims decide to stand for Pakistan
in the coming elections half the battle would have been won. If we fail in the first phase of our war, we
shall be finished.’

The leader’s message was energetically carried by the cadres. In Bihar the provincial Muslim
League asked the voters to ‘judge whether the bricks of votes should be used in the preparation of a
fort of “Ram Raj” or for the construction of a building for the independence of Muslims and Islam’. A
League election poster in Punjab offered some meaningful pairs of contrasts: din (the faith) versus
dunya (the world); zamir (conscience) versus jagir (property); hagqg-koshi (righteousness) versus
sufedposhi (office). In each case, the first item stood for Pakistan, the second for Hindustan.

League propaganda also urged voters to overcome sectarian divisions of caste and clan. ‘Unite on
Islam — Become One’, declared one poster. The Muslims were asked to act and vote as a single gaum,
or community. A vital role was played by student volunteers, who traversed the countryside
canvassing votes from house to house.

The election results were a striking vindication of the League’s campaign. Across India, in
province after province, the Congress did exceedingly well in the general category, but the Muslim
seats were swept by the League, fighting on the single issue of a separate state for Muslims. In the
province of Bengal, for example, the League won 114 out of 119 seats reserved for Muslims; since the
strength of the assembly was 250, it required little effort to cobble together a majority. In the United
Provinces the Congress won 153 seats out of a total of 228, and so formed the government. But within
this larger victory there was a significant defeat, for of the 66 Muslim seats on offer in the United
Provinces the League won a resounding 54. Even more striking were the results in the southern
province of Madras, which even the most devoted follower of Jinnah would not claim for a
prospective Pakistan. Here the Congress won 165 out of 215 seats, but the League won all 29 seats
reserved for Muslims. Overall, in the general constituencies, the Congress won 80.9 per cent of the
votes, whereas in the seats reserved for Muslims the League garnered74.7 per cent.

After the results had come in, the League’s paper, Dawn, proclaimed that “Those who have been
elected this time to the Legislatures have been charged by the voters with the duty . . . of winning
Pakistan. Within and outside the Provincial and Central Assemblies and Councils that and that alone is



now the “priority job”. The time for decision is over; the time for action has come.’

This was written on 7 April 1946. Three days later Jinnah convened a meeting in Delhi of the 400
legislators elected on the Muslim League ticket. This convention reiterated the call for an independent
Pakistan. However, in early May Jinnah attended a conference in Simla, where attempts were being
made by the Cabinet Mission to find a unitary solution. Through the next two months various drafts
were passed round, allowing for one nation-state but with provinces having the option to leave if they
so desired. The Congress and the League could not agree on the conditions under which provinces
would join or leave the projected union. Another sticking point was Jinnah’s contention that the
Congress could not nominate a Muslim as one of its representatives to the talks.2

Jinnah bargained hard, knowing now that he had Muslim popular sentiment behind him. By the
end of June 1946 it was clear that no settlement could be reached. The Cabinet Mission returned to
London. The League leaders met on 29 July and affirmed that ‘the time has now come for the Muslim
nation to resort to direct action in order to achieve Pakistan and assert their just rights and to vindicate
their honour and to get rid of the present slavery under the British and contemplated future of Caste
Hindu domination’.

Two weeks later was Direct Action Day, and the beginning of the end of the dream of United
India.

I1

Gandhi was not alone in choosing to mark the day of Independence for India, 15 August 1947, as a day
of mourning rather than celebration. Across the border in Pakistan, where independence had come a
day earlier, the poet Faiz Ahmad Faiz wrote of

This leprous daybreak, dawn night’s fangs have mangled —
This is not that long-looked for break of day,

Not that clear dawn in quest of which those comrades

Set out, believing that in heaven’s wide void

Somewhere must be the stars’ last halting-place,
Somewhere the verge of night’s slow-washing tide,
Somewhere the anchorage for the ship of heartache.l

The lament here was not so much for the fact of Partition, as for its bloody costs. For at least by the
end of 1945, and possibly earlier, some form of Pakistan seemed inevitable. It could not now be
stopped by Congress magnanimity or a sudden show of modesty on the part of Jinnah. But the poet’s
lament impels us to ask one further question — if Partition had to happen, did it necessarily have to
cause so much loss of life?

To answer this, we need to briefly rehearse the events of the last six months of the Raj. On 20
February 1947 the Labour government in London announced that the British would quit India by June
1948, and that the viceroy, Lord Wavell, would be replaced. On 22 March the new viceroy, Lord
Mountbatten, assumed office. Over the next few weeks he discussed the terms of the British
withdrawal with the relevant parties. He found that most Congress leaders were coming round to the
inevitability of Partition. They saw that the ‘immediate independence of the major part of India was
preferable to the postponement of the independence of the whole of India’.lt Gandhi made a last-ditch
effort to save unity by asking Jinnah to head the first government of free India. But this offer did not



have the backing of Congress, and Jinnah did not accept it in any case.

On 2 May the viceroy’s chief of staff, Lord Ismay, was sent to London with a plan for Partition.
He obtained Cabinet approval, but the plan had to be redrafted several times on his return, so as to
satisfy both Congress and the League. (At one stage Jinnah, brazen to the last, asked for an 800-mile-
long corridor through India to link the eastern and western wings of Pakistan.) The revised plan was
taken by Mountbatten to the British Cabinet.

All this took the better part of a month. On 3 June Mountbatten, back from London, announced
the Partition plan on All-India Radio. He was followed on the microphone by Nehru, Jinnah and
Baldev Singh (speaking for the Sikhs). The next morning the viceroy addressed a press conference in
the Legislative Assembly building. It was here that he suggested, for the first time, that the British
would leave not by June 1948 but by the middle of August 1947, that is, in less than ten weeks.

The decision so dramatically to shorten the time frame of the British withdrawal was taken by
Mountbatten himself. His biographer, Philip Ziegler, justified the decision as follows:

Once the principle of partition had been accepted, it was inevitable that communalism would rage
freely. The longer the period before the transfer of power, the worse the tension and the greater
the threat that violence would spread.Today it was the Punjab, tomorrow Bengal, Hyderabad, or
any of the myriad societies in the sub-continent where Hindu and Muslim lived cheek by jowl.
Two hundred thousand [dead] could have become two million, even twenty million.12

In fact, even while Ziegler wrote (in 1985), the toll of the Partition violence was estimated at a million
dead; some later scholars have suggested the figure is closer to 2 million. How many would it have
been if the British had left, as planned, in June 1948? In a blistering attack on Mountbatten’s
reputation, Andrew Roberts accuses him of softness and vacillation — ‘whenever he had to exhibit
toughness, Mountbatten took the most invertebrate line possible’ — of being unwilling to crack down
effectively on communal violence and, more specifically, of understaffing the Punjab Boundary Force
and not supplying it with air cover. Contra Ziegler, Roberts is convinced that the ‘over-hasty
withdrawal’ led ‘to more rather than fewer deaths’.13

Some contemporary observers also felt that the decision to undo in two months flat an empire
built over two centuries was poorly conceived. In the summer of 1947 the man occupying the hottest
of hot seats was the governor of the still undivided Punjab, Sir Evan Jenkins. In early May Jenkins
wrote to Mountbatten urging him to ‘reconsider the terms of any early announcement embodying a
solution of the Indian political problem. In the Punjab we are going to be faced with a complete
refusal of the communities to cooperate on any basis at all. It would clearly be futile to announce a
partition of the Punjab which no community would accept.’14 The decision was made regardless, and
the governor was left with thet task of maintaining law and order while the Punjab was divided. On 30
July he wrote to Mountbatten again, explaining that the prospect of Independence with Partition
evoked anger rather than enthusiasm. The Muslims had hoped for the whole of the Punjab, whereas the
Sikhs and Hindus were fearful that they would lose Lahore. ‘It would be difficult enough’, archly
commented the governor, ‘to partition with in six weeks a country of 30 million people which has
been governed as a unit for 98 years, even if all concerned were friendly and anxious to
makeprogress.’12

Jenkins did in fact ask several times for more troops and for a ‘Tactical Reconnaissance
Squadron’. One reason there were too few troops available to deal with rioters was that they were busy
guarding the paranoid rulers, who were convinced that British civilians would be attacked as soon as
the decision to leave was made public. This feeling was widespread among all sections of Europeans
in India: among officers, priests, planters, and merchants. In the summerof1946, a young English



official wrote to his family that ‘we shall virtually have the whole country against us (for long enough
at all events to wipe out our scattered European population) before the show becomes, as inevitably it
will, a communal scrap between Hindusand Muslims’.1¢

To make the protection of British lives the top priority was pretty much state policy. In February
1947 the governor of Bengal said that his ‘first action in the event of an announcement of a date for
withdrawal of British power . . . would be to have the troops “standing to” and prepare for a
concentration of outlying Europeans at very short notice as soon as hostile reactions began to
showthemselves’.lZ In fact, in the summer of 1947 white men and women were the safest people in
India. No one was interested in killing them.1& But their insecurity meant that many army units were
placed near European settlements instead of being freed for riot control elsewhere.

The instinct of self-preservation also lay behind the decision to postpone the Punjab boundary
award until after the date of Independence. On 22 July, after a visit to Lahore, Lord Mountbatten wrote
to Sir Cyril Radcliffe asking himto hurry things up, for ‘every extra day’ would lessen the risk of
disorder. The announcement of the boundary award before Independence would have allowed
movements of troops to be made in advance of the transfer of power. The governor of Punjab was also
very keen that the award be announced as soon as it was finalized. As it happened, Radcliffe was ready
with the award on 9 August itself. However, Mountbatten now changed his mind, and chose to make
the award public only after the 15th. His explanation for the delay was strange, to say the least:
“Without question, the earlier it was published, the more the British would have to bear responsibility
for the disturbances which would undoubtedly result.” By the same token, ‘the later we postponed
publication, the less would the inevitable odium react upon the British’.12

As a rule, one must write of history only as it happened, not how it might have happened. Would
amore extended time frame — an announcement in April 1947 that the British would quit in a year’s
time — have allowed for a less painful process of division? Would more active troop deployments and
an earlier announcement of the Radcliffe award have led to less violence in the Punjab? Perhaps. Or
perhaps not. As it turned out, the most appropriate epitaph on the last days of the Raj was provided by
the Punjab official who told a young social worker from Oxford: ‘You British believe in fair play. You
have left India in the same condition of chaos as you found it.’20

While the debates continue to rage about the causes of Partition, somewhat less attention has
been paid to its consequences. These were quite considerable indeed — as this book will demonstrate.
The division of India was to cast a long shadow over demography, economics, culture, religion, law,
international relations, and party politics.



APPLES IN THE BASKET

The Indian States are governed by treaties . . . The Indian States, if they do not join this Union,
will remain in exactly the same situation as they are today.

sik Starrorp Cripps, British politician, 1942

We shall have to come out in the open with [the] Princes sooner or later. We are at present being
dishonest in pretending we can maintain all these small States, knowing full well in practice we
shall be unable to.

Lorp WaveLL, Viceroy of India, 1943

Few men nave Been so concerned about how history would portray them as Lord Mountbatten, the last
viceroy and governor general of India. As a veteran journalist once remarked, Mountbatten appeared
to act as ‘his own Public Relations Officer’.l An aide of Mountbatten was more blunt, calling his boss
‘the vainest man alive’. The viceroy always instructed photographers to shoot him from six inches
above the eyeline because his friend, the actor Cary Grant, had told him that this way the wrinkles
didn’t show. When Field Marshal Montgomery visited India, and the press clamoured for photos of
the two together, Mountbatten was dismayed to find that Monty wore more medals than himself.2

Altogether, Mountbatten had a personality that was in marked contrast to that of his predecessor,
Lord Wavell. A civil servant who worked under Wavell noticed that ‘vanity, pomposity and other such
weaknesses never touched him', another way of saying that he did not look to, or care about, how
history would judge him.2 Yet it is Wavell who should get most of the credit for initiating the end of
British rule in India. While sceptical of the political class, he was, despite the reserve which he
displayed to them, deeply sympathetic to Indian aspirations.? It was he who set in motion the
discussions and negotiations at the end of the war, and it was he who pressed for a clear timetable for
withdrawal. But it was left to his flamboyant successor to make the last dramatic gestures that
announced the birth of the two newnations.

After Mountbatten left India he worked hard to present the best possible spin on his tenure as
viceroy. He commissioned or influenced a whole array of books that sought to magnify his successes
and gloss his failures. These books project an impression of Mountbatten as a wise umpire
successfully mediating between squabbling school boys, whether India and Pakistan, the Congress and
the Muslim League, Mahatma Gandhi and M. A. Jinnah, or Jawaharlal Nehru and Vallabhbhai Patel. 2
His credit claims are taken at face value, sometimes absurdly so, as in the suggestion that Nehru
would not have included Patel in his Cabinet had it not been for Mountbatten’s recommendation.¢

Curiously, Mountbatten’s real contribution to India and Indians has been rather underplayed by
his hagiographers. This was his part in solving a geopolitical problem the like of which no newly
independent state had ever faced (or is likely to face in the future). For when the British departed the
subcontinent they left behind more than 500 distinct pieces of territory. Two of these were the newly
created nations of India and Pakistan; the others comprised the assorted chiefdoms and states that
made up what was known as ‘princely India’. The dissolution of these units is a story of extraordinary



interest, told from a partisan point of view half a century ago in V. P. Menon’s Integration of the
Indian States, but not else where or since.z

I1

The princely states were so many that there was even disagreement as to their number. One historian
puts it at 521; another at 565. They were more than 500, by any count, and they varied very widely in
terms of size and status. At one end of the scale were the massive states of Kashmir and Hyderabad,
each the size of a large European country; at the other end, tiny fiefdoms or jagirs of a dozen or less
villages.

The larger princely states were the product of the longue durée of Indian history as much as of
British policy. Some states made much of having resisted the waves of Muslim invaders who swept
through north India between the eleventh and sixteenth centuries. Others owed their very history to
association with these invaders, as for instance the Asaf Jah dynasty of Hyderabad, which began life in
the early eighteenth century as a vassal state of the great Mughal Empire. Yet other states, such as
Cooch Behar in the east and Garhwal in the Himalayan north, were scarcely touched by Islamic
influence at all.

Whatever their past history, these states owed their mid-twentieth-century shape and powers — or
lack thereof — to the British. Starting as a firm of traders, the East India Company gradually moved
towards a position of overlordship. They were helped here by the decline of the Mughals after the
death of Aurangzeb in 1707. Indian rulers were seen by the Company as strategic allies, useful in
checking the ambitions of their common enemy, the French. The Company forced treaties on these
states, which recognized it as the ‘paramount power’. Thus, while legally the territories the various
Nawabs and Maharajas ruled over were their own, the British retained to themselves the right to
appoint ministers and control succession, and to extract a large subsidy for the provision of
administrative and military support. In many cases the treaties also transferred valuable areas from
the Indian states to the British. It was no accident that, except for the states comprising Kathia-war
and two chiefdoms in the south, no Indian state had a coastline. The political dependence was made
more acute by economic dependence, with the states relying on British India for raw materials,
industrial goods, and employment opportunities.2

The larger native states had their own railway, currency and stamps, vanities allowed them by the
Crown. Few had any modern industry; fewer still modern forms of education. A British observer wrote
in the early twentieth century that, taken as a whole, the states were ‘sinks of reaction and
incompetence and unrestrained autocratic power sometimes exercised by vicious and deranged
individuals’.2 This, roughly, was also the view of the main nationalist party, the Congress. From the
1920s they pressed the state rulers to at least match the British in allowing a modicum of political
representation. Under the Congress umbrella rested the All-India States Peoples Conference, to which
in turn were affiliated the individual praja mandals (or peoples’ societies) of the states.

Even in their heyday the princes got a bad press. They were generally viewed as feckless and
dissolute, over-fond of racehorses and other men’s wives and holidays in Europe. Both the Congress
and the Raj thought that they cared too little for mundane matters of administration. This was mostly
true, but there were exceptions. The maharajas of Mysore and Baroda both endowed fine universities,
worked against caste prejudice and promoted modern enterprises. Other maharajas kept going the
great traditions of Indian classical music.
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Good or bad, profligate or caring, autocratic or part-democratic, by the 1940s all the princes now
found themselves facing a common problem: their future in a free India. In the first part of 1946
British India had a definitive series of elections, but these left untouched the princely states. As a
consequence there was a ‘growing antipathy towards princely governments’.12 Their constitutional
status, however, remained ambiguous. The Cabinet Mission of 1946 focused on the Hindu—Muslim or
United India versus Pakistan question; it barely spoke of the states at all. Likewise the statement of 20
February 1947, formally announcing that the Raj was to end, also finessed the question. On 3 June the
British announced both the date of their final withdrawal and the creation of two dominions — but this
statement also did not make clear the position of the states. Some rulers began now ‘to luxuriate in
wild dreams of independent power in an India of many partitions’..

Now, just in time, came the wake-up calls.

II1

In 1946-7 the president of the All-India States Peoples Conference was Jawaharlal Nehru. His
biographer notes that Nehru ‘held strong views on this subject of the States. He detested the feudal
autocracy and total suppression of popular feeling, and the prospect of these puppet princes . . . setting
themselves up as independent monarchs drove him into intense exasperation.’l2 The prospect was



encouraged by the officials of the Political Department, who led the princes to believe that once the
British had left they could, if they so wished, stake their claims to independence.

On their part, the princes disliked and even feared Nehru. Fortunately the Congress had assigned
the problem of the states to the pragmatic administrator Vallabhbhai Patel. Through the spring of 1947
Patel threw a series of lunch parties, where he urged his princely guests to help the Congress in
framing a new constitution for India. This they could do by sending delegates to the Constituent
Assembly, whose deliberations had begun in Delhi in December 1946. At the same time Patel wrote to
the more influential dewans (chief ministers), urging them to ask their rulers to come to terms with
the party which would now rule India.1

One of the first princes to come over to Patel’s side was the Maharaja of Bikaner. His dewan was
K. M. Pannikar, awidely respected historian who, more clearly than otherpeople, could see that the
“Vasco da Gama epoch of Asian history’ 14 was swiftly coming to an end. The forces of nationalism
were irresistible; if one did not compromise with them, one would be swept away. Accordingly, in the
first week of April 1947 Bikaner issued a public appeal to his fellow princes to join the Constituent
Assembly. Their entry into the Assembly, he said, would ‘make quite clear to everyone that the Indian
Princes are not only workingfor the good of their States and for their mother country but are above all
patriotic and worthy sons of India’.12

The first chiefdom to join the Constituent Assembly, back in February, had in fact been the state
of Baroda. After Bikaner’s appeal a dozen more states joined, many of them from Rajasthan. Pannikar
and Bikaner had ‘led the Rajput princes in a fresh act of traditional obeisance to Delhi, where in place
of Mogul or British, a Pandit now rules. They have made acompact with Congress — probably, from
their point of view, rightly.’1¢

Several states in Rajasthan,Bikaner included, would share aborder withPakistan; this, and ancient
memories of battles withMuslim kings, predisposed them to an early compromise with Congress. But
other states in the hinterland were less sure how far Delhi’s writ would run after the British left. Might
not the situation revert tothat of the eighteenth century, when the peninsula wasdivided up among
dozens of more-or-less sovereign states?

On 27 June a newStates Department was set up by the government of India. This replaced the old
Political Department, whose pro-princes, anti-Congress tenor had caused so much mischief.lZ Patel
wouldbethe minister in charge. As hissecretary he chose V. P. Menon, asmall, alert and ferociously
intelligent Malayali from Malabar. Unusually for a man in his position, Menon had come from the
ranks.Far from being a member of the elite Indian Civil Service — as other secretaries to government
were — he had joined the government of India asaclerk and steadily worked hisway up. He had been
reforms commissioner and constitutional adviser to successive viceroys, and had played a key role in
drafting the Indian Independence Bill.

His peers in the ICS derisively called him ‘babu Menon’, in reference to his lowly origins. In
fact, as British Raj gave way to Congress Raj, there could have been no better man to supervise this
most tricky aspect of the transition. Menon’s first act was to urge the British government not to
support fanciful claims to independence. ‘Even an inkling that H.M.G. would accord independent
recognition’, he told London, ‘would make infinitely difficult all attempts to bring the States and the
new Dominions together on all vital matters of common concern.’18

Menon was also ideally placed to mediate between his old boss, Mountbatten, and his new boss,
Vallabhbhai Patel. Between them they worked on a draft Instrument of Accession whereby the states
would agree to transfer control of defence, foreign affairs and communications to the Congress
government. On 5 July Patel issued a statement appealing to the princes to accede to the Indian Union
on these three subjects and join the Constituent Assembly. As he put it, the ‘alternative to co-
operation in the general interest’ was ‘anarchy and chaos’. Patel appealed to the princes’ patriotism,



asking for their assistance in raising ‘this sacred land to its proper place among the nations of the
world’.12

On 9 July Patel and Nehru both met the viceroy, and asked him ‘what he was going to do to help
India in connection with her most pressing problem - relations with the [princely] States’.
Mountbatten agreed to make this matter ‘his primary consideration’. Later that same day Gandhi came
to meet Mountbatten. As the viceroy recorded, the Mahatma ‘asked me to do everything in my power
to ensure that the British did not leave a legacy of Balkanisation and disruption on the 15th August by
encouraging the States to declare their independence . . . ’2

Mountbatten was being urged by the Congress trinity to bat for them against the states. This he
did most effectively, notably in a speech to the Chamber of Princes delivered on 25 July, for which the
viceroy had decked out in all his finery, rows of military medals pinned upon his chest. He was,
recalled an adoring assistant, ‘in full uniform, with an array of orders and decorations calculated to
astonish even these practitioners in Princely pomp’.2

Mountbatten began by telling the princes that the Indian Independence Act had released ‘the
States from all their obligations to the Crown’. They were now technically independent, or, put
another way, rudderless, on their own. The old links were broken, but ‘if nothing can be put in its
place, only chaos can result’ — a chaos that ‘will hit the States first’. He advised them to forge
relations with the new nation closest to them. As he brutally put it, ‘you cannot run away from the
Dominion Government which is your neighbour any more than you can run away from the subjects for
whose welfare you are responsible’.

The Instrument of Accession the princes were being asked to sign would cede away defence — but
in any case, said Mountbatten, the states would, by themselves, ‘be cut off from any source of supplies
of up-to-date arms or weapons’. It would cede away external affairs, but the princes could ‘hardly
want to go to the expense of having ambassadors or ministers or consuls in all these foreign
countries’. And it would also cede away communications, but this was ‘really a means of maintaining
the life-blood of the whole sub-continent’. The Congress offer, said the viceroy, left the rulers ‘with
great internal authority’ while divesting them of matters they could not deal with on their own.22

Mountbatten’s talk to the Chamber of Princes was a tour de force. In my opinion it ranks as the
most significant of all his acts in India. It finally persuaded the princes that the British would no
longer protect or patronize them, and that independence for them was a mirage.

Mountbatten had prefaced his speech with personal letters to the more important princes.
Afterwards he continued to press them to sign the Instrument of Accession. If they did so before 15
August, said the viceroy, he might be able to get them decent terms with the Congress. But if they did
not listen, then they might face an ‘explosive situation’ after Independence, when the full might of
nationalist wrath would turn against them.22

By 15 August virtually all the states had signed the Instrument of Accession. Meanwhile the
British had departed, never to return. Now the Congress went back on the undertaking that if the
princes signed up on the three specified subjects, ‘in other matters we would scrupulously respect
their autonomous existence’.2 The praja mandals grew active once more. In Mysore a movement was
launched for ‘full democratic government’ in the state. Three thousand people courted arrest.z In
some states in Kathiawar and Orissa, protesters took possession of government offices, courts and
prisons.26

Vallabhbhai Patel and the Congress Party cleverly used the threat of popular protest to make the
princes fall in line. They had already acceded; now they were being asked to integrate, that is to
dissolve their states as independent entities and merge with the Union of India. In exchange they
would be allowed to retain their titles and offered an annual allowance in perpetuity. If they desisted
from complying, they faced the threat of uncontrolled (and possibly uncontrollable) agitation by



subjects whose suppressed emotions had been released by the advent of Independence.%Z
Through the latter part of 1947 V. P. Menon toured India, cajoling the princes one by one. His
progress, wrote the New York Times correspondent in New Delhi,

could be measured from the ensuing series of modest newspaper items, each series running about
like this:

First, a small headline, ‘Mr V. P. Menon Visits Stateof Chhota Hazri’;

Then, in the Governor-General’s daily Court Circular, a brief notice, ‘H. H. the Maharajah of
Chhota Hazri has arrived’;

And soon, a banner headline, ‘CHHOTA HAZRI MERGED’ .2

As this account makes clear, the groundwork was done by Patel and V. P. Menon; but the finishing
touch was applied by Mountbatten, a final interview with whom was sometimes a necessary
concession to princely vanity. The governor general also visited the more important chiefdoms, where
he saluted their ‘most wise and Statesmanlike decision’ to link up with India.22

Mountbatten dealt with the symbolism of the princes’ integration with India; V. P. Menon with
the substance. In his book, Menon describes in some detail the tortuous negotiations with the rulers.
The process of give and take involved much massaging of egos: one ruler claimed descent from Lord
Rama, another from Sri Krishna, while a third said his lineage was immortal, as it had been blessed by
the Sikh Gurus.

In exchange for their land each ruler was offered a ‘privy purse’, its size determined by the
revenue earned by the state. The bigger, more strategically placed states had to be given better deals,
but relevant too were such factors as the antiquity of the ruling dynasty, the religious halo which
might surround it, and their martial traditions. Apart from an annual purse, the rulers were allowed to
retain their palaces and other personal properties and, as significantly, their titles. The Maharaja of
Chhota Hazri would still be the Maharaja of Chhota Hazri, and he could pass on the title to his son as
well.30

To reassure the princes, Patel sought to include a constitutional guarantee with regard to the privy
purses. But, as V. P. Menon pointed out, the pay-off had been trifling compared to the gains. In
addition to securing the political consolidation of India, the integration of the states was, in economic
terms, a veritable steal. By Menon’s calculation, while the government would pay out some Rs150
million to the princes, in ten years’ time the revenue from their states would amount to at least ten
times as much.3

Acquiring the territory of the States was followed by the scarcely less difficult job of
administrative integration. In most states, the land revenue and judicial systems were archaic, and
there was no popular representation of any kind. The Ministry of States transferred officials trained in
British India to put the new systems in place. It also oversaw the swearing-in of interim ministries
prior to the holding of full-fledged elections.

Patel and Menon took more than one leaf out of the British book. They played ‘divide-and-rule’,
bringing some princes on side early, unsettling the rest. They played on the childlike vanities of the
maharajas, allowing them to retain their titles and sometimes giving them new ones. (Thus several
maharajas were appointed governors of provinces.) But, like the British in the eighteenth century, they
kept their eye firmly on the main chance: material advantage. For, as Patel told the officials of the
states ministry, “we do not want their women and their jewellery — we want their land’.32

In a mere two years, over 500 autonomous and sometimes ancient chiefdoms had been dissolved
into fourteen new administrative units of India. This, by any reckoning, was a stupendous
achievement. It had been brought about by wisdom, foresight, hard work and not a little intrigue.



IV

When Vallabhbhai Patel had first discussed the states problem with Mountbatten, he had asked him to
bring in ‘a full basket of apples’ by the date of Independence. Would he be satisfied with a bag of 560
instead of the full 565, wondered the viceroy. The Congress strongman nodded his assent.3 As it
turned out, only three states gave trouble before 15 August, and three more afterthat date.

Travancore was the first state to question the right of the Congress to succeed the British as the
paramount power. The state was strategically placed, at the extreme southern tip of the subcontinent.
It had the most highly educated populace in India, a thriving maritime trade, and newly discovered
reserves of monazite, from which is extracted thorium, used in the production of atomic energy and
atomic bombs. The dewan of Travancore was Sir C. P. Ramaswamy Aiyar, a brilliant and ambitious
lawyer who had been in his post for sixteen years. It was commonly believed that he was the real ruler
of the state, whose maharaja and maharani were like putty in his hands.

As early as February 1946 Sir C. P. had made clear his belief that, when the British left,
Travancore would become a ‘perfectly independent unit’, as it had been before 1795, when it first
signed a treaty with the East India Company. In the summer of 1947 he held a series of press
conferences seeking the co-operation of the people of Travancore in his bid for independence. He
reminded them of the antiquity of their ruling dynasty and of Travancore’s sinking of a Dutch fleet
back in the year 1741 (this apparently the only naval defeat ever inflicted by an Asian state on a
European power). This appeal to a past redolent in regional glory was meant to counter the pan-Indian
nationalism of the present. For the Congress had a strong presence in the state, as did the Communist
Party of India. Still, the dewan insisted that from 15 August 1947 “Travancore will become an
independent country’. ‘There was no particular reason’, he defiantly added, ‘why she should be in a
worse position than Denmark, Switzerland, and Siam.’

Interestingly, Travancore’s bid for independence was welcomed by Mohammad Ali Jinnah. On
20 June he sent Sir C. P. a wire indicating that Pakistan was ‘ready to establish relationship with
Travancore which will be of mutual advantage’. Three weeks later the dewan wrote to the Madras
government informing them that Travancore was taking steps to ‘maintain herself as an independent
entity’. It was, however, ready to sign a treaty between the ‘independent Sovereign State’ of
Travancore and the ‘Dominion Governments’ of both India and Pakistan.

On 21 July the dewan of Travancore had an appointment to meet the viceroy in Delhi. The
previous evening he met a senior British diplomat and told him that he hoped to get recognition from
his government. If India refused to supply Travancore with textiles, he asked, would the United
Kingdom step in? Sir C. P. had, it seems, been encouraged in his ambitions by politicians in London,
who saw an independent Travancore as a source of a material crucial to the coming Cold War. In fact,
the Travancore government had already signed an agreement with the UK government for the supply
of monazite. In London, the minister of supply advised his government to avoid making any statement
that would ‘give the Indian Dominions leverage in combating Travancore’s claim for independence’.
Since the state had the ‘richest known deposit of monazite sand’, said the minister, from the British
point of view ‘it would be an advantage if Travancore retained political and economic independence,
at least for the time being.’

On the 21st Sir C. P. had his scheduled interview with Mountbatten. They were together for more
than two hours, which time the dewan used to launch an excoriating attack on Gandhi, Nehru and the
Congress. After he ‘had worked off his emotional upset’, the viceroy ‘let him go and sent V. P. Menon



to work on him’. Menon urged him to sign the Instrument of Accession, but the dewan said he would
prefer to negotiate a treaty with India instead.

Sir C. P. returned to Travancore, his mind still apparently firm on Independence. Then, while on
his way to a music concert on 25 July, he was attacked by a man in military shorts, knifed in the face
and body and taken off for emergency surgery. (The would-be assassin turned out to be a member of
the Kerala Socialist Party.) The consequences were immediate, and from the Indian point of view,
most gratifying. As the viceroy put it in his weekly report to London, ‘The States Peoples organisation
turned the heat on and Travancore immediately gave in’. From his hospital bed Sir C. P. advised his
maharaja to ‘follow the path of conciliation and compromise’ which he,‘being autocratic and over-
decisive’, had not himself followed. On 30 July the maharaja wired the viceroy of his decision to
accede to the Indian Union.34

A second state that wavered on the question of accession was Bhopal. This lay in central India,
and had the not unusual combination of a mostly Hindu population and a Muslim ruler. Since 1944 the
Nawab of Bhopal had served as chancellor of the Chamber of Princes. He was known to be a bitter
opponent of the Congress, and correspondingly close to Jinnah and the Muslim League. When, after
the war, the British made clear their intention to leave India, the prospect filled the Nawab with
despair. He saw this as ‘one of the greatest, if not the greatest, tragedies that has ever befallen
mankind’. For now the ‘States, the Moslems, and the entire mass of people who relied on British
justice . . . suddenly find themselves totally helpless, unorganised and unsupported’. The only course
left to the Nawab now was to ‘die in the cause of the Moslems of the world’.

These lines are from a letter of November 1946, written to the political adviser to Lord Wavell.
Four months later Wavell was replaced as viceroy by Mountbatten, who, as it happens, was an old
polo-playing buddy of the Nawab of Bhopal. Their friendship went back twenty-five years;
Mountbatten once claimed that the Nawab was his ‘second-best friend in India’.3> But it was soon
clear that they now stood in different camps. In mid-July 1947 Mountbatten wrote to Bhopal, as he
had to all other princes, advising him to accede to India. He got along and self-confessedly
‘sentimental’ letter in reply. This began by professing ‘unbroken and loyal friendship’ with the Crown
of England; a link now being broken by the unilateral action of HMG. And to whom had they
delivered Bhopal and his colleagues? The hated party of Gandhi and Nehru. ‘Are we’, asked Bhopal
angrily, ‘to write out a blank cheque and leave it to the leaders of the Congress Party to fill in the
amount?’

From accusations of betrayal the letter then issued a warning. In India, said the Nawab, the main
bulwarks against the ‘rising tide of Communism’ were men of property. The Congress had already
stated their intention to liquidate landlords. To that party’s left stood the Communist Party of India,
which controlled the unions of transport workers; if they so chose, the communists could paralyse and
starve the subcontinent. ‘I tell you straight’, said Bhopal to his friend, ‘that unless you and His
Majesty’s Government support the States and prevent them from disappearing from the Indian
political map, you will very shortly have an India dominated by Communists . . . If the United Nations
one day find themselves with 450 million extra people under the heel of Communist domination they
will be quite justified in blaming Great Britain for this disaster, and I naturally would not like your
name associated with it.’

Bhopal hinted that he, like Travancore, would declare his independence; in any case he would not
attend the meeting of the Chamber of Princes scheduled for 25 July. On the 31st Mountbatten wrote
back to Bhopal inviting him once more to sign the Instrument of Accession. He reminded him of what
he had said in the speech: that no ruler could ‘run away’ from the dominion closest to him. And he
shrewdly turned the argument about communism on its head. Yes, he told Bhopal, there was indeed a
Red threat, but it would be best met if the Congress and the princes joined hands. For men like Patel



were ‘as frightened of communism as you yourself are. If only they had support from all other stable
influences such as that of the Princely Order, it might be possible for them to ward off the communist
danger.’36

By this time Bhopal had received reports of the meeting of 25 July. He had heard of the terrific
impression his old friend had made, and also of the increasing tide of accessions by his fellow princes.
And so he capitulated, asking only for a small sop to his pride. Would the viceroy press Patel to
extend the deadline by ten days, so that his accession would be announced after 15 August instead of
before? That, said Bhopal, ‘would enable me to sign our death warrant with a clear conscience’. (In
the event, Patel said he could not make any exceptions; instead Mount-batten offered to Bhopal that if
he would sign the Instrument of Accession on 14 August, he would keep it under lock and key and
hand it over to Patel only after the 25th.)3Z

A case more curious still was that of Jodhpur, an old and large state with a Hindu king as well as
a largely Hindu population. At a lunch hosted by Mountbatten in mid-July, the young Maharaja of
Jodhpur had joined the other Raj put princes in indicating his willingness to accede to India. But soon
afterwards someone — it is not clear who — planted the idea in his head that since his state bordered
Pakistan, he might get better terms from that dominion. Possibly at Bhopal’s initiative, a meeting was
arranged between him and Jinnah. At this meeting the Muslim League leader offered Jodhpur full port
facilities in Karachi, unrestricted import of arms and supply of grain from Sindh to his own famine-
stricken districts. In one version, Jinnah is said to have handed the maharaja a blank sheet and a
fountain pen and said, ‘You can fill in all your conditions.’

If Jodhpur had defected to Pakistan, this would have opened up the possibility that states
contiguous to it — such as Jaipur and Udaipur — would do likewise. However, K. M. Pannikar got wind
of the plan and asked Vallabhbhai Patel to intervene. Patel contacted Jodhpur and promised him free
import of arms too, as well as adequate grain. Meanwhile, his own nobles and village headmen had
told the maharaja that he could not really expect them to be at ease in a Muslim state. The ruler of an
adjoining state, Jaisalmer, also asked him what would happen if he joined Pakistan and a riot broke
out between Hindus and Muslims. Whose side would he then take?

And so the Maharaja of Jodhpur also came round, but not before a last-minute theatrical show of
defiance. When presented with the Instrument of Accession in the anteroom of the viceroy’s office,
Jodhpur took out a revolver and held it to the secretary’s head, saying, ‘I will not accept your
dictation.” But in a few minutes he cooled down and signed on the line.38

v

Among the states that had not signed up by 15 August was Junagadh, which lay in the peninsula of
Kathiawarin western India. This, like Bhopal, had a Muslim Nawab ruling over a chiefly Hindu
population. On three sides Junagadh was surrounded by Hindu states or by India, but on the fourth —
and this distinguished it from Bhopal — it had a long coastline. Its main port, Veraval, was 325
nautical miles from the Pakistani port city (and national capital) of Karachi. Junagadh’s ruler in 1947,
Mohabat Khan, had one abiding passion: dogs. His menagerie included 2,000 pedigree canines,
including sixteen hounds specially deputed to guard the palace. When two of his favourite hounds
mated, the Nawab announced a public holiday. On their ‘marriage’ he expended three lakh (300,000)
rupees, or roughly a thousand times the average annual income of one of his subjects.

Within the borders of Junagadh lay the Hindu holy shrine of Somnath, as well as Girnar, a hill top
with magnificent marble temples built by, and for, the Jains. Both Somnath and Girnar attracted
thousands of pilgrims from other parts of India. The forests of Junagadh were also the last refuge of



the Asiatic lion. These had been protected by Mohabat Khan and his forebears, who discouraged even
high British officials from hunting them.32

In the summer of 1947 the Nawab of Junagadh was on holiday in Europe. While he was away, the
existing dewan was replaced by Sir Shah Nawaz Bhutto, a leading Muslim League politician from
Sindh who had close ties to Jinnah.42 After the Nawab returned, Bhutt opressed him to stay out of the
Indian Union. On 14 August, the day of the transfer of power, Junagadh announced that it would
accede to Pakistan. This it was legally allowed to do, although geographically it made little sense. It
also flew in the face of Jinnah’s ‘two-nation’ theory, since 82 per cent of Junagadh’s population was
Hindu.

Pakistan sat on the Nawab’s request for a few weeks, but on 13 September it accepted the
accession. It seems to have done this in the belief that it could then use Junagadh as a bargaining
counter to secure Jammu and Kashmir. That state too had not acceded to either dominion by 15
August. It had a Hindu maharaja and a majority Muslim population: in structural terms, it was a
Junagadh in reverse.

The acceptance by Pakistan of Junagadh’s accession enraged the Indian leaders. Touched in a
particularly ‘tender spot’ was Vallabhbhai Patel, who came from the same region and spoke the same
language (Gujarati) as the residents of Junagadh.4 His first response was to secure the accession of
two of Junagadh'’s tributary states, Mangrol and Babariawad. Their Hindu chiefs claimed that they had
the right to join India; the Nawab of Junagadh denied this, claiming that as his vassals they had to seek
his consent first. The Indian government went with the vassals, and sent in a small military force to
support them.

In the middle of September V. P. Menon went to Junagadh to negotiate with the Nawab, but the
ruler would not see him, feigning illness. Menon had to make do with meeting the dewan instead. He
told Sir Shah Nawaz that from both cultural and geographical points of view Junagadh really should
join India. Sir Shah Nawaz did not dispute this, but complained that local feelings had been inflamed
by the ‘virulent writings in the Gujarati Press’. He said that he personally would favour the issue being
decided by a referendum.42

Meanwhile, a ‘provisional government of Junagadh’ was set up in Bombay. This was led by
Samaldas Gandhi, a nephew of the Mahatma, and a native of the kingdom. This ‘government’ became
the vehicle of popular agitation within Junagadh. In panic, the Nawab fled to Karachi, taking a dozen
of his favourite dogs with him. The dewan was left holding the baby. On 27 October Sir Shah Nawaz
wrote to Jinnah that, while ‘immediately after accession [to Pakistan], His Highness and myself
received hundreds of messages chiefly from Muslims congratulating us on the decision, today our
brethren are indifferent and cold. Muslims of Kathiawar seem to have lost all their enthusiasm for
Pakistan.’

Ten days later Sir Shah Nawaz informed the Indian government that he would like to hand over
the administration of Junagadh. The formal transfer took place on 9 November. Back in Delhi,
however, Mount-batten was cross that he had not been consulted before the territory was taken over.
Partly to placate him, but also to establish its own legitimacy, the Indians then organized a plebiscite.
A referendum held on 20 February 1948 resulted in 91 per cent of the electorate voting for accession
to India.%

VI

The state of Hyderabad also had a Muslim ruler and a mostly Hindu population; but it was a prize
greater by far than Bhopal or Junagadh. The state ran right across the Deccan plateau, in the centre of



the subcontinent. Its area was in excess of 80,000 square miles, and its population more than 16
million, these distributed among three linguistic zones: Telugu, Kannada and Marathi. Hyderabad was
surrounded by Central Provinces in the north, by Bombay in the west, and by Madras in the south and
east. Although landlocked, it was self-sufficient in food, cotton, oilseed, coal and cement. Petrol and
salt, however, had to be imported from British India.

Hyderabad began life as a Mughal vassal state in 1713. Its ruler was conventionally known as the
Nizam. Eighty-five per cent of its population was Hindu, but Muslims dominated the army, police and
civil service. The Nizam himself owned about 10 per cent of the land of the state; much of the rest was
controlled by large landowners. From his holdings the ruler earned Rs25 million a year in rent, while
another Rs5 million were granted him from the state treasury. There were some very rich nobles, but
the bulk of the Muslims, like the bulk of the Hindus, worked as factory hands, artisans, labourers and
peasants.#

In power in 1946—7 was the seventh Nizam, Mir Usman Ali, who had ascended to the throne as
far back as 1911. He was one of the richest men in the world, but also one of the most miserly. He
rarely wore new clothes, his preferred mode of dress being an un-ironed pyjama and shirt and a faded
fez. He ‘generally drove in an old, rattling, tin-pot of a car, a 1918 model; he never offered any kind of
hospitality to a visitor’.4

This Nizam was determined to hang on to more than his personal wealth. What he wanted for his
state, when the British left, was independence, with relations forged directly between him and the
Crown. To help him with his case he had employed Sir Walter Monckton, a King’s Counsel and one of
the most highly regarded lawyers in England. (Among Monckton’s previous clients was King Edward
VIII, whom he had advised during his abdication.) For the Englishman’s services the Nizam was
prepared to pay a packet: as much as 90,000 guineas a year, it was rumoured. In a meeting with the
viceroy, Monckton ‘emphasized that His Exalted Highness would have great difficulty in taking any
course likely to compromise his independent sovereignty’. When Mountbatten suggested that
Hyderabad should join the Constituent Assembly, the Nizam’s lawyer answered that if India pressed
too hard his client might ‘seriously consider the alternative of joining Pakistan’.4

The Nizam’s ambitions, if realized, would virtually cut off the north of India from the south.
And, as the constitutional expert Reginald Coupland pointed out, ‘India could live if its Moslem limbs
in the northwest and north-east were amputated, but could it live without its midriff?” Sardar Patel put
it more directly, saying that an independent Hyderabad constituted a ‘cancer in the belly of India’.%

In this face-off between the Nizam and the government of India, each side had a proxy of its own.
The Indians had the Hyderabad State Congress, formed in 1938, which pressed hard for representative
government with in the state. The Nizam had the Ittihad-ul-Muslimeen, which wished to safeguard the
position of Muslims in administration and politics. Another important actor was the Communist Party
of India, which had a strong presence in the Telengana region of the state.

In 1946-7 all three voices grew more strident. The State Congress demanded that Hyderabad fall
into line with the rest of India. Its leaders organized street protests, and courted arrest.
Simultaneously, the Ittihad was being radicalized by its new leader, Kasim Razvi, an Aligarh-trained
lawyer and a passionate believer in the idea of ‘Muslim pride’. Under Razvi the Ittihad had promoted
a paramilitary body called the ‘Razakars’, whose members marched up and down the roads of
Hyderabad, carrying swords and guns.48

In the countryside, meanwhile, there was a rural uprising led and directed by the communists.
Across Telengana large estates were confiscated and redistributed to land-hungry peasants. The
insurrectionists first seized all holdings in excess of 500 acres, bringing the limit down successively to
200 and then 100 acres. They also abolished the institution of forced labour. In the districts of
Nalgonda, Warangal and Karimnagar the communists ran what amounted to aparallel government.



More than 1,000 villages were ‘practically freed from the Nizam’s rule’.%

On 15 August the national flag was hoisted by Congress workers in different parts of Hyderabad
state. The offenders were arrested and taken off to jail.22 On the other side the Razakars grew more
truculent. They affirmed their support for the Nizam’s declaration of independence, and printed and
distributed handbills which proclaimed: ‘Free Hyderabad for Hyderabadis’ and ‘No pact with the
Indian Union’.32

The Nizam’s ambitions were encouraged by the Conservative Party in Britain. Sir Walter
Monckton was himself a prominent Tory and he had written to his party leaders to support his client’s
case. Monckton claimed the Congress practised a kind of ‘power politics’ that was an ‘exact replica of
those in which Hitler and Mussolini indulged’. Since Mountbatten was hand-in-glove with Nehru and
Patel, it was up to the Tories to ‘see to it that if this shameful betrayal of our old friends and allies
cannot be prevented, at least it does not go uncastigated before the conscience of the world’.22

To see the Nizam’s Hyderabad as Poland and the Congress as the equivalent to Hitler’s Nazis
boggles the imagination. Even Winston Churchill allowed himself to be persuaded of the analogy,
perhaps because he had along standing dislike for Mahatma Gandhi. Speaking in the House of
Commons, Churchill argued that the British had a ‘personal obligation . . . not to allow a state, which
they had declared a sovereign state, to be strangled, starved out or actually overborne by violence’.
The party’s rising star, R. A. Butler, weighed in on Churchill’s side, saying that Britain should press
for the ‘just claims of Hyderabad to remain independent’.23

The Nizam, and more so the Razakars, also drew sustenance from the support to their cause from
Pakistan. Jinnah had gone so far as to tell Lord Mountbatten that if the Congress ‘attempted to exert
any pressure on Hyderabad, every Muslim throughout the whole of India, yes, all the hundred million
Muslims, would rise as one man to defend the oldest Muslim dynasty in India’.>

The Nizam now said he would sign a treaty with India, but not an Instrument of Accession. In late
November 1947 he agreed to sign a ‘Stand still Agreement’, under which the arrangements forged
between Hyderabad and the British Raj would be continued with its successor government. This
bought both parties time; the Nizam to reconsider his bid for independence, the Indians to find better
ways of persuading him to accede.

Under this agreement, the Nizam and the Indian government deputed agents to each other’s
territory. The Indian agent was K. M. Munshi, a trusted ally of Vallabhbhai Patel. In November the
Nizam had appointed a new dewan, Mir Laik Ali, who was a wealthy businessman and a known
Pakistan sympathizer. Laik Ali offered some Hindu representation in his government, but it was seen
by the State Congress as a case of too little, too late. In any case, by now the real power had passed on
to the Razakars and its leader, Kasim Razvi. By March 1948 the membership of the Ittihad had
reached a million, with a tenth of these being trained in arms. Every Razakar had taken avow in the
name of Allah to ‘fight to the last to maintain the supremacy of Muslim power in the Deccan’.55

In April 1948 a correspondent of The Times of London visited Hyderabad. He interviewed Kasim
Razvi, and found him to be a ‘fanatical demagogue with great gifts of organization. As a “rabble-
rouser” he is formidable, and even in a téte-a-téte he is compelling.’s¢ Razvi saw himself as a
prospective leader of a Muslim state, a sort of Jinnah for the Hyderabadis, albeit amore militant one.
He had a portrait of the Pakistan leader prominently displayed in his room. Razvi told an Indian
journalist that he greatly admired Jinnah, adding that ‘whenever I am in doubt I go to him for counsel
which he never grudges giving me’.

Pictures of Razvi show him with a luxuriant beard. He looked ‘rather like an oriental
Mephistopheles’.5Z His most striking feature was his flashing eyes, ‘from which the fire of fanaticism
exudes’. He had contempt for the Congress, saying ‘we do not want Brahmin or Bania rule here’.
Asked which side they would take if Pakistan and India clashed, Razvi answered that Pakistan could



take care of itself, but added: “Wherever Muslim interests are affected, our interest and sympathy will
go out. This applies of course to Palestine as well. Even if Muslim interests are affected in hell, our
heart will go out in sympathy.’58

The Razakars saw the Delhi-Hyderabad battle in Hindu—Muslim terms. The Congress, on the
other hand, saw it as a clash between democracy and autocracy. In truth, it was a bit of both. Caught in
the cross-fire were the citizens of Hyderabad, for whom the months after August 1947 were a time of
deep insecurity.®2 Some Hindus began fleeing to the adjoining districts of Madras. Meanwhile,
Muslims from the Central Provinces were flocking to Hyderabad. Mostly illiterate, these Muslims had
heard fearful reports of attacks on their co-religionists in Bengal and Punjab. But they did not seem to
realize that in Hyderabad too they would be a minority. Perhaps, as an independent observer put it,
‘these emigrating Muslims have more trust in the Nizam’s troops and Arabs to protect them than in
the Union provincial administration’. In turn, these CP Muslims were said to have thrown out Hindus
from their houses in Hyderabad, aided by the Nizam’s men. It was even claimed that there was a plan
to make Muslims a majority in the state: apparently, Hindu localities of cities such as Aurangabad,
Bidar and Hyderabad had come to ‘present a deserted appearance’.5

Through the spring and summer of 1948 the tension grew. There were allegations of gun-running
from Pakistan to Hyderabad — in planes flown by British mercenaries — and of the import of arms from
eastern Europe. The prime minister of Madras wrote to Patel saying he found it difficult to cope with
the flood of refugees from Hyderabad. K. M. Munshi sent lurid reports of the Nizam’s perfidy, of his
‘fixed idea’ of independence, of his referring to the government of India as ‘the scoundrels of Delhi’,
of ‘the venomous propaganda being carried out day and night through speeches, Nizam’s radio,
newspapers, dramas etc., against the Indian Union’.5.

For the moment, the Indians temporized. In June 1948 V. P. Menon and Laik Ali held a series of
meetings in Delhi. Menon asked that the state introduce representative government, and promise a
plebiscite on accession. Various exceptions were proposed to protect the Nizam’s dignity; these
included the retention of troops. None was found acceptable. Meanwhile, the respected former dewan
of Hyderabad, Sir Mirza Ismail, attempted to mediate. He advised the Nizam not to take the
Hyderabad case to the United Nations (which Laik Ali had threatened to do), to get himself out of the
clutches of the Razakars and to accede to India. Hyderabad, he told His Exalted Highness, ‘must
realize the weakness of its own position’.&2

On 21 June 1948 Lord Mountbatten resigned from office of governor general. Three days
previously he had written to the Nizam urging him to compromise, and go down in history ‘as the
peace-maker of South India and as the Saviour of your State, your dynasty, and your people’. If he
stuck to his stand, however, he would ‘incur the universal condemnation of thinking people’.8 The
Nizam chose not to listen. But, with Mountbatten gone, it became easier for Patel to take decisive
action. On 13 September a contingent of Indian troops was sent into Hyderabad. In less than four days
they had full control of the state. Those killed in the fighting included forty-two Indian soldiers and
two thousand-odd Razakars.

On the night of the 17th, the Nizam spoke on the radio, his speech very likely written for him by
K. M. Munshi. He announced a ban on the Razakars and advised his subjects to ‘live in peace and
harmony with the rest of the people in India’. Six days later he made another broadcast, where he said
that Razvi and his men had taken ‘possession of the state’ by ‘Hitlerite’ methods and ‘spread terror’.
He was, he claimed, ‘anxious to come to an honourable settlement with India but this group . . . got me
to reject the offers made by the government of India from time to time . . . ’%

Whether by accident or design, the Indian action against Hyderabad took place two days after the
death of Pakistan’s governor general. Jinnah had predicted that a hundred million Muslims would rise
if the Nizam’s state was threatened. That didn’t happen, but in parts of Pakistan feelings ran high. In



Karachi a crowd of 5,000 marched in protest to the Indian High Commission. The high commissioner,
an old Gandhi an, came out on the street to try to pacify them. ‘You cowards,’ they shouted back, ‘you
have attacked us just when our Father has died.’&

Back in June, a senior Congress leader had told the Nizam that if he made peace with the Union,
His Exalted Highness of Hyderabad might even become ‘His Excellency the Ambassador of the whole
of India at Moscow or Washington’.5¢ In the event that offer was not made, perhaps because his dress,
or his style of entertainment, or both, did not be hove a diplomatic mission. But he was rewarded for
his final submission by being made rajpramukh, or governor, of the new Indian state of Hyderabad.

Two years after the end of the ancien régime, the Bombay journalist K. A. Abbas visited
Hyderabad. He found that in the window of the hundred-year-old photo studio of Raja Deendayal,
pictures of the city’s ‘liberator’, Colonel J. N. Chaudhuri of the Indian Army, had eclipsed portraits of
the Nizam. Now, in Hyderabad, the white Congress cap was ‘the head-gear of the new ruling class, and
inspire[d]the same awe as the conical Asafjahi dastaar (ready-to-wear turban) did before the police
action’.8Z

VII

In August 1947 an experienced British official who had served in the subcontinent published an article
with the portentous title ‘India and the Future’. British India had just been divided into two new
nations, but, the writer asked, ‘will the division stop there?’ Or would the subcontinent break up ‘into
innumerable, small, warring States’? Pakistan seemed inherently unstable; there was every chance of
its north-western parts becoming an independent ‘Pathanistan”’.Nor was India necessarily more stable.
Thus ‘many competent observers believe that [the province of] Madras will ultimately secede into
virtual independence'. As for the princely states, the smaller and more vulnerable ones would have no
option but to join India. But ‘the big States of the South, however, notably Hyderabad, Mysore and
Travancore — are in an altogether different position. They could, if necessary, preserve an independent
existence, and the recent threats of the Congress Party are not likely to deter them from deciding this
matter solely on consideration of their own advantage.’

The ‘ultimate pattern of India’, concluded this prophet, ‘is likely to consist of three or four
countries in place of British India, together with a Federation of South Indian States. This will be,
approximately speaking, are turn to the pattern of sixteenth century India . ..’

Given the odds, and the opposition, the integration of these numerous and disparate states was
indeed a staggering achievement. The job was so smoothly and comprehensively done that Indians
quite quickly forgot that this was once not one country but 500. In 1947 and 1948 the threat of
disintegration was very real, what with ‘honey-combs of intrigue’ such as Bhopal and Travancore and
‘strategic points of assault’ such as Hyderabad. But a mere five years after the last maharaja had
signed away his land, Indians had ‘come to take integrated India so much for granted that it requires
amental effort today even to imagine that it could be different’.5

The position of the Indian princes in the Indian polity ‘afforded no parallel to or analogy with any
institution known in history’. Yet, through ‘peaceful and cordial negotiations’ the chiefdoms had
dissolved themselves, and become ‘hardly distinguishable from the other democratic units comprising
the [Indian] Union’.

The words are from a booklet issued by the government of India in 1950. The self-congratulation
was merited. Whereas the British-directed partition of India had exacted such a heavy toll, these 500
‘centres of feudal autocracy’ had, with little loss of life, been ‘converted into free and democratic
units of the Indian Union’. The ‘yellow dots on the map’ that marked these chiefdoms had now



‘disappeared. Sovereignty and power have been transferred to the people’.‘For the first time’, the
booklet went on, ‘millions of people, accustomed to living in narrow, secluded groups in the States,
became part of the larger life of India. They could now breathe the air of freedom and democracy
pervading the whole nation.’

This being an official booklet, the credit for the job was naturally given to the man in charge.
‘“What the British pro-consuls failed to achieve after two centuries of ceaseless efforts’, wrote the
publicists, ‘Sardar Vallabhbhai Patel accomplished through his persuasive appeal to the nobler
feelings of the Princely Order.’2

Patel’s guiding hand was indeed wise and sure; another Congress politician, even (or especially)
Nehru, might not have supervised the princes’ extinction with such patience and foresight. But he
could scarcely have done the job without V. P. Menon, who made hundreds of trips to the chiefdoms,
chipping away at their rulers. In turn, Menon could have done little without the officials who effected
the actual transition, creating the conditions for financial and social integration with the rest of India.

In truth, both politicians and bureaucrats had as their indispensable allies the most faceless of all
humans: the people. For some decades, the people of the princely states had been clamouring in
numbers for the rights granted to the citizens of British India. Many states had vigorous and active
praja mandak. The princes were deeply sensible of this; indeed, without the threat of popular protest
from below, they would not have ceded power so easily to the Indian government.

In the unification of India Vallabhbhai Patel had plenty of helpers. Most of them are now
unknown and unhonoured. One who is not completely forgotten is V. P. Menon, who was both the
chief draughtsman of princely integration as well as its first chronicler. Let us listen now to the lesson
he drew from the process:

To have dissolved 554 States by integrating them into the pattern of the Republic; to have
brought order out of the nightmare of chaos whence we started, and to have democratized the
administration in all the erstwhile States, should steel us to the attainment of equal success in
other spheres.Z

We shall, in time, turn our attention to those ‘other spheres’ of nation-building. But we have first to
investigate the case of the princely state that gave the Indian Union the most trouble of all. This
particular apple stayed perilously placed on the rim of the basket; never in it, but never out of it either.



A VALLEY BLOODY AND BEAUTIFUL

My love of the mountains and my kinship with Kashmir especially drew me to them, and I saw
there not only the life and vigour and beauty of the present but also the memoried loveliness of
ages past . . . When I think of India, I think of many things . . . [but] above all, of the Himalayas,
snowcapped, or some mountain valley in Kashmir in the spring, covered with new flowers, and
with a brook bubbling and gurgling through it.

JawanArLAL NEHRU, 1946

Tuere were More THAN 500 princely states that joined the Indian Union. Of these the most important was,
and is, the state of Jammu and Kashmir. At 84,471 square miles it was even larger than Hyderabad.
However, its population of just over 4million was more thinly spread. The state was marked by a great
deal of cultural heterogeneity. There were five main regions. The province of Jammu, abutting Punjab,
had low hills and large areas of arable land. Before Partition the Muslims were in a slight majority (53
per cent), but with the wave of panic migrations that year Jammu came to be dominated by Hindus. In
contrast, the Valley of Kashmir, which lay to Jammu’s north, had a substantial Muslim majority. The
Valley was, by common consent, one of the most beautiful parts of India, its lakes and slopes visited
in the summer by wealthy tourists from Delhi and the Punjab. It was also home to a body of
sophisticated craftsmen working with silk, wool, wood and brass, making exquisite artefacts that were
exported to all parts of India and beyond. In both Jammu and the Valley there was also a fair
sprinkling of Sikhs.

To the Valley’s east lay the high mountains of Ladakh, bordering Tibet, and peopled mostly by
Buddhists. Further west lay the thinly populated tracts of Gilgit and Baltistan. The people here were
mostly Muslim, but from the Shia and Ismaili branches of Islam, rather than (as was the case in the
Valley) from the dominant Sunni tradition.

These disparate territories were brought under a single state only in the nineteenth century. The
unifiers were a clan of Dogra Rajputs from Jammu who conquered Ladakh in the 1830s, acquired the
vale of Kashmir (hereafter ‘the Valley’) from the British in the 1840s and moved into Gilgit by the
end of the century. And thus the state of Jammu and Kashmir (hereafter ‘Kashmir’ came to share
borders with Afghanistan, Chinese Sinkiang and Tibet. Only a very narrow tract of Afghan territory
separated it from the Soviet Union.2

Its location gave the state a strategic importance quite out of proportion to its population. This
importance increased after 15 August 1947, when Kashmir came to share borders with both the new
dominions. The anomaly of a Hindu ruling a mostly Muslim population was compounded by an
accident of geography: unlike the other disputed chiefdoms, such as Junagadh and Hyderabad,
Kashmir was contiguous with both India and Pakistan.

The Maharaja of Kashmir in 1947 was Hari Singh. Having ascended the throne in September
1925, he spent much time at the racecourse in Bombay, and much time hunting in the vast and
plentifully stocked jungles of his domain. In one other respect he was typical of his ilk. As his fourth
and youngest queen complained, he ‘never meets the people — that’s the trouble. He just sits



surrounded by fawning courtiers and favourites, and never really gets to know what is going on
outside.’2

For much of his rule, the maharaja’s béte noire was a Muslim from the Valley named Sheikh
Muhammad Abdullah. Born in 1905, the son of a shawl merchant, Abdullah graduated with a master’s
degree in science from the Aligarh Muslim University. Despite his qualifications he was unable to
find a government job in Kashmir, for the state administration was dominated by Hindus. Abdullah
began to question ‘why Muslims were being singled out for such treatment. We constituted the
majority and contributed the most towards the State’s revenues, still we were continually oppressed . .
. Was it because a majority of Government servants were non-Muslims? . . . I concluded that the ill-
treatment of Muslims was an outcome of religious prejudice.’2

Denied a job by the state, Abdullah became a schoolteacher instead. He started a reading club and
spoke out on behalf of his fellow subjects. His was an inspiring presence: he stood 6’ 4” tall and was a
witty and compelling orator. Although he smoked the odd cigarette he did not drink. He visited the
mosque every Friday, and had a deep knowledge of the Quran.4

In the summer of 1931 Abdullah was chosen as part of a delegation of Muslims that hoped to
place their case before the maharaja.2 Before they could meet with him, an activist named Abdul Qadir
was arrested and put on trial. This led to a clash between protesters and the police in which twenty-one
people died. This was followed by a wave of communal violence in the Valley, in which many Hindu
shops were looted and burnt.

The next year, 1932, an All-Jammu Kashmir Muslim Conference was formed to give shape to the
growing opposition to the maharaja. Among its leading lights were Sheikh Abdullah and Ghulam
Abbas, a lawyer from Jammu. Six years later, Abdullah took the lead in transforming the organization
into a ‘National Conference’, which would also include Hindus and Sikhs. The newbody asked for
representative government based on universal suffrage.

At about this time Abdullah also made the acquaintance of Jawaharlal Nehru. They hit it off
instantly. Both were impulsive and had strong views, but fortunately these were the same — a
commitment to Hindu—Muslim harmony and to socialism. The National Conference grew closer to the
Indian National Congress, alienating some of its members, most notably Ghulam Abbas, who left the
party and sought to organize Kashmiri Muslims on their own. This was the beginning of a bitter
rivalry with Sheikh Abdullah, a feud which was as much personal as it was ideological.

In the mid-1940s Abdullah was winning this popularity contest hands-down. He was, recalled one
contemporary, ‘greatly loved by the people of Kashmir at the time’.8 He had been in and out of jail
since 1931, and in 1946 he was incarcerated once more after he asked the Dogra dynasty to ‘quit
Kashmir’ and hand over power to the people. In the ensuing unrest more than twenty people died. The
maharaja declared martial law and had the Sheikh sentenced to three years’ imprisonment for
‘sedition’. This particularly angered Jawaharlal Nehru, who dashed to the state in his friend’s defence.
Nehru was prevented from entering by the maharaja’s men, who stopped him at the border and sent
him back to British India.Z

Now that it was clear that the British would soon leave the subcontinent, Hari Singh’s prime
minister, Ramchandra Kak, encouraged him to think of independence for his state. On 15 July 1946
the maharaja stated that the Kashmiris would ‘work out our own destiny without dictation from any
quarter which is not an integral part of the State’® In November the British Resident in Srinagar
observed that the

Maharaja and Kak are seriously considering the possibility of Kashmir not joining the [Indian]
Union if it is formed. On a previous occasion Kak hinted to me that Kashmir might have to stay
out of the Union in view of the antagonism likely to be displayed by a Congress Central



Government towards Kashmir. The Maharaja’s attitude is, I suspect, that once Paramountcy
disappears Kashmir will have to stand on its own feet, that the question of loyalty to the British
Government will not arise and that Kashmir will be free to ally itself with any power — not
excluding Russia — she chooses.2

The idea of independence had taken strong hold over the maharaja. He loathed the Congress, so he
could not think of joining India. But if he joined Pakistan the fate of his Hindu dynasty might be
sealed.10

In April 1947 a new viceroy took over in New Delhi. As it turned out, he was an old acquaintance
of Maharaja Hari Singh; they had served together on the Prince of Wales’s staff back when the prince
visited India in 1921-2. In the third week of June 1947, after the decision was taken to divide India,
Lord Mountbatten setoff for Kashmir,('largely to forestall Nehru or Gandhi from doing so').l He
wanted to make his own assessment of where the state might be going. In Srinagar, the viceroy met
Kak and advised him to tell the maharaja to accede to either dominion — but to accede. The prime
minister defiantly answered that they intended to stay independent.:2 The viceroy then fixed a private
meeting with the maharaja. On the appointed day, the last of Mountbatten’s visit, Hari Singh stayed in
bed with an attack of colic, this most probably a ruse to avoid what would certainly have been an
unpleasant encounter.12

Nehru now told Mountbatten that ‘your visit to Kashmir was from my particular point of view
not a success’; he wanted to go and break the political deadlock himself. Gandhi also wished to go.
Hari Singh, expectedly, wanted neither.14 In the event, Nehru was busy with other matters, so the
Mahatma went instead. At the maharaja’s request he addressed no public meetings during his three
days in Srinagar. But he met delegations of workers and students, who demanded Abdullah’s release
and Prime Minister Kak’s dismissal.2

On 15 August, Jammu and Kashmir had not acceded to either India or Pakistan. It offered to sign
a ‘stand still agreement’ with both countries which would allow the free movement of peoples and
goods across borders. Pakistan signed the agreement, but India said it would wait and watch. However,
in the middle of September the rail service between Sialkot in West Punjab and Jammu was
suspended, and lorry traffic carrying goods for the state was stopped on the Pakistan side of the
border.16

As relations with Pakistan deteriorated, the maharaja sacked two prime ministers in quick
succession. First Kak was replaced with a soldier named Janak Singh; then he in turn gave way to a
former judge of the Punjab High Court, Mehr Chand Mahajan, who had better relations with the
Congress bosses. Of these, the two top ones were crucial: the prime minister, Jawaharlal Nehru (who
was himself an ethnic Kashmiri), and the home minister and minister of states, Vallabhbhai Patel.
Notably, while Nehru always wanted Kashmir to be part of India, Patel was at one time inclined to
allow the state to join Pakistan. His mind changed on 13 September, the day the Pakistan government
accepted the accession of Junagadh. For ‘if Jinnah could take hold of a Hindu-majority State with a
Muslim ruler, why should the Sardar not be interested in a Muslim-majority State with a Hindu
ruler?’Z

On 27 September 1947 Nehru wrote along letter to Patel about the ‘dangerous and deteriorating’
situation in the state. He had heard that Pakistan was preparing to send infiltrators ‘to enter Kashmir
in considerable numbers’. The maharaja and his administration could hardly meet the threat on their
own, hence the need for Hari Singh to ‘make friends with the National Conference so that there might
be this popular support against Pakistan’. Releasing Abdullah, and enlisting the support of his
followers, would also help ‘bring about the accession of Kashmir to the Indian Union’.18

On 29 September Sheikh Abdullah was released from prison. The next week, in a speech at the



great Hazratbal mosque in Srinagar, Abdullah demanded a ‘complete transfer of power to the people
in Kashmir. Representatives of the people in a democratic Kashmir will then decide whether the State
should join India or Pakistan’. A popular government in Kashmir, he added, ‘will not be the
government of any one community. It will be a joint government of the Hindus, the Sikhs and the
Muslims. That is what I am fighting for.’12

Pakistan naturally expected Kashmir, with its Muslim majority, to join it. India thought that the
religious factor was irrelevant, especially since the leading political party, the National Conference,
was known to be non-sectarian. By early October, as Patel wrote to Nehru, there was no ‘difference
between you and me on matters of policy relating to Kashmir’: both wanted accession.22 What were
the feelings of the Kashmiris themselves? Shortly after Abdullah’s release, the British commander of
the state forces noted that ‘the vast majority of the Kashmiris have no strong bias for either India or
Pakistan’. However, while there was ‘no well-organized body in Kashmir advocating accession to
Pakistan’,the ‘National Conference has been pro-Congress and anti-Pakistan’.2.

As for Maharaja Hari Singh, he still clung to the dream of independence. On 12 October the
deputy prime minister of Jammu and Kashmir said in Delhi that “We intend to keep on friendly
relations with both India and Pakistan. Despite constant rumours, we have no intention of joining
either India or Pakistan . . . The only thing that will change our mind is if one side or the other decides
to use force against us . . . The Maharaja has told me that his ambition is to make Kashmir the
Switzerland of the East — a State that is completely neutral.’22

I1

The only thing that will change our mind is if one side or the other decides to use force against us.
Two weeks after these words were spoken a force of several thousand armed men invaded the state
from the north. On 22 October they crossed the border that separated the North-West Frontier
Provinces from Kashmir and briskly made their way towards the capital, Srinagar.

Most of these raiders were Pathans from what was now a province of Pakistan. This much is
undisputed; what is not so certain is why they came and who was helping them. These two questions
lie at the heart of the Kashmir dispute; sixty years later, historians still cannot provide definitive
answers to them. One reason for this was that the northern extremity of Kashmir was both obscure and
inaccessible. No railways or roads penetrated these high mountains. No anthropologists had come
here, nor any journalists either. There are thus no independent eyewitness accounts of what came to be
known as the ‘tribal invasion of Kashmir’.

There are, however, plenty of loaded accounts, biased in one direction or the other. At the time,
and later, Indians believed that the tribals were pushed across the border by Pakistan, who also
supplied them with rifles and ammunition. The Pakistanis disclaimed any involvement in the invasion
-they insisted that it was a ‘spontaneous’ rushing of Pathan Muslims to the aid of co-religionists
persecuted by a Hindu king and a Hindu administration.2

There was, indeed, discontent in one part of Kashmir. This was the district of Poonch, which lay
to the west of Srinagar. Until 1936 Poonch had been ruled by a subsidiary clan of the Dogra ruling
family, but in that year the district came directly under the control of the maharaja in Srinagar. The
loss of autonomy hurt, as did the new taxes imposed by the king. There were cesses on individual
goats, sheep and cattle and a tax on entering the forest. Hardest hit were the pastoralists of Poonch,
almost all of whom were Muslim.2

During the Second World War many Muslims from Poonch served in the British Indian Army.



They came back, as demobilized soldiers tend to do, as highly conscious political beings. The rule of
the Maharaja of Kashmir had already been challenged in the Valley by Sheikh Abdullah and his party.
To that was now added the independent challenge of the men of Poonch.

On 14 August several shops and offices in Poonch had flown Pakistani flags, indicating that their
allegiance lay to that country, and not to the still unaffiliated state of Kashmir. In the following weeks
clashes between Dogra troops and local protesters were reported. By the beginning of September
dozens of Poonch men had equipped themselves with rifles obtained from ‘informal sources in
Pakistan’. They had also established a base in the Pakistani town of Murree; here were collected arms
and ammunition to be smuggled across the border to Kashmir. Pakistani accounts acknowledge that
both the prime minister, Liagat Ali Khan, and a senior Punjab Muslim League leader, Mian
Iftikharuddin, knew and sanctioned assistance to the Poonch rebels. Overseeing the operation was
Abkar Khan, a colonel in the Pakistan Army. Khan had collected 4,000 rifles from army supplies and
diverted them for use in Kashmir. More fancifully, he had adopted the nom de guerre ‘General Tariq’,
after a medieval Moorish warrior who had fought the Christians in Spain.2

Within Poonch, Muslim officials and soldiers had left their jobs in the state administration and
joined the rebels. So, by the end of September, there were intimations of a serious conflict between a
dissenting district and the government of Maharaja Hari Singh. But, although there were clashes here
and there, there was no major eruption, no head-on battle. Poonch bordered West Punjab; Pakistani
cities such as Rawalpindi were easily reached from there. However, the North-West Frontier Province
is some distance to the west. Did the raiders from that province hear of the brewing insurrection in
Poonch? Or were they planning to come anyway?

For these questions too one cannot supply uncontested answers. All we know for certain is that
after the Pathan raiders crossed the border on 22 October they made remarkably swift progress in their
march southwards. “The principal characteristics of the tribal invasion’, writes the historian Michael
Brecher, ‘were the surprise tactics of the tribesmen, the absence of the most rudimentary defence by
the Kashmir State Army, and the pillage, loot and rapine of the tribesmen inflicted on Hindus and
Muslims alike.” Or, as a British social worker familiar with Kashmir laconically put it, the invading
Pathans had sensed ‘an opportunity of gaining both religious merit and rich booty’.

Once in Kashmir the tribesmen moved quickly down the Jhelum valley. Their first stop was the
town of Muzaffarabad, on the Kishanganga, just seven miles from the border. A battalion of the
Jammu and Kashmir Infantry was stationed here, but it was split down the middle, with half the men,
Muslims from Poonch, now asserting their disenchantment with the maharaja. The garrison fell, but
not before a few men escaped and phoned Srinagar to tell them what had happened. This allowed the
acting commandant of the state forces, Brigadier Rajinder Singh, to gather a couple of hundred men
and rush towards Uri, a town that lay roughly halfway between Srinagar and Muzaffarabad.

The raiders were on their way to Uri too. Brigadier Rajinder Singh got there first, and as a
precaution blew up the bridge that linked the town to the north. This held up the invaders for forty-
eight hours, but they were eventually able to cross the river and decimate the brigadier’s men. From
Uri they made their way to Mahuta, the site of the power station that supplied electricity to the Valley.
There they turned off the switches, plunging Srinagar into darkness.2¢

It should not surprise us that estimates of the number of invaders vary. Some said that they were
as few as 2,000, others that they were as many as 13,000. We do know that they had rifles and
grenades, and that they travelled in lorries. Their incursion into Kashmir was openly encouraged by
the prime minister of the North-West Frontier Provinces, Abdul Qayyum. The British governor, Sir
George Cunningham, turned a blind eye. So did the British officers who then served with the Pakistan
army. As Jinnah’s American biographer observes, ‘trucks, petrol, and drivers were hardly standard
tribal equipment, and British officers as well as Pakistani officials all along the northern Pakistan



route they traversed knew and supported, even if they did not actually organize and instigate, the
violent October operation by which Pakistan seems to have hoped to trigger the integration of
Kashmir into the nation’.2Z

After taking the Mahuta power station on the 24th, the raiders headed down the open road to
Srinagar. En route lay the town of Baramula. Here, for the first time, we can draw upon actual
eyewitness accounts of what happened. A British manager of a timber firm in Baramula saw the
raiders come, ‘well supplied with lorries, petrol, and ammunition. They also have both two — and
three-inch mortars.’

This manager was relieved of the Rs1,500 he had just drawn from the bank. The next target was
the Convent of St Joseph. Here the visitors smashed the machinery in the hospital and shot and
wounded the mother superior. A colonel who lived in the compound was killed outright. According to
one report, the nuns were then lined up to be shot, but an Afridi who had studied in a convent school in
Peshawar stopped his men from applying the finishing touches.2

“There can be no doubt that for those in the way, Pathans on the warpath are bad news.’ So writes
one historian of the Kashmir dispute, Alastair Lamb. He tells us that, apart from the attack on the
convent, the Pathans also burnt shops owned by Hindus and Sikhs. Lamb says they did ‘what might be
expected from warriors engaged on what they saw as a jihad, a holy war’.22 However, at Baramula the
greed of the tribesmen conclusively triumphed over religious identity. For here they ‘invaded the
houses of the peace-loving Kashmiri Moslems as well. They looted and plundered the latter’s houses
and raped their young girls. Shrieks of terror and agony of those girls resounded across the town of
Baramula.’30

The incidents at Baramula were a strategic and propaganda disaster for the invaders. They
showed that ‘once the first fanaticism of jehad had passed, there was left only the incentive of loot’.
There was now a ‘stampede to stuff the lorries full of the spoils of the Kashmir bazaars and send them
back to their homes in Waziristan’.3! By stopping to steal and rape, the raiders had lost sight of their
principal objective: the capture of Srinagar. And by attacking Muslims as well as Hindus, they had
undermined their case that they were fighting a holy war. It was especially damaging that among those
they killed were apolitical Christian priests doing ‘good works’, and that a British correspondent was
around to takedown the testimony of those who survived.32

On 24 October, when the tribesmen were en route from Uri to Baramula, Maharaja Hari Singh
wired the Indian government for military assistance. The next morning the government’s Defence
Committee met in New Delhi, and decided to depute V. P. Menon for an on-spot inspection. Menon
flew to Srinagar later that day; when he landed at the airport he was ‘oppressed by the stillness of a
graveyard all around. Over everything hung an atmosphere of impending calamity.” He went straight
to M. C. Mahajan’s house and learnt that the raiders were in Baramula, less than fifty miles away. He
also met the maharaja, and advised him to move to the safety of Jammu.

On the morning of the 26th Menon flew back to Delhi, accompanied by the prime minister of
Kashmir. Another meeting of the Defence Committee was convened. In attendance, apart from
Mountbatten, Nehru and Patel, was Sheikh Abdullah, who happened to be in Delhi that day. Both he
and Mahajan urged that India immediately send troops to push back the invaders. Mountbatten
suggested, however, that it would be best to secure Hari Singh’s accession to India before committing
any forces to his defence.

Menon flew now to Jammu, where the Maharaja had taken refuge. On arrival at the palace he
‘found it in a state of utter turmoil with valuable articles strewn all over the place’. The maharaja was
asleep, recovering from the all-night drive from Srinagar. He was woken, and agreed to accede at
once. Menon took the signed Instrument of Accession back with him to Delhi.32

At dawn on the 27th the first plane left Delhi for Srinagar with troops and arms aboard. In all



twenty-eight Dakotas flew to Srinagar that day. In the days following, more than a hundred planes
took off from Delhi for the Valley, carrying soldiers and supplies and bringing back refugees and the
wounded.34

Some of the planes that flew to Srinagar on the 27th belonged to the army or air force. Others
were commandeered by the government of India from private airlines. As one officer who flew in one
of these passenger planes recalled, ‘the luxury fittings were ripped out, comfortable chairs pulled out
of their fixtures, and within minutes fully armed troops clambered aboard — as many as could fit in’.
They flew over the Punjab, seeing ‘long strings of refugee caravans below them’, with ‘an odd house
or village still smouldering’. They landed in Srinagar airport to ‘the sound of small-arms and
machine-gun fire’.3

With his troops in the Valley the Indian prime minister breathed a sigh of relief. ‘If we had
vacillated and delayed by a day’, wrote Nehru to his sister, ‘Srinagar might have been a smoking ruin.
We got there in the nick of time.” He thought that they had succeeded ‘in warning off Pakistan from
Kashmir. We have agreed that the future of Kashmir must be determined by the people. Meanwhile,
Sheikh Abdullah is being entrusted with the formation of a Ministry. For my part, I do not mind if
Kashmir becomes more or less independent, but it would have been a cruel blow if it had become just
an exploited part of Pakistan.’35

The view from the other side was all too different. The news that Indian troops had landed in
Srinagar infuriated the governor general of Pakistan. Jinnah first fortified himself with several
brandies and then ordered his generals to march their troops into Kashmir.3Z His British commander-
in-chief refused to follow the order. So, for the moment, the Pakistani troops kept out of the conflict,
although their officers remained in close contact with the raiders.

When the Indian troops landed in Srinagar the maharaja had already left. There was not much
sign of his administration, either. The police were nowhere in sight; substituting for them were
volunteers of the National Conference, who stood guard at street corners and bridges and generally
supervised the movement of men and goods. A journalist who had covered the Punjab violence
confessed that he was ‘not prepared for the incredible sights of amity and indeed fraternity that I saw
in Srinagar. Hindus and Sikhs moved about with complete unselfconsciousness among Muslims who
constituted the vast majority of the population of the town; they marched shoulder to shoulder with
them down Srinagar’s streets as volunteers engaged in a common task.’38 Another reporter recalled the
happy relationship between the National Conference and the army, as symbolized in the drives taken
together by Sheikh Abdullah and the divisional commander, Major General Thimayya.3

As the Indians prepared to push back the raiders, Lord Mountbatten flew to Lahore on a peace
mission. On 1 November 1947 he had a contentious meeting with Jinnah, in which he was told that if
India gave up its claim to Kashmir, Pakistan would relinquish its claim on that other disputed state,
Junagadh. Jinnah described Kashmir’s accession to India as based on ‘fraud and violence’.
Mountbatten suggested that the violence had come from raiders who were Pakistani citizens; he knew
for a fact that Maharaja Hari Singh wanted independence, and had been forced to accede to India only
after his state was attacked. Jinnah countered by saying that the maharaja had brought this upon
himself by his ill treatment of Muslims in Poonch.£2

In Kashmir, meanwhile, the Indian army had thrown a protective ring around Srinagar. There
were now 4,000 troops in position, armed with machine guns. The safety of the city had been
secured.4 And with Srinagar no longer vulnerable, the Indians began to clear other parts of the Valley
of infiltrators. Baramula was taken on 8 November, and four days later Mahuta was captured, just in
time to save the power station from being blown up. The town of Uri fell the next day.22

With the on set of winter, the military operations were temporarily suspended. Attention now
returned to the internal affairs of Kashmir. Mahajan was still prime minister, but he was being



actively assisted by National Conference leaders. On 11 November Nehru wrote to Hari Singh asking
him to place ‘full confidence’ in Sheikh Abdullah, that is to formally make him head of the
administration instead of Mahajan. The ‘only person who can deliver the goods in Kashmir is Sheikh
Abdullah’, insisted Nehru. ‘He is obviously the leading popular personality in Kashmir. The way he
has risen to grapple with the crisis has shown the nature of the man. I have a high opinion of his
integrity and general balance of mind. He has striven hard and succeeded very largely in keeping
communal peace. He may make any number of mistakes in minor matters, but I think he is likely to be
right in regard to major decisions.’4

Mahatma Gandhi was equally impressed with the Sheikh. In the last week of November 1947
Abdullah visited Delhi, where he accompanied Gandhi to a meeting held on the birthday of the
founder of the Sikh faith, Guru Nanak. As Gandhi told the gathering:

You see Sheikh Abdullah Saheb with me. I was disinclined to bring him with me, for I know that
there is a great gulf between the Hindus and the Sikhs on one side, and the Muslims on the other.
But the Sheikh Saheb, known as the Lion of Kashmir, although a pucca Muslim, has won the
hearts of both, by making them forget that there is any difference between the three . . . Even
though in Jammu, recently, the Muslims were killed by the Hindus and Sikhs, he went to Jammu
and invited the evil-doers to forget the past and repent over the evil they had done. The Hindus
and the Sikhs listened to him. Now the Muslims and the Hindus and the Sikhs . . . are fighting
together to defend the beautiful valley of Kashmir.#

For Gandhi as well as Nehru the Sheikh had become a symbol of secularism, a practitioner of inter-
faith harmony whose deeds in Kashmir were a stirring refutation of the two-nation theory. On the
other hand, the Pakistani prime minister, Liagat Ali Khan, contemptuously dismissed Abdullah as a
‘quisling’. On 27 November Khan met with Nehru in Delhi, with Mountbatten playing the role of
umpire. When a plebiscite was suggested as away out of the impasse, Khan stated that first ‘an
entirely new administration should be setup in Kashmir, which the people of Pakistan would accept as
impartial’.4

By now, Nehru was of the opinion that India must come to some ‘rapid and more or less final
decisions about Kashmir with the Pakistan Government’. For continuing military operations would
mean ‘grave difficulties and suffering for the people of the State’. In a letter to Maharaja Hari Singh,
the Indian prime minister outlined the various forms a settlement could take. There could be a
plebiscite for the whole state, to decide which dominion it would join. Or the state could survive as an
independent entity, with its defence guaranteed by both India and Pakistan. A third option was of a
partition, with Jammu going to India and the rest of the state to Pakistan. A fourth option had Jammu
and the Valleystaying with India, with Poonch and beyond being ceded to Pakistan. Nehru himself
inclined to this last alternative. He saw that in Poonch ‘the majority of the population is likely to be
against the Indian Union’. But he was loath to give up the vale of Kashmir, a National Conference
stronghold whose population seemed to be inclined towards India. From the Indian point of view, said
Nehru to the maharaja,

it is of the most vital importance that Kashmir should remain within the Indian Union . . . But
however much we may want this, it cannot be done ultimately except through the goodwill of the
mass of the population. Even if military forces held Kashmir for a while, a later consequence
might be astrong reaction against this.Essentially, therefore, this is a problem of psychological
approach to the mass of the people and of making them feel they will be benefited by being in the



Indian Union. If the average Muslim feels that he hasno safe or secure place in the Union, then
obviously he will look elsewhere. Our basic policy must keep this in view, or else we fail.46

This letter of Nehru’s is much less well known than it should be. Excluded (for whatever reason) from
his own Selected Works, it lies buried in the correspondence of Vallabhbhai Patel, to whom he had
sent a copy. It shows that, contrary to received wisdom, the Indian prime minister was quite prepared
to compromise on Kashmir. Indeed, the four options he outlined in December 1947 remain the four
options being debated today.

II1

On 1 January 1948 India decided to take the Kashmir issue to the United Nations. This was done on
the advice of the governor general, Lord Mountbatten. Since Kashmir had acceded to it, India wanted
the UN to help clear the northern parts of what it said was an illegal occupation by groups loyal to
Pakistan.#

Through January and February the Security Council held several sittings on Kashmir. Pakistan,
represented by the superbly gifted orator Sir Zafrullah Khan, was able to present a far better case than
India. Khan convinced the delegates that the invasion was a consequence of the tragic riots across
northern India in 1946-7; it was a ‘natural’ reaction of Muslims to the sufferings of their fellows. He
accused the Indians of perpetrating ‘genocide’ in East Punjab, forcing 6 million Muslims to flee to
Pakistan. The Kashmir problem was recast as part of the unfinished business of Partition. India
suffered asignificant symbolic defeat when the Security Council altered the agenda item from the
‘Jammu and Kashmir Question’ to the ‘India-Pakistan Question’.

Pakistan now suggested the withdrawal of all armed forces in the state, and the holding of a
plebiscite under an ‘impartial interim administration.’ Ironically, Pakistan had rejected the idea of a
plebiscite in the case of junagadh. Jinnah’s position then was that the will of the ruler would decide
which dominion a princely state would join. India instead referred the matter to the will of the people.
Having done this in junagadh, they could not now so easily duck the questionin Kashmir. However, the
Indian government insisted a plebiscite could be conducted under a National Conference
administration whose leader, Sheikh Abdullah, was the ‘most popular political leader in the State’.48

So said the Sheikh himself, when he spoke at the UnitedNations on 5 February 1948.
Hislanguage, recalled one observer, ‘was blunt, direct, and devoid of diplomatic language’. ‘There is
no power on earth which can displace me from the position which I have [in Kashmir]’, he told the
Security Council. ‘As long as the people are behind me I will remain there.’4

A striking feature of the UN discussions on Kashmir was the partisanship of the British. Their
representative, Philip Noel-Baker, vigorously supported the Pakistani position. The British bias was
deeply resented by the Indians. Some saw it as a hangover from pre-Independence days, a conversion
for support to the Muslim League to support for Pakistan. Others thought it was in compensationfor
the recent creation of the state of Israel, after which there was a need to placate Muslims worldwide. A
third theory was that in the ensuing struggle with Soviet Russia, Pakistan would be the more reliable
ally. It was also better placed, with easy access to British air bases in the Middle East.30

In the first week of March 1948, the editor of the Sunday Times wrote to Noel-Baker that, ‘in the
world struggle for and against Communism, Kashmir occupies a place more critical than most people
realise. It is the one corner at which the British Commonwealth physically touches the Soviet Union.
It is an unsuspected soft spot, in the perimeter of the Indian Ocean basin, on whose inviolability the



whole security of the Commonwealth and indeed world peace depend.’5t

By now, Nehru bitterly regretted going to the United Nations. He was shocked, he told
Mountbatten, to find that ‘power politics and not ethics were rulingan organization which ‘was being
completely run by the Americans’, who, like the British, ‘had made no bones of [their] sympathy for
the Pakistan case’.22 Within the Cabinet, pressure grew for the renewal of hostilities, for the throwing
out of the invaders from northern Kashmir. But was this militarily feasible? A British general with
years of service in the subcontinent warned that

Kashmir may remain a ‘Spanish Ulcer . I have not found an Indian familiar with the Peninsular
War’s drain on Napoleon’s manpower and treasure: and I sometimes feel that Ministers areloath
to contemplate such a development in the case of Kashmir — I feel they still would prefer to think
that the affair is susceptible of settlement, in a short decisive campaign, by sledge-hammer blows
by vastly superior Indian forces which should be ‘thrown’ into Kashmir.23

Meanwhile, in March 1948 Sheikh Abdullah replaced Mehr Chand Mahajan as the prime minister of
Jammu and Kashmir. Then, in the middle of May, when the snows had melted, the war recommenced.
An infantry brigade advanced north and west from Uri. It took the town of Tithwal, butmet with sharp
resistance en route to the key town of Muzaffarabad.

On the otherside of an ever-shiftingline of control, Pakistan had sponsored a government of Azad
(Free) Kashmir. They had also created an Azad Kashmir army, manned by men from these parts of the
state, helped and guided by Pakistan army officers. These forces were skilful in their use of the
terrain. In the late summerof 1948 they took the towns of Kargil and Dras, and threatened the capital
of Ladakh, Leh, which is at an altitude of 11,000 feet. However, an Indian air force squadron was
successful in bringing supplies to Leh. It was also the air force that brought relief to the town of
Poonch, in the west, whose surroundings were under the control of the raiders.

The two armies battled on through the later months of 1948. In November both Dras and Kargil
were recaptured by the Indians, making Leh and Ladakh safe for the moment.In the same month the
hills around Poonch were also cleared. However, the northern and western parts of Kashmir were still
in the control of Pakistan. Some Indian commanders wanted to move on, and asked for the
redeployment of three brigades from the plains. Their request was not granted. For one thing, winter
was about to set in. For another, the offensive would have required not merely troop reinforcements,
but also massive air support.38 Perhaps it was as well that the Indian Army halted its forward
movement. For, as a scholar closely following the Kashmir question commented at the time, either it
must be settled by partitionor India will have to walk into West Punjab. Amilitary decision can never
be reached in Kashmir itself.’sZ
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At the United Nations a Special Commission had been appointed for Kashmir. Its members made
an extensive tour of the region, visiting Delhi, Karachi and Kashmir. In Srinagar they were entertained
by Sheikh Abdullah at the famous Shalimar Gardens. Later, Abdullah had a long talk with one of the
UN representatives, the Czech diplomat and scholar Josef Korbel. The prime minister dismissed both
a plebiscite and independence, arguing that the ‘only solution’ was the partition of Kashmir.
Otherwise, said Abdullah, ‘the fighting will continue; India and Pakistan will prolong the quarrel
indefinitely, and our people’s suffering will go’.

In Srinagar Korbel went to hear Abdullah speak at a mosque. The audience of 4,000 listened
‘with rapt attention, their faith and loyalty quite obvious in their faces. Nor could we notice any
police, so often used to induce such loyalty.” The Commission then visited Pakistan, where they found
that it would not consider any solution which gave the vale of Kashmir, with its Muslim majority, to
India.58

IV

By March 1948 Sheikh Abdullah was the most important man in the Valley. Hari Singh was still the
state’s ceremonial head — now called ‘sadr-i-riyasat’ — buthe had no real powers. The government of
India completely shut him out of the UN deliberations. Their man, as they saw it, was Abdullah. Only



he, it was felt, could ‘save’ Kashmir for the Union.

At this stage Abdullah himself was inclined to stress the ties between Kashmir and India. In May
1948 he organized a week-long ‘freedom’ celebration in Srinagar, to which he invited the leading
lights of the Indian government. The events on the calendar included folk songs and poetry readings,
the remembrance of martyrs and visits to refugee camps. The Kashmiri leader commended the
‘patriotic morale of our own people and the gallant fighting forces of the Indian Union’. ‘Our
struggle’, said Abdullah, ‘is not merely the affair of the Kashmir people, it is the war of every
sonanddaughter of India.’2

On the first anniversary of Indian independence Abdullah sent a message to the leading Madras
weekly, Swatantra. The message sought to unite north and south, mountain and coast, and, above all,
Kashmir and India. It deserves to be printed in full:

Through the pages of SWATANTRA I wish to send my message of fraternity to the people of the
south. Farback in the annals of India the south and north met in the land of Kashmir. The great
Shankaracharya came to Kashmir to spread his dynamic philosophy but here he was defeated in
argument by a Panditani. This gave rise to the peculiar philosophy of Kashmir — Shaivism. A
memorial to the great Shankaracharya in Kashmir stands prominent on the top of the
Shankaracharya Hill in Srinagar. It is a temple containing the Murti of Shiva.

More recently it was given to a southerner to take the case of Kashmir to the United Nations
and, as the whole of India knows, with the doggedness and tenacity that is sousualto the
southerner, he defended Kashmir.

We in Kashmir expect that we shall continue to receive support and sympathy from the
people of the south and that some day when we describe the extent of our country we shall use the
phrase ‘from Kashmir to Cape Comorin’.&

The Madras journal, for its part, responded by printing alyrical paean to the union of Kashmir with
India. ‘The blood of many a brave Tamilian, Andhra, Malayalee and Coorgi’, it said, ‘has soaked into
the fertile soil of Kashmir and mixed with the blood ofthe Kashmiri patriots, cementing for ever the
unity of the North and the South.” Sheikh Abdullah’s Id perorations, noted the journal, were
attentively heard by many Muslim soldiers from Kerala and Tamil Nadu. In Uri, sixty miles from
Srinagar, there was a grave of a Christian soldier from Travancore, which had the Vedic swastika and
a verse from the Quran inscribed on it. There could be ‘no more poignant and touching symbolof the
essential oneness and unity of India’.&

Whether or not Abdullah was India’s man, he certainly was not Pakistan’s.In April 1948 he
described that country as ‘an unscrupulous and savage enemy’.2 He dismissed Pakistan as a theocratic
state and the Muslim League as ‘pro-prince’ rather than ‘pro-people’. In his view, ‘Indian and not
Pakistani leaders . . . had all along stood for the rights of the States’ people’.2 When a diplomat in
Delhi asked Abdullah what he thought of the option of independence, he answered that it would never
work as Kashmir was too small and too poor. Besides, said the Sheikh, ‘Pakistan would swallow us up.
They have tried it once. They would do it again. &

Within Kashmir Abdullah gave top priority to the redistribution of land. Under the maharaja s
regime, a few Hindus and fewer Muslims had very large holdings, with the bulk of the rural
population serving as labourers or as tenants-at-will. In his first year in power Abdullah transferred
40,000 acres of surplus land to the landless. He also outlawed absentee ownership, increased the tenant
s share from 25 per cent to 75 per cent of the crop and placed a moratorium on debt.His socialistic
policies alarmed some elements in the government of India, especially as he did not pay compensation
to the dispossessed landlords. But Abdullah saw this as crucial to progress in Kashmir. As he told a



press conference in Delhi, if he was not allowed to implement agrarian reforms, he would not continue
as prime minister of Jammu and Kashmir. Asked what he would doif reactionary elements got the
upper hand in the central government, Abdullah answered: ‘Don’t think I will desert you, even if you
desert me. I will resign and join those people in the Indian Union who will also fight for economic
betterment of the poor.’8

At this press conference Abdullah also made some sneering remarks about Maharaja HariSingh.
He pointed out that the maharaja had run away from Srinagar when it was in danger. In April 1949
Abdullah won a major victory when Hari Singh was replacedas sadr-i-riyasat by his eighteen-year-old
son, Karan Singh. The next month Abdullah and three other National Conference men were chosen to
represent Kashmir in the Constituent Assembly in Delhi, in a further affirmation of the state’s
integration with India.®6 That summer the Valley opened itself once more for tourists. As a
sympathetic journalist putit, ‘every tourist who goes to Kashmir this summer will be rendering as vital
a service to Kashmir — and to India — as a soldier fighting at the front’.6Z

In the autumn came a visitor more important than a million tourists — Jawaharlal Nehru. Nehru
and Abdullah took aleisurely two-hour ride down Srinagar’s main thoroughfare, the river Jhelum. As
their barge rode on, commented the correspondent of Time magazine, ‘hundreds of shikaras
(gondolas) milled around; their jampacked passengers wanted a good look, and they pelted Nehru
withflowers’. Thousands watched the procession from the riverbanks, firing crackers from time to
time. ‘Carefully coached schoolchildren’ shouted slogans in praise of Nehru and Abdullah. Seizing the
chance, merchants had hung out their wares, alongside banners which advertised ‘best Persian and
Kashmiri carpets’.

‘All the portents’, concluded Time, were that ‘India considered that the battle for Kashmir had
been won — and that India intended to keep the prize.’58

v

The battle for Kashmir was, and is, not merely or even mostly a battle for territory. It is, as Josef
Korbel put it half a century ago, an ‘uncompromising and perhaps uncompromisable struggle of two
ways of life, two concepts of political organization, two scales of values, two spiritual attitudes’.t

On one side was the idea of India; on the other side, the idea of Pakistan. In the spring of 1948 the
British journalist Kingsley Martin visited both countries to see how Kashmir looked from each.
Indians, he found, were utterly convinced of the legality of the state s accession, and bitter in their
condemnation of Pakistan’s help to the raiders. To them the religion of the Kashmiris was wholly
irrelevant. The fact that Abdullah was the popular head of an emergency administration was
‘outstanding proof that India wasnot “Hindustan” and that there are Muslims who have voluntarily
chosen to come to an India which, as Nehru emphasised, should be a democracy in which minorities
can live safely and freely’.

When Martin crossed the border he found ‘how completely different the situation looks from the
Pakistan angle’. Most people he met had friends or relatives who had died at the hands of Hindus and
Sikhs. The dispute for the Pakistanis started with the rebellion in Poonch, which in India had been
‘largely and undeservedly forgotten’. In Karachi and Lahore the people were ‘completely
sympathetic’ to the raiders from the Frontier who, in their eyes, were fighting ‘a holy war against the
oppressors of Islam’.Z2 Martin’s conclusions were endorsed by the veteran Australian war
correspondent Alan Moorehead. On a visit to Pakistan he too found that the Kashmir conflict was
looked upon ‘as a holy Moslem war . . . Some of them, I have seen, talk wildly of going on to Delhi.
Everywhere recruiting is going on and there is much excitement at the success of the Moslems. 2



The fragility of the Pakistani state and its ideology was personalized in the ambivalent identities
of its main leaders. The governor general, M. A. Jinnah, was a Gujarati who had married a Parsi. The
prime minister, Liagat Ali Khan, was an aristocrat from the United Provinces who was married to
aChristian. Neither was, in any sense of the term, apractising Muslim. The top civil servants of
Pakistan were, like Jinnah and Liaqat, ‘mohajirs’, migrants whose ancestral homes lay on the Indian
side of the border. The ruling class had no roots in what was now their state. This, one suspects, made
them even more fervent in their desire to make Kashmir part of Pakistan.

However, the new Indian nation-state was not so robusteither. Its insecurity was manifest in its
anointing, as a secular hero, of a Muslim officer who had died fighting in Kashmir. True, unlike the
Pakistani army, the Indian army was drawn from men of all religions. Among its senior commanders
were a Sikh, a Parsi and two Coorgs, these last from a south Indian hill community that likes to see
itself as ‘not-Hindu’. Yet the commander who was to be venerated most was a Muslim. This man,
Brigadier Usman, was educated in Allahabad and Sandhurst, and chose to stay with India at the time
of Partition. It was claimed that Pakistan had dubbed hima ‘kaffir’, and that the Azad Kashmir
government had puta price of Rs50,000 on his head, dead or alive.

In January—February 1948 Brigadier Usman and his men repulsed a fierce attack on Nowshera. In
July of that year he died in action.An Indian journalist wroteof his death that ‘a precious life, of
imagination and unswerving patriotism, has fallen a victim to communal fanaticism. Brigadier
Usman’s brave example will be an abiding source of inspiration for Free India.’Z2 His death was
publicly mourned by Congress leaders, from Jawaharlal Nehru downwards. The tributes that poured in
praised not merely his bravery but also his character: he was, the Indian public was told, an army
officer who was withal ‘a vegetarian,a non-smoker, and a teetotaller . His body was brought back from
Kashmir to Delhi and buried with full military honours. His grave was placed next to that of Dr M. A.
Ansari, a legendary Nationalist Muslim of the previous generation.Z2 One might say that Brigadier
Usman was to the Indian army what Sheikh Abdullah was to Indian politics, the symbol of its
putatively inclusive secularism, the affirmation of it being, if it was anything at all, the Other of
atheologically dogmatic and insular Pakistan.

Both sides had invested men and money in the battle for Kashmir. More crucially, they had
invested their respective ideologies of nationhood. The clash of these ideologies was captured in a
debate on the future of Kashmir organized by a leading Bombay weekly, the Current. The protagonists
were both young journalists — both Muslim, but one Indian,the other Pakistani. Both were asked to
answer the question: which way would the Kashmiris vote if the United Nations did succeed in
holdinga plebiscite?

Speaking on India s behalf was the gifted novelist and scriptwriter Khwaja Ahmad Abbas. One-
fourth of Kashmir’s population, he said, were squarely behind Sheikh Abdullah and hisNational
Conference — these were the politically conscious, ‘progressive’ elements. Another quarter were just
as resolutely opposed to the Sheikh — these consisted of those ‘fully indoctrinated by the
Pakistanideology’. Half the voters were undecided — they could go either way.These were attracted to
the person of Abdullah, but also ‘susceptible to the cry of Islam in Danger’. When the day of
reckoning came, Abbas thought that the memories of the raiders brutalities and the appeal of the
progressive ideology of secularism would tilt the balance in favour of India. However, if India
‘wanted to make absolutely sure of a comfortable and convincing majority , then the maharaja and his
dynasty had to be removed, and the Sheikh allowed to implement fully his economic programme.Z

The next week Abbas was answered by a Karachi-based journalist named Wares Ishaq. He
thought that the pull of religion would ensure a Pakistani victory in any plebiscite in Kashmir. Islam,
he argued, was not just areligion, but aculture and a way of life. There was only one circumstance in
which the Kashmiris would disregard the call of the faith — if India actually lived up to its claim of



being a secular state. However, after the death of Mahatma Gandhi, the position of minorities was
fraught with danger. In particular, wrote Ishag, the lifting of the ban on the Hindu chauvinist body, the
Rashtriya Swayamsevak Sangh, ‘has finally convinced Muslims all over India, and specially in
Kashmir, that their position in India will always be that of a downtrodden minority’. Thus, when the
crunch came, the bulk of the Kashmiris would vote to join ‘the Islamic comity of nations’ .22

VI

One might say of the conflict of 1947-8 that it had only losers. The indecision — with neither nation
succeeding in acquiring the whole of the state — hurt bothsides then, and it hurts them now. Hence the
prevalence and persistence of conspiracy theories. On the Indian side the finger is pointed at the
British governor general, who dragged the case to the UN,and at the British general in command of the
Indian army, who is believed to have stopped his troops from going into northern Kashmir.Z But the
Pakistanis blame Mountbatten too; they think he conspired with Sir Cyril Radcliffe to gift the district
of Gurdaspur to the Indians, so as to allow them a road into Kashmir.ZZ And they chastise their own
government for not helping the raiders even more. As a senior civil servant lamented in 1998:

[T]he only chance of Pakistan obtaining Kashmir was by ablitzkrieg, combining the call of jihad,
speed, and surprise, to present the enemy with a fait accompli before it could recover from the
shock. The tribal invasion was well conceived as the only means to counter the Indian designs
and compensate forPakistan’s military weakness . . . The one single element which decided the
issue against Pakistan was the faulty leadership of the tribal horde . . . This was the only mistake,
and a decisive one at that, for which those who organized the invasion . . . should bear
responsibility.Z8

This book will return to Kashmir at regular intervals. But let me end this investigation of the dispute’s
origins with some prophetic statements made at the time.The quotes below come from observers
speaking not in 1990 or 2000, but in the very early years of the conflict.22

Kashmir is the one great problem that may cause the downfall of India and Pakistan (Henry
Grady, United States Ambassador to India, January 1948).

So long as the dispute over Kashmir continues it is a serious drain on the military, economic and,
above all, on the spiritual strength of these two great countries (General A. G. L. McNaughton,
UN mediator, February 1950).

So vital seems its possession for economic and political security to Pakistan that her whole
foreign and defence policy has largely revolved around the Kashmir dispute . . . Far more than the
Punjab massacres, which, though horrible, were short lived, it is the Kashmir dispute which
haspoisoned every aspect of Indo-Pakistan relations (Richard Symonds, British social worker and
author, 1950).

Kashmir is one situation you could never localize if it should flare up. It would influence the
whole Muslim world. [It is] potentially the most dangerous in the world (Ralph Bunche, senior
UN official, February 1953).



REFUGEES AND THE REPUBLIC

Refugees are [being] sent all over India. They will scatter communal hatred on a wide scale and
will churn up enormous ill-will everywhere. Refugees have to be looked after, but we have to
take steps to prevent the infection of hatred beyond the necessary minimum which cannot be
prevented.

C. Rasacoparacuari, governor of Bengal, 4 September 1947

May the blood that flowed from Gandhiji’s wounds and the tears that flowed from the eyes of the
women of India everywhere they learnt of his death serve to lay the curse of 1947, and may the
grisly tragedy of that year sleep in history and not colour present passions.

C. Rasacoparachari, 20 March 1948

In thE INpian iMaciNaTiON Kurukshetra occupies a special place. It was the venue for the bloody battles
described in the epic Mahabharata. According to the epic, the fighting took place on an open plain
northwest of the ancient city of Indraprastha (now known as Delhi). The plain was called Kurukshetra,
a name it retains to this day.

Several thousand years after the Mahabharata was composed, the place of its enactment became
the temporary home of the victims of another war.This, too, was fought between closely related kin:
India and Pakistan, rather than Pandava and Kaurava. Many of the Hindus and Sikhs fleeing West
Punjab were directed by the government of India to a refugee camp in Kurukshetra. A vast city of
tents had grown up on the plain, to house waves of migrants, sometimes up to 20,000 a day. The camp
was initially planned for 100,000 refugees, but it came to accommodate three times that number. As
an American observer wrote, ‘the army worked miracles to keep the tents rising ahead of the last
refugees’. The new inhabitants of Kurukshetra consumed 100 tons of flour daily, along with large
quantities of salt, rice, lentils, sugar and cooking oil — all provided free of charge by the government.
Helping the state in their effort was a network of Indian and foreign social workers, the United
Council for Relief and Welfare (UCRW).

The refugees had to be housed and fed, but also clothed and entertained. With winter
approaching, the ‘Government soon recognized that the evenings and nights were hardest to bear’. So
the UCRW commandeered a bunch of film projectors from Delhi, and set them up in Kurukshetra.
Among the movies shown were Disney specials featuring Mickey Mouse and Donald Duck. With large
cloth screens allowing for two-way projection, crowds of up to 15,000 could watch a single show. This
‘two-hour break from reality’, commented asocial worker, ‘was a lifesaver. The refugees forgot their
shock experiences and misery for two golden hours of laughter. Yes, they who had been bruised and
beaten, were homeless and wounded, could laugh. Here was hope.’L

Kurukshetra was the largest of the nearly 200 camps set up to house refugees from West Punjab.
Some refugees had arrived before the date of transfer of power; among them prescient businessmen
who had sold their properties in advance and migrated with the proceeds. However, the vast majority
came after15 August 1947, and with little more than the clothes on their skin. These were the farmers



who had ‘stayed behind till the last moment, firmly resolved to remain in Pakistan if they could be
assured of an honourable living’. But when, in September and October, the violence escalated in the
Punjab, they had to abandon that idea. The Hindus and Sikhs who were lucky enough to escape the
mobs fled to India by road, rail, sea and on foot.2

Camps such as Kurukshetra were but a holding operation. The refugees had to be found
permanent homes and productive work. A journalist visiting Kurukshetra in December 1947 described
it as a city in itself, with 300,000 people, all ‘sitting idle like mad’. “The one thought that dominates
the peasant-refugees of Kurukshetra’, he wrote,is ‘“Give us some land. We will cultivate it”. That is
what they shouted. These land-hungry peasants told us that they did not very much care where land
was given to them provided [it] was cultivable. Their passion for land appeared to be elemental.2

As it happened, a massive migration had also taken place the other way, into Pakistan from India.
Thus, the first place to resettle the refugees was on land vacated by Muslims in the eastern part of the
Punjab. If the transfer of populations had been ‘the greatest mass migration’ in history, now
commenced ‘the biggest land resettlement operation in the world’. As against 2.7 million hectares
abandoned by Hindus and Sikhs in West Punjab, there were only 1.9 million hectares left behind by
Muslims in East Punjab. The shortfall was made more acute by the fact that the areas in the west of
the province had richer soils, and were more abundantly irrigated. Indeed, back in the late nineteenth
century, hundreds of Sikh villages had migrated en masse to the west to cultivate land in the newly
created ‘canal colonies’. There they had made the desert flourish, but one fine day in 1947 they were
told that their garden now lay in Pakistan. So, in a bare two generations, these dispossessed Sikhs
found themselves back in their original homes.

To begin with, each family of refugee farmers was given an allotment of four hectares, regardless
of its holding in Pakistan. Loans were advanced to buy seed and equipment. While cultivation
commenced on these temporary plots, applications were invited for permanent allotments. Each
family was asked to submit evidence of how much land it had left behind. Applications were received
from 10 March 1948; within a month, more than half a million claims had been filed. These claims
were then verified in open assemblies consisting of other migrants from the same village. As each
claim was read out by a government official, the assembly approved, amended, or rejected it.

Expectedly, many refugees were at first prone to exaggeration. However, every false claim was
punished, sometimes by a reduction in the land allotted, in extreme cases by a brief spell of
imprisonment. This acted as a deterrent; still, an officer closely associated with the process estimated
that there was an overall inflation of about 25 per cent. To collect, collate, verify and act upon the
claims a Rehabilitation Secretariat was set up in Jullundur. At its peak there were about 7,000 officials
working here; they came to constitute a kind of refugee city of their own. The bulk of these officials
were accommodated in tents, the camp serviced by makeshift lights and latrines and with temporary
shrines, temples for Hindus and gurdwaras for Sikhs.

Leading the operations was the director general of rehabilitation, Sardar Tarlok Singh of the
Indian Civil Service. A graduate of the London School of Economics, Tarlok Singh used his academic
training to good effect, making two innovations that proved critical in the successful settlement of the
refugees. These were the ideas of the ‘standard acre’ and the ‘graded cut’. A ‘standard acre’ was
defined as that amount of land which could yield ten to eleven maunds of rice. (A maund is about 40
kilograms.) In the dry, unirrigated districts of the east, four physical acres comprised one ‘standard’
acre, whereas in the lush canal colonies, a real acre of land more or less equalled its standard
counterpart.

The concept of the standard acre innovatively took care of the variations in soil and climate
across the province.Theidea of the ‘graded cut’, meanwhile, helped overcome the massive discrepancy
between the land left behind by the refugees and the land now available to them — a gap that was close



to a million acres. For the first ten acres of any claim, a cut of 25 percent was implemented — thus one
got only 7.5 acres instead of ten. For higher claims the cuts were steeper: 30 per cent for 10-30 acres,
and on upwards, till those having in excess of 500 acres were ‘taxed at the rate of 95 per cent. The
biggest single loser was a lady named Vidyawati, who had inherited (and lost) her husband’s estate of
11,500 acres, spread across thirty-five villages of the Gujranwala and Sialkot districts. In
compensation, she was allotted a mere 835 acres in a single village of Karnal.

By November 1949 Tarlok Singh and his men had made 250,000 allotments of land. These
refugees were then distributed equitably across the districts of East Punjab. Neighbours and families
were resettled together, although the re-creation of entire village communities proved impossible.
Refugees were invited to protest against their allotments; close to 100,000 families asked for a review.
A third of these objections were acted upon; as a result, 80,000 hectares changed hands once again.

In exchange for their well-watered lands in the west, these refugees were given impoverished
holdings in the east. With the implementation of graded cuts, they had less of it as well. But with
characteristic ingenuity and enterprise they set to work, digging new wells, building new houses,
planting their crops. By 1950 a depopulated countryside was alive once again.4

Yet a sense of loss persisted. The economy could be rebuilt,but the cultural wrongs of Partition
could never be undone — not in, or by, either side. The Sikhs once more had land to cultivate, but they
would never get back much-loved places of worship. These included the gurdwara in Lahore where
lay buried their great warrior-chieftain, Ranjit Singh, as well as Nankana Sahib, the birthplace of the
founder of the faith, Guru Nanak.

In April 1948 the editor of the Calcutta Statesman visited Nankana Sahib, where he met the
handful of Sikhs permitted by Pakistan to stay on as guardians of the shrine. A few months later the
journalist visited the centre of the Ahmadiya sect of Islam, the town of Qadian, which lay in the Indian
Punjab. The great tower of the Ahmadiya mosque was visible from miles around, but with in its
precincts there now lived only 300 of the faithful. Otherwise, the town had been taken over by 12,000
Hindu and Sikh refugees. In both Qadian and Nankana Sahib there was ‘the conspicuous dearth of
daily worshippers, the aching emptiness, the sense of waiting, of hope and . . . of faith fortified by
humbling affliction’.2

I1

The bulk of the migrants from West Punjab were farmers; but there were also many who were
artisans, traders and labourers. To accommodate them the government built brand-new townships.
One, Farida-bad, lay twenty miles south of the nation’s capital, Delhi. Among the groups active here
was the Indian Cooperative Union (ICU), an organization headed by Kamaladevi Chattopadhyaya, a
socialist and feminist who had been closely associated with Mahatma Gandhi.

The residents of Faridabad were mostly Hindu refugees from the North-West Frontier Province.
A social worker named Sudhir Ghosh encouraged them to construct their own homes. However, the
government wished to build the houses through its Public Works Department (PWD), notorious for its
sloth and corruption, widely known both as the ‘Public Waste Department’ and as ‘Plunder Without
Danger’. In protest a group of refugees besieged the prime minister’s house in Delhi. They were a
‘nuisance’ to Nehru, who encountered them as he went to work every morning, but at least they made
him ‘think furiously of the problems’ facing the refugees. In atypically Indian compromise, the
refugees were allowed to build about 40 per cent of the houses, with the PWD constructing the rest.

In Faridabad, the ICU organized co-operatives and self-help groups, setting up shops and small



production units. To power these, and to light up the homes, a diesel plant was erected at short notice.
This plant lay in ashed in Calcutta, where it had come as part of German war reparations. No one
wanted it in that city, so it was sent to Faridabad instead. Sudhir Ghosh located the German engineer
who had built the plant in Hamburg, and persuaded him to come to India. The engineer came, but to
his dismay no cranes were available to erect it. So he trained the Faridabad men to operate 15-tonne
jack screws, which helped raise the equipment inch-by-inch. In ten months the plant was ready. In
April 1951 Nehru himself came to commission it, and as he ‘pressed the button, the lights came on
and lifted the spirits of all in Faridabad. The township had power in its hands to fashion its industrial
future.’8

Meanwhile, thousands of refugees had made their homes in Delhi itself. Till 1911 that city had
been Muslim in character and culture. In that year, the British shifted their capital there from Calcutta.
After 1947 New Delhi became the seat of the government of free India. Urdu-speaking Muslims went
away to Pakistan, many unwillingly, while Punjabi-speaking Hindus and Sikhs arrived in their place.
They set up house, and shop, wherever they could. In the middle of the city lay Connaught Circus, a
majestic shopping arcade designed by R. T. Russell. Had Russell ever seen what became of his
creation, he would perhaps have been ‘spinning in his grave like a dervish’. In 1948 and 1949, ‘stalls
and push-carts of every size and shape’ had been set up along the pavements. Thus, ‘what was once a
shaded walk where the stopper could stroll at leisure, inspecting the goods on offer and not meeting an
insistent salesman, unless he or she went into a store, has become pandemonium . . . All in all, the
exclusive shopping district of New Delhi, which in pre-independence days catered to the elite and
wealthy, is now just a glorified bazaar.’Z

Almost half amillion refugees came to settle in Delhi after Partition. They flooded the city,
‘spreading themselves out wherever they could. They thronged in camps, schools, colleges, temples,
gurdwaras, dharamshalas, military barracks, and gardens. They squatted on railway platforms, streets,
pavements, and every conceivable space.’” In time, these squatters built houses on land allotted to them
to the west and south of Lutyens’s Delhi.Here rose colonies that to this day are dominated by
Punjabis: nagars or townships named after Patel, Rajendra (Prasad) and Lajpat (Rai), Hindu Congress
leaders they particularly admired.

Like their counterparts settled on the farms of East Punjab, the refugees in Delhi displayed much
thrift and drive. In time they came to gain ‘a commanding influence in Delhi’, dominating its trade
and commerce. Indeed, a city that was once a Mughal city, then a British city, had by the 1950s
emphatically become a Punjabi city.&

II1

Like Delhi, the city of Bombay also had its culture and social geography transformed by Partition. By
July 1948 there were half a million refugees in the city, these arriving from Sindh, Punjab and the
Frontier. The refugees further intensified what was already the most acute of Bombay’s problems: the
housing shortage. Almost a million people were now sleeping on the pavements. Slums were growing
apace. In crowded tenements, people lived fifteen or twenty to a room.2

One journalist claimed that the total losses of Sindh refugees were Rs4,000-5,000 million, since
back home they had owned large amounts of land, dominated the public services and controlled
business and trade. Whereas the Punjabi refugees now had East Punjab as their own, to fulfil there ‘the
essentials of an independent corporate existence and the attributes of an autonomous Government’, the
Sindh is had nothing similar on which to rebuild.22 Some looked beseechingly or angrily to the state;



others took matters into their own hands. Thus, in Bombay, it was ‘a sight to see even little Sindhi
boys hawking pieces of cloth in the thoroughfares of the city. They have got salesmanship in their
blood. That is why the Gujaratis and Maharashtrians have not taken kindly to the Sindhi invader. Even
little urchins from the backwoods of Sind are able to make a living by selling trinkets in suburban
trains.t

There were five refugee camps in Bombay. Their condition left much to be desired. The Kolwada
camp had 10,400 people living in barracks. The average space allotted to each family was thirty-six
square feet. There were only twelve water taps in the entire camp, no doctors, only one school and no
electricity. The place was run in dictatorial fashion by a man named Pratap Singh. In April 1950 a
minor riot broke out when some tenants refused to pay rent, protesting their living conditions. Pratap
Singh had them served with an eviction order, and when they resisted, called in the police. In the
ensuing affray a young man was killed. The journalist reporting the story appropriately called the
residents of the camp ‘inmates’; as he noted, ‘other inmates [were] huge cat-sized ugly rats, bugs,
mosquitoes, and snakes’.12

The refugees from Sindh spread themselves across the towns and cities of western India. Apart
from Bombay, there were substantial communities in Pune and Ahmedabad. A social psychologist
visiting them in the autumn of 1950 found the Sindh is deeply dissatisfied. The ‘complaints of
crowded, filthy quarters, inadequate water, insufficient rations, and above all, insufficient support
from the government, are almost universal’. A refugee in Ahmedabad said that ‘we are eating stuff
which we used to throw away in Pakistan for the birds to eat’. Others complained of ill treatment by
the local Gujaratis, and were particularly hostile towards the Muslims. And they fulminated against
the Indian state, although they exonerated Nehru himself. ‘Our government is useless,’ they said. ‘All
are thieves collected together. Only Pandit [Nehru] is all right; the rest are all worthless and self-
serving. The Pandit himself says what he can do; the rest of the machinery does not work.’13

IV

The influx of refugees also transformed the landscape of India’s third great metropolis, Calcutta.
Before Partition, the more prosperous Hindu families of eastern Bengal had begun moving with their
assets to the city. After Partition the immigration was chiefly of working-class and farming families.
Unlike in the Punjab, where the exodus happened in one big rush, in Bengal it was spread out.
However, in the winter of 1949-50 there was a wave of communal riots in East Pakistan which forced
many more Hindus across the border. In previous years about 400,000 refugees came into West
Bengal; in 1950 the number jumped to 1.7 million.

Where did these people seek refuge? Those who could, stayed with relatives. Others made a home
on the city’s railway stations, where their beds, boxes and other accessories lay spread out on the
platform. Here ‘families lived, slept, mated, defecated and ate on the concrete amidst flies, lice,
infants and diarrhoea. Victims of cholera would lie exhausted staring at their vomit, women were kept
busy delousing each other, beggars begged.’ Still others lived on the street, ‘with the stray cattle, like
the stray cattle, drinking gutter-water, eating garbage, sleeping on the curb . . .’14

So wrote the Manchester Guardian correspondent in India. In truth, the refugees were a good deal
less passive than this description suggests.

Early in 1948 a ‘large number of refugees, disgusted with their miserable existence at Sealdah station,
occupied the Lake military barracks, Jodhpur military barracks, the Mysore House and other large
unoccupied houses and military barracks at Shahpur, Durgapur, Ballygunge Circular Road and



Dharmatala. Almost overnight these deserted houses swarmed with refugee men, women and children.
These were deliberate acts of trespass.’12

Where some refugees took possession of empty houses, others colonized vacant land along roads
and railway lines, as well as freshly cleared shrub jungle and recently drained marshes. The squatters
‘would stealthily enter these plots at night, and under cover of darkness rapidly put up makeshift
shelters. They would then refuse to leave, while offering in many instances to pay a fair price for the
land.’16

It was the government of West Bengal that willy-nilly forced the refugees to take the law into
their own hands. For one thing, there had been no massive migration in the other direction — as there
had been in the Punjab — leaving untended fields and farms for the refugees to be settled in. For
another, the government liked to believe — or hope — that this influx was temporary, and that when
things settled down the Hindus would return to their homes in the east. Buttressing this belief was the
claim that the Bengalis were somehow less ‘communal-minded’ than the Punjabis. Here, the Muslim
spoke the same language and ate the same food as his Hindu neighbour; thus he might more readily
continue to live cheek-by-jowl with him.

This latter argument was vigorously rejected by the refugees themselves. For them there was no
going back to what they saw as an Islamic state. They found support for their views in the person of
the historian Sir Jadunath Sarkar, arguably the most influential Bengali intellectual of his generation.
Addressing a mammoth public meeting of refugees, held on 16 August 1948, Sir Jadunath compared
the migration of East Bengal Hindus to the flight of French Huguenots in the time of Louis XIV. He
urged the people of West Bengal to absorb and integrate the migrants, thus to nourish their culture and
economy. With the help of the refugees, said the historian, ‘we must make our West Bengal what
Palestine under Jewish Rule will be, a light in darkness, an oasis of civilisation in the desert of
medieval ignorance and obsolete theocratic bigotry’.1Z

In September 1948 an All-Bengal Refugee Council of Action was formed. Marches and
demonstrations were organized demanding that the refugees be given fair compensation and
citizenship rights. The leaders of the movement aimed to throw ‘regimented bands of refugees in the
streets of Calcutta and to maintain a relentless pressure on the Government . . . Processions,
demonstrations and meetings, traffic jams, brickbats and teargas shells and lathis [bamboo sticks used
by the police as weapons]coming down in showers, burning tramcars and buses, and occasional firings
— these became the hallmark of the city.’18

Displaced from their homes by forces outside their control, refugees everywhere are potential
fodder for extremist movements. In Delhi and the Punjab it was the radical Hindu organization, the
Rashtriya Swayamsevak Sangh, that very early on got a foothold among the migrants. In Bengal the
RSS’s sister organization, the Hindu Mahasabha, also worked hard at giving a religious colour to the
problem. The Bengali Hindus, they said, ‘have been made sacrificial goats in the great Yajna of
India’s freedom’. In asking them to return to East Pakistan, the government was guilty of
‘appeasement’ and of abetting ‘genocide’ While the state asked them to submit, what the refugees
needed was a stiff dose of ‘the virility of man’. ‘One only wishes’, wrote one angry Hindu in March
1950, that ‘a Shivaji or a Rana Pratap emerged from their ranks’.12

This invocation of medieval Hindu warriors who had fought Muslim kings found more takers in
Delhi and the Punjab. In Bengal, however, it was the communists who most successfully mobilized the
refugees. It was they who organized the processions to government offices, and it was they who
orchestrated the forcible occupation of fallow land in Calcutta, land to which the refugees ‘had no
sanction other than organized strength and dire necessity’. Thus in differentparts of the city grew
numerous impromptu settlements, ‘clusters of huts with thatch, tile or corrugated-iron roofs, bamboo-
mat walls and mud floors, built in the East Bengal style’.2



By early 1950 there were about 200,000 refugees in these squatter colonies. In the absence of
state support, the refugees ‘formed committees of their own, framed rules for the administration of the
colonies and organised themselves into a vast united body’.ZZ A ‘South Calcutta Refugee
Rehabilitation Committee’ claimed to represent 40,000 families who, in their respective colonies, had
constructed a total of 500 miles of road, sunk 700 tube wells and started 45 high schools as well as 100
primary schools — all at their own expense and through their own initiative. The Committee demanded
that the government make these colonies ‘legal by formally bringing them under the Calcutta
Municipality, that it similarly regularize private plots and school buildings, and help develop markets
and arrange loans.2

Those who spoke for these migrants frequently complained about the preferential treatment given
to the Punjabi refugees. A team of Bengali social workers visiting north India found the camps there
‘of a superior kind’. The houses were permanent, with running water and adequate sanitation; whereas
in West Bengal the refugees had to make do with ‘decaying bamboo hutments’ where ‘lack of privacy
and of kitchen space is notorious’. Cash and clothing allowances were also higher in the north. 2

On the whole, the resettlement process was far less painful in the Punjab. By the early 1950s the
refugees in the north had found new homes and new jobs. But in the east the insecurity persisted. So
long as the Bengali refugees remained ‘unsettled and unemployed, wrote one correspondent in July
1954, ‘economic and political discontent will grow; the Communists will succeed in exploiting their
grievances’.%

\"

Unquestionably the main victims of Partition were women: Hindu, Sikh, and Muslim. As the respected
Sindhi Congress politician Choitram Gidwani put it, ‘in no war have the women suffered so much’.
Women were killed, maimed, violated and abandoned. After Independence the brothels of Delhi and
Bombay came to be filled with refugee women, who had been thrown out by their families after what
someone else had done to them — against their will.z

In the summer of 1947, as the violence in the Punjab spread from village to village, Hindus and
Sikhs in the east of the province abducted and kept Muslim women. On the other side the compliment
— if it may be called that — was returned, with young Hindu and Sikh girls seized by Muslim men.
However, after the dust had settled down and the blood dried, the governments of India and Pakistan
agreed that these captured women must be returned to their original families.

On the Indian side, the operation to recover abducted women was led by Mridula Sarabhai and
Rameshwari Nehru. Both came from aristocratic homes and both had sturdily nationalist credentials.
Their work was encouraged and aided by Jawaharlal Nehru, who took a deep personal interest in the
process. In a radio broadcast to the refugees, the prime minister spoke especially ‘to those women who
are the victims of all these hardships’. He assured them that ‘they should not feel that we have any
hesitation whatsoever in bringing them back or that we have any doubts about their virtue. We want to
bring them back with affection because it had not been their fault. They were forcefully abducted and
we want to bring them back respectfully and keep them lovingly. They must not doubt that they will
come back to their families and be given all possible help.’26

The abducted women were tracked down singly, case by case. When a person had been located,
the police would enter the village at sunset, after the men had returned from the fields. An ‘informer’
would lead them to the home of the abductor. The offender would usually deny that the woman in his
possession had been seized. After his objections were overcome -sometimes by force — the woman



would be taken away, at first to a government camp, and then across the border.2Z

By May 1948 some 12,500 women had been found and restored to their families. Ironically, and
tragically, many of the women did not want to be rescued at all. For after their seizure they had made
some kind of peace with their new surroundings. Now, as they were being reclaimed, these women
were deeply unsure about how their original families would receive them. They had been ‘defiled’
and, in a further complication, many were pregnant. These women knew that even if they were
accepted, their children — born out of a union with the ‘enemy’ — would never be. Often, the police and
their accomplices had to use force to take them away. “You could not save us then’, said the women,
‘what right have you to compel us now?’28

VI

Compounding the refugee crisis were serious shortages of food. After the end of the war imports of
grain were steadily on the rise, increasing from 0.8 million tons (mt) in 1944 to 2.8 mt four years
later. On the eve of Independence a politician traveling through the district of East Godavari found
men and women surviving on tamarind seeds, palmyra fruits, and the bark of the jeelugu tree — these
boiled together into gruel, eating which led to bloated stomachs, diarrhoea and sometimes death. The
following year the rainsfailed in the western province of Gujarat, leading to acute waterandfodder
scarcity. Wells and river beds ran dry, and cattle and goats died ofhunger and disease.2

In some places farmers were starving; in other places they were restive. In the uncertainty
following the Indian takeover of Hyderabad, the communists moved swiftly to assume control of the
Telengana region. They were aided by a pile of .303 rifles and Mark V guns left behind by the
retreating Razakars. The communists destroyed the palatial homes of landlords and distributed their
land to tillers of the soil. Dividing themselves into several dalams,or groups, each responsible for a
number of villages, the communists asked peasants not to pay land revenue, and enforced law and
order themselves.2 In districts such as Warangal and Nalgonda, their work at getting rid of feudalism
won the Reds much support. A Congress politician visiting the area admitted that ‘every housewife
silently rendered valuable assistance to the communists. Innocent looking villagers extended active
sympathy to [them].’3L

Their successes in Hyderabad had encouraged the communists to think of a countrywide peasant
revolution. Telengana, they hoped, would be the beginning of a Red India. The party unveiled its new
line at a secret conference held in Calcutta in February 1948. The mood was set by a speaker who said
that the ‘heroic people of Telengana’ had shown the way ‘to freedom and real democracy’; they were
the ‘real future of India and Pakistan’. If only the communist cadres could ‘create this spirit of
revolution among the masses, among the toiling people, we shall find reaction collapsing like ahouse
of cards’.22

At the Calcutta meeting, the party elected anewgeneral secretary, with P. C. Joshi giving way to
B. T. Ranadive. By character, Ranadive was solemn and studious, unlike the playful and likeable
Joshi. (Both, notably, were upper caste Hindus — as was typical of communist leaders of the day.)3:

Joshi was a friend of Nehru who urged ‘loyal opposition’ to the ruling Congress Party. He argued
that after the murder of Gandhi the survival of free India was at stake. He supervised the production of
a party pamphlet whose title proclaimed, We Shall Defend the Nehru Government (against the forces
of Hindu revivalism). Ranadive, however, was a hardliner who believed that India was controlled by a
bourgeois government that was beholden to the imperialists. Now, in a complete about-turn, the party
described Nehru as alackey of American imperialism. The pamphlet printed by the former general



secretary was pulped. Joshi himself was demoted to a status of an ordinary member and a whole series
of charges were levelled against him. He was dubbed a reformist who had encouraged the growth of
‘anti-revolutionary’ tendencies in the party.3

The new line of the Communist Party of India held that Nehru’s government had joined the
Anglo-American alliance in an ‘irreconcilable conflict’ with the ‘democratic camp’ led by the Soviet
Union. The scattered disillusionment with the Congress was taken by B. T. Ranadive as a sign of a
‘mounting revolutionary upsurge’. From his underground hideout he called for a general strike and
peasant uprisings across the country. Communist circulars urged their cadres to ‘fraternize with the
revolutionary labourers in the factories and the students in the streets’, and to ‘turn your guns and
bayonets and fire upon the Congress fascists’. The ultimate aim was to ‘destroy the murderous
Congress government’32

Ranadive and his men took heart from the victory of the communists in China. In September
1949, shortly after Mao Zedong had come to power, Ranadive wrote him a letter of congratulation,
saying that ‘the toiling masses of India feel jubilant over this great victory. They know it hastens their
own liberation. They are inspired by it to fight more determinedly and courageously their battle for
ending the present regime [in India] and establishing the rule of People’s Democracy.’ 36 The Indian
communists were also egged on by Russian theoreticians, who believed that ‘the political regime
established in India is similar in many respects to the anti-popular, reactionary regime which existed
in Kuomintang China’.2Z The Soviet embassy in Delhi itself had a large staff, such that (in the words
of a senior civil servant) the Indian ‘communist movement [was] receiving first-class direction on the
spot’.38

The communists had declared war on the Indian state. The government responded with all the
force at its command. As many as 50,000 party men and sympathizers were arrested and detained. In
Hyderabad the police arrested important leaders of communist dalams, although Ravi Narayan Reddy,
‘the father of the Communist movement in Deccan, [was] still at large’. The military governor, J. N.
Chaudhuri, launched a propaganda war against the communists. Telugu pamphlets dropped on the
villages announced that the Nizam’s private Crown lands would be distributed to the peasantry.
Theatrical companies touring the villages presented the government case through drama and
pantomime. In one play, Chaudhuri was portrayed as a Hindu deity; the communists, as demons.32

The propaganda and the repression had its effect. The membership of the party dropped from
89,000 in 1948 to a mere 20,000 two years later. The government’s counter-offensive had exposed the
‘lack of popular empathy it experienced for its unbridled revolutionism’. It appears the party had
grossly underestimated the hold of the Congress over the Indian people.%2

Even as the communists were losing their influence, a band of extremists was gathering strength
on the right. This was the Rashtriya Swayamsevak Sangh. After the murder of Mahatma Gandhi in
January 1948, the RSS was banned by the government. Although not directly involved in the
assassination, the organization had been active in the Punjab violence, and had much support among
disaffected refugees. Their worldview was akin to Nathuram Godse’s, and it was widely rumoured that
RSS men had privately celebrated his killing of the Mahatma. Writing to the Punjab government two
weeks after Gandhi’s death, Nehru said that ‘we have had enough suffering already in India because of
the activities of the R.S.S. and like groups . . . These people have the blood of Mahatma Gandhi on
their hands, and pious disclaimers and disassociation now have no meaning.’4.

So the RSS was banned, and its cadres arrested. However, after a year the government decided to
make the organization legal once more. Its head, M. S. Golwalkar, had now agreed to ask his men to
profess loyalty to the Constitution of India and the national flag, and to restrict the Sangh’s activities
‘to the cultural sphere abjuring violence or secrecy’. The RSS chief promised the home minister,
Vallabhbhai Patel, that ‘while rendering help to the people in distress, we have laid our emphasis on



promoting peace in the country’ . Patel himself had mixed feelings about the RSS. While deploring
their anti-Muslim rhetoric he admired their dedication and discipline. In lifting the ban on the Sangh,
he advised them ‘that the only way for them is to reform the Congress from within, if they think the
Congress is going on the wrong path’.42

After the RSS was made legal, Golwalkar made a ‘triumphal’ speaking tour across the country,
drawing ‘mammoth crowds’ The Sangh, wrote one observer, ‘has emerged from its recent ordeal with
a mass support that other parties, not excluding the Congress, might well envy and guard against,
while it is yet time, unless they wish to see the country delivered to a Hindu irredentism that will lead
it to certain disaster’. The RSS was the Hindu answer to the Muslim League, ‘imbued with
aggressively communal ideas, and with the determination that there must be no compromise with the
ideal of apure and predominant Hindu culture in Bharat-Varsh’4

Like the communist B. T. Ranadive, Golwalkar was an upper caste Maharashtrian. Both men
were relatively young — in their early forties — and both commanded the loyalty of hundreds of cadres
a good deal younger than themselves. The RSS and the communists likewise drew upon the energy and
idealism of youth, and upon its fanaticism too. In the early years of Indian independence, these two
groups were the most motivated opponents of the ruling Congress Party.

At the helm of the Congress was the Prime Minister, Jawaharlal Nehru. In confronting the
radicals of left and right, Nehru faced two major handicaps. First, he was a moderate, and the middle
ground is generally not conducive to the kind of stirring rhetoric that compels men to act. Second, he
and his colleagues were far older than their political rivals. In 1949 Nehru himself was sixty, an age at
which a Hindu male is supposed to retire from the workaday world and take sanyas.

Nehru saw the RSS as the greater of the two threats. Others in his government, notably
Vallabhbhai Patel, disagreed. Intriguingly, M. S. Golwalkar had written to Patel offering help in
battling the common enemy — the communists. ‘If we utilize the power of your government and the
cultural strength of our organization’, he wrote, ‘we will be able to get rid of the [Red] menace very
soon.’# This idea of a joint front appealed to Patel; indeed, it may have been one reason he
contemplated absorbing the RSS within the Congress.

In the event, members of the RSS were not admitted into the Congress. But Golwalkar remained
at large, free to propagate his views to those who chose to hear them. In the first week of November
1949, the RSS chief addressed a crowd of 100,000 in Bombay’s Shivaji Park. A reporter in attendance
described him as ‘a man of medium height with a sunken chest, long uncut and unkempt hair and a
flowing beard’. He looked for all the world like a harmless Hindu ascetic, except that ‘the black
piercing eyes deep in the sockets gave the [RSS] Chief the typical look of a black magician about to
pull out a blood-curdling trick’. Before he spoke, Golwalkar was presented with garlands by clubs
specializing in body-building and the martial arts. The speech itself ‘waxed hot on the virtues of
Hindu culture. As the reporter put it: ‘He had a cure-all for the ills of the nation: Make Golwalkar the
Fiihrer of All India’4

A week later Jawaharlal Nehru came to speak in Bombay. The venue was the same as for
Golwalkar: Shivaji Park, that oasis of green grass in the heart of the densely packed, middle-class,
chiefly Marathi-speaking housing colonies of central Bombay. Nehru used the same microphone as
Golwalkar, this supplied by the Motwane Chicago Telephone and Radio Company. But his message
was emphatically different, for he spoke of the need to maintain social peace within India as well as
peace between warring nations abroad.

Nehru’s talk was delivered on his sixtieth birthday, 14 November 1949. He could not have wished
for a better present: the abundant affection of his countrymen. The prime minister was due to arrive in
Bombay at 4.30 p.m. An hour before his plane landed at Santa Cruz airport, ‘people started closing
their shops and stopped working so that they might be able to see Pandit Nehru. They jammed the



sidewalks and the streets long before the open maroon car carrying Panditji sped by. As he passed by a
tumultuous waving and rejoicing was noticed.’

An hour later, after awash and a change, Nehru arrived at Shivaji Park. Here, ‘a record crowd
[had]stampeded the vast maid an grounds to hear him. More than six lakhs [600,000] assembled that
memorable evening. There was one seething mass of humanity; men, women and children who had
come . . . to hear him for they still had faith in his leadership and ability to show the way in these hard
and trying times ahead of us.’46

A hundred thousand people had come to hear Golwalkar espouse the idea of a Hindu theocratic
state for India. But in this Maharashtrian stronghold, six times as many came to cheer the prime
minister’s defence of democracy against absolutism, and secularism against Hindu chauvinism. In this
contest between competing ideas of India, Jawaharlal Nehru was winning hands down; for the time
being, at any rate.

VII

Like the integration of the princely states, the rehabilitation of refugees was a political problem
unprecedented in nature and scope. The migrants into India from Pakistan, wrote one of their number,
were ‘like the fallen autumn leaves in the wind or bits of stray newspaper flying hither and thither in
the blown dust’. For ‘those who have come away safe in limb and mind are without any bearings and
without any roots’ .42

The refugees who came into India after Independence numbered close to 8 million. This was
greater than the populations of small European countries such as Austria and Norway, and as many as
lived in the colossal continent of Australia. These people were resettled with time, cash, effort and,
not least, idealism.

There was indeed much heroism and grandeur in the building of a new India. There were also
errors and mistakes, loose ends that remained untied. There was pain and suffering in the
extinguishing of the princely order, and there was pain and suffering in the resettlement of the
refugees. Yet both tasks were, in the end, accomplished.

Notably, the actors in this complicated and tortuous process were all Indian. This, at least on the
British side, was completely unanticipated. A former governor of Bengal had written in 1947 of how

The end of British political control in India will not mean the departure of the British, as
individuals, from India. It will not be possible for many years ahead for India to do without a
large number of British individuals in government service. They will remain under contract to the
Government of India and to the governments of the Provinces and States in a wide range of
administrative, legal, medical, police and professional and technical appointments. It will be
many years before India will be able to fill, from amongst her own sons, all the many senior
positions under the government that the administration of her 400 million people makes
necessary.4

In the event, that help was not asked for, nor was it needed. Admittedly, the rulers had left behind a set
of functioning institutions: the civil service and the police, the judiciary and the railways, among
others. At Independence, the government of India invited British members of the ICS to stay on; with
but the odd exception, they all left for home, along with their colleagues in the other services. Thus it
came to be that the heroes remembered in these pages were all Indians — whether politicians like



Nehru and Patel, bureaucrats like Tarlok Singh and V. P. Menon, or social workers like Kamaladevi
Chattopadhyaya and Mridula Sarabhai. So too were the countless others who were unnamed then and
continue to be unknown now: the officials who took in and acted upon applications for land allotment,
the officials who built the housesand ran the hospitals and schools, the officials who sat in courts and
secretariats. Also overwhelmingly Indian were the social workers who cajoled, consoled and cared for
the refugees.

An American architect who worked in India in the early years of Independence has written with
feeling of the calibre and idealism of those around him. “The number and kinds of people I’ve seen’,
wrote Albert Mayer, ‘their ability, outlook, energy, and devotion; the tingling atmosphere of plans and
expectation and uncertainty; and yet the calm and self-possession — what it adds up to is being present
at the birth of a nation.’£

In the history of nation-building only the Soviet experiment bears comparison with the Indian.
There too, a sense of unity had to be forged between many diverse ethnic groups, religions, linguistic
communities and social classes. The scale — geographic as well as demographic — was comparably
massive. The raw material the state had to work with was equally unpropitious: a people divided by
faith and riven by debt and disease.

India after the Second World War was much like the Soviet sssUnion after the First. A nation was
being built out of its fragments. In this case, however, the process was unaided by the extermination of
class enemies or the creation of gulags.



IDEAS OF INDIA

In Governance is realised all the forms of renunciation; in Governance is united all the
sacraments; in Governance is combined all knowledge; in Governance is centred all the Worlds.

The Mahabharata

Constitutional morality is not a natural sentiment. It has to be cultivated. We must realize that
our people have yet to learn it. Democracy in India is only a top-dressing on an Indian soil, which
is essentially undemocratic.

B. R. AvMBEDKAR

Witn 395 armicies anp 12 schedules the constitution of India is probably the longest in the world.
Coming into effect in January 1950, it was framed over a period of three years, between December
1946 and December 1949. During this time its drafts were discussed clause by clause in the
Constituent Assembly of India. In all, the Assembly held eleven sessions, whose sittings consumed
165 days. In between the sessions the work of revising and refining the drafts was carried out by
various committees and sub-committees.

The proceedings of the Constituent Assembly of India were printed in eleven bulky volumes.
These volumes — some of which exceed 1,000 pages — are testimony to the loquaciousness of Indians,
but also to their insight, intelligence, passion and sense of humour. These volumes are a little-known
treasure-trove, invaluable to the historian, but also a potential source of enlightenment to the
interested citizen. In them we find many competing ideas of the nation, of what language it should
speak, what political and economic systems it should follow, what moralvalues it should uphold or
disavow.

I1

From the early 1930s the Congress had insisted that Indians would frame their own constitution. In
1946 Lord Wavell finally gave in to the demand. The members of the Assembly were chosen on the
basis of that year’s provincial elections. However, the Muslim League chose to boycott the early
sittings, making it effectively a one-party forum.

The first meeting of the Constituent Assembly was held on 9 December 1946. A sense of
anticipation was in the air. The leading Congress members, such as Nehru and Patel, sat on the front
benches. But to demonstrate that it was not merely a Congress Party show, known opponents such as
Sarat Bose of Bengal were given seats alongside them. A nationalist newspaper noted that ‘nine
women members were present, adding colour’ to a scene dominated by Gandhi caps and Nehru
jackets.!

Apart from the members sent by the provinces of British India, the Constituent Assembly also



had representatives of the princely states, sent as these states joined the Union one by one. Eighty-two
per cent of Assembly members were also members of the Congress. However, since the party was
itself a broad church they held a wide range of views. Some were atheists and secularists, others
‘technically members of the Congress but spiritually members of the RSS and the Hindu Mahasabha’.2
Some were socialists in their economic philosophy, others defenders of the rights of landlords. Aside
from the diversity within it, the Congress also nominated independent members of different caste and
religious groups and ensured the representation of women. It particularly sought out experts in the
law. In the event ‘there was hardly any shade of public opinion not represented in the Assembly’3

This expansion of the social base of the Assembly was in part an answer to British criticism.
Winston Churchill in particular had poured scorn on the idea of a Constituent Assembly dominated by
‘one major community in India’, the caste Hindus. In his view the Congress was not a truly
representative party, but rather a mouth piece of ‘actively organised and engineered minorities who,
having seized upon power by force, or fraud or chicanery, go forward and use that power in the name
of vast masses with whom they have long since lost all effective connection’.4

The procefss was made more participatory by asking for submissions from the public at large.
There were hundreds of responses, a sampling of which gives a clue to the interests the law-makers
had to take account of. Thus the All-India Varnashrama Swarajya Sangh (based in Calcutta) asked that
the constitution ‘be based on the principles laid down in ancient Hindu works’. The prohibition of
cow-slaughter and the closing down of abbatoirs was particularly recommended. Low-caste groups
demanded an end to their ‘ill treatment by upper-caste people’ and ‘reservation of separate seats on
the basis of their population in legislature, government departments, and local bodies, etc.’. Linguistic
minorities asked for ‘freedom of speech in [the] mother tongue’ and the ‘redistribution of provinces
on linguistic basis’. Religious minorities asked for special safeguards. And bodies as varied as the
District Teachers Guild of Vizianagaram and the Central Jewish Board of Bombay requested
‘adequate representation . . . on all public bodies including legislatures etc.’s

These submissions testify to the baffling heterogeneity of India, but also to the precocious
existence of a rights culture among Indians. They were many; they were divided; above all, they were
vocal. The Constitution of India had to adjudicate among thousands of competing claims and
demands. The task was made no easier by the turmoil of the times. The Assembly met between 1946
and 1949, against a backdrop of food scarcity, religious riots, refugee resettlement, class war and
feudal intransigence. As one historian of the process has put it, ‘Fundamental Rights were to be
framed amidst the carnage of Fundamental Wrongs’.¢

II1

The Constituent Assembly had more than 300 members. In his magisterial history of the Indian
Constitution, Granville Austin identifies twenty as being the most influential. Of these, as many as
twelve had law degrees, including the Congress stalwarts Jawaharlal Nehru, Vallabhbhai Patel and
Rajendra Prasad.

Nehru’s first major speech in the Assembly was on 13 December 1946, when he moved the
Objectives Resolution. This proclaimed India as an ‘independent sovereign republic’, guaranteeing its
citizens ‘justice, social, economic and political; equality of status; of opportunity, and before the law;
freedom of thought, expression, belief, faith, worship, vocation, association and action, subject
tolawand public morality’ — all this while assuring that ‘adequate safeguards shall be provided ssfor
minorities, backward and tribal areas, and depressed and other backward classes . . .” In moving the



resolution, Nehru invoked the spirit of Gandhi and the ‘great past of India, as well as modern
precedents such as the French, American and Russian revolutions.Z

Nine months later Nehru spoke again in that columned hall, at the midnight hour, when he asked
Indians to redeem their tryst with destiny. In between, on 22 July 1947, he had moved a resolution
proposing that the national flag of India be a ‘horizontal tricolour of saffron, white and dark green in
equal proportion, with a wheel in navy blue at the centre. On this occasion Nehru led a chorus of
competitive patriotism, with each subsequent speaker seeking to see in the colours of the flag
something special about his own community’s contribution to India.8

The speeches of symbolic importance were naturally made by Nehru. Just as naturally, the bulk
of the back-room work was done by Vallabhbhai Patel. A consummate committeeman, he played a key
role in the drafting of the various reports. It was Patel, rather than the less patient Nehru, who worked
at mediating between warring groups, taking recalcitrant members with him on his morning walks and
making them see the larger point of view. It was also Patel who moved one of the more contentious
resolutions: that pertaining to minority rights.2

The third Congress member of importance was the president of the Assembly, Rajendra Prasad.
He was nominated to the office on the day after the Assembly was inaugurated and held it with dignity
until the end of its term. His was an unenviable task, for Indians are better speakers than listeners, and
Indian politicians especially so. Prasadhad to keep the peace between quarrelsome members and (just
as difficult) keep to the clock men who sometimes had little sense of what was trifling and what
significant.

Outside this Congress trinity the most crucial member of the Assembly was the brilliant low-
caste lawyer B. R. Ambedkar. Ambedkar was law minister in the Union government; and also
chairman of the Drafting Committee of the Indian Constitution. Serving with him were two other
formidable minds: K. M. Munshi, a Gujarati polymath who was a novelist and lawyer as well as
freedom fighter, and Alladi Krishnaswami Aiyar, a Tamil who for fifteen years had served as advocate
general to the Madras presidency.

To these six men one must add a seventh who was not a member of the Assembly at all. This was
B. N. Rau, who served as constitutional adviser to the government of India. In along career in the
Indian Civil Service Rau had a series of legal appointments. Using his learning and experience, and
following a fresh study-tour of Western democracies, Rau prepared a series of notes for Ambedkar
and his team to chew upon. Rau, in turn, was assisted by the chief draughtsman, S. N. Mukherjee,
whose ‘ability to put the most intricate proposals in the simplest and clearest legal form can rarely be
equalled’.l

IV

Moral vision, political skill, legal acumen: these were all brought together in the framing of the Indian
Constitution. This was a coming together of what Granville Austin has called the ‘national’ and
‘social’ revolutions respectively.1l The national revolution focused on democracy and liberty — which
the experience of colonial rule had denied to all Indians — whereas the social revolution focused on
emancipation and equality, which tradition and scripture had withheld from women and low castes.
Could these twin revolutionsbe brought about by indigenous methods? Some advocated a
‘Gandhian constitution’, based on a revived panchayati raj system of village councils, with the village
as the basic unit of politics and governance. This was sharply attacked by B. R. Ambedkar, who held
that ‘these village republics have been the ruination of India’. Ambedkar was ‘surprised that those



who condemn Provincialism and communalism should come forward as champions of the village.
What is the village but a sink of localism, a den of ignorance, narrow-mindedness and
communalism?’12

These remarks provoked outrage in some quarters. The socialist H. V. Kamath dismissed
Ambedkar’s attitude as ‘typical of the urban highbrow’. The peasant leader N. G. Ranga said that
Ambedkar’s comments only showed his ignorance of Indian history. ‘All the democratic traditions of
our country has [sic] been lost on him. If he had only known the achievements of the village
panchayats in Southern India over a period of amillennium, he would not have said those things.12

However, the feisty female member from the United Provinces, Begum Aizaz Rasul, ‘entirely
agreed’ with Dr Ambedkar.Asshe saw it, the ‘modern tendency is towards the rights of the citizen as
against any corporate body and village panchayats can be very autocratic’4

Ultimately it was the individual, rather than the village, that was chosen as the unit. In other
respects, too, the constitution was to look towards Euro-American rather than Indian precedents. The
American presidential system was considered and rejected, as was the Swiss method of directly
electing Cabinet ministers. Several members argued for proportional representation, but this was
never taken very seriously. Another former British colony, Ireland, had adopted PR, but when the
constitutional adviser, B. N. Rau, visited Dublin, Eamon de Valera himself told him that he wished the
Irish had adopted the British ‘first-past-the-post’ system of elections and the British cabinet system.
This, he felt, made for a strong government. In India, where the number of competing interest groups
was immeasurably larger, it made even more sense to follow the British model.1> The lower house of
Parliament, as well as the lower houses of the provinces, were to be chosen on the basis of universal
adult franchise. After much discussion Parliament, as well as most provinces, decided also to have a
second chamber to act as a check on the excesses of democratic zeal. Its members were chosen
through indirect election, in the case of the Upper House of Parliament by the state legislatures.

While the Cabinet was headed by a prime minister, the head of state was a president elected by a
college comprising the national and provincial legislatures. The president would be the commander-
in-chief of the armed forces, and had the power to refer bills back to Parliament. This was a position
of ‘great authority and dignity’, but, like those of the British monarchy, one with’no real power’.1 (In
the provinces a governor nominated by the ‘centre’ (as central government was coming to be known)
played a role comparable to the president’s.) The constitution provided for an independent election
commission, and an independent comptroller general of accounts. To protect the judiciary from party
politics, judges were to be appointed by the president in consultation with the chief justice, while their
salaries were not decided by Parliament but charged directly to the Treasury. The Supreme Court in
Delhi was seen both as the guardian of the social revolution and as the guarantor of civil and minority
rights. It was endowed with broad appellate jurisdiction — any civil or criminal case could be referred
to it so long as it involved an interpretation of the constitution.

The constitution mandated for a complex system of fiscal federalism. In the case of some taxes
(for instance customs duties and company taxes) the centre retained all the proceeds; in other cases
(such as income taxes and excise duties) it shared them with the states; in still other cases (e.g. estate
duties) it assigned them wholly to the states. The states, meanwhile, could levy and collect certain
taxes on their own: these included land and property taxes, sales tax, and the hugely profitable tax on
bottled liquor.

These financial provisions borrowed heavily from the Government of India Act of 1935. The
‘conscience of the constitution’,’2 meanwhile, was contained in Parts III and IV, which outlined a
series of fundamental rights and directive principles. The fundamental rights, which were enforceable
in a court of law, derived from the obligations of the state not to encroach upon or stifle personal
liberty, and to protect individuals and groups from arbitrary state action. The rights defined included



freedom and equality before the law, the cultural rights of minorities, and the prohibition of such
practices as untouchability and forced labour.18 The directive principles, which were not justiciable,
derived from the positive obligations of the state to provide for amore fulfilling life for the citizen.
They were a curious amalgam of contending pulls. Some principles were a concession to the socialist
wing of the Congress, others (such as the ban on cow-slaughter) to the party’s conservative faction.12

To the unprejudiced eye the constitution was an adaptation of Western principles to Indian ends.
Some patriotsdid not see it that way. They claimed that it was Indians who had invented adult
suffrage. T. Prakasam spoke about an inscription on a 1,000-year-old Conjeevaram temple which
talked of an election held with leaves as ballot papers and pots as ballot boxes.22 This kind of
chauvinism was not the preserve of the south alone. The Hindi scholar Raghu Vira claimed that
ancient India was ‘the originator of the Republican system of government’, and ‘spread this system to
the otherparts of the world’.2

Those who had looked closely at the provisions of the constitution could not thus console
themselves. Mahavir Tyagi was ‘very much disappointed [to] see nothing Gandhian in this
Constitution’.2 And K. Hanumanthaiya complained that while freedom fighters like himself had
wanted ‘the music of Veena or Sitar’, what they had got instead was ‘the music of an English band’23

\"

The Constitution of India sought both to promote national unity and to facilitate progressive social
change. There was a fundamental right to propagate religion, but the state reserved to itself the right to
impose legislation oriented towards social reform (such as a uniform civil code). The centre had the
powers, through national planning, to redistribute resources away from richer provinces to poorer
ones. The right of due process was not allowed in property legislation, another instance in which the
social good as defined by the state took precedence over individual rights. Land-reform laws were on
the anvil in many provinces, and the government wanted to close the door to litigation by disaffected
moneylenders and landlords.

Fundamental rights were qualified and limited by needs of social reform, and also by
considerations of security and public order. There were provisions for rights to be suspended in times
of ‘national emergency’. And there was a clause allowing for ‘preventive detention’ without trial. A
veteran freedom fighter called this ‘the darkest blot on this constitution’. Having spent ten years of his
own life in ‘dungeons and condemned cells in the days of our slavery under the British’, he knew ‘the
tortures which detention without trial means and I can never reconcile myself to it’2

The constitution showed a certain bias towards the rights of the Union of India over those of its
constituent states. There was already a unitary system in place, imposed by the colonial power. The
violence of the times gave a further push to centralization, now seen as necessary both to forestall
chaos and to plan for the country’s economic development.

The constitution provided for three areas of responsibility: union, state and concurrent. The
subjects in the first list were the preserve of the central government while those in the second list were
vested with the states. As for the third list, here centre and state shared responsibility. However, many
more items were placed under exclusive central control than in other federations, and more placed on
the concurrent list too than desired by the provinces. The centre also had control of minerals and key
industries. And Article 356 gave it the powerto takeovera state administration on the recommendation
of the governor.2

Provincial politicians fought hard for the rights of states, for fewer items to be put on the



concurrent and union lists. They asked for a greater share of tax revenues and they mounted an
ideological attack on the principle itself. A member from Orissa said that the constitution had ‘so
centralised power, that I am afraid, due to its very weight, the Centre is likely to break’. A member
from Mysore thought that what was proposed was a ‘unitary’ rather than ‘federal’ constitution. Under
its provisions ‘democracy is centred in Delhi and it is not allowed to work in the same sense and spirit
in the rest of the country’.26

Perhaps the most eloquent defence of states’ rights came from K. Santhanam of Madras. He
thought that the fiscal provisions would make provinces ‘beggars at the door of the Centre’. In the
UnitedStates, both centre and state could levy ‘all kinds of tax’, but here, crucial sources of revenue,
such as the income tax, had been denied the provinces. Besides, the Drafting Committee had tried ‘to
burden the Centre with all kinds of powers which it ought not to have .These included ‘vagrancy’,
which had been taken away from the states list and put on the concurrent list. ‘Do you want all India to
be bothered about vagrants?’ asked Santhanam sarcastically. As he put it, rather than place an
excessive load on the Union government, ‘the initial responsibility for the well-being of the people of
the provinces should rest with theP rovincial Governments’.Z

The next day a member from the United Provinces answered these charges. Hearing Santhanam,
he wondered whether it was not ‘India’s age-old historical tendency of disintegrating that was
speaking through these stalwarts’. A strong centre was an absolute imperative in these ‘times of stress
and strain . Only a strong centre would ‘be in a position to think and plan for the well-being of the
country as a whole’.28

Members of the Drafting Committee vigorously defended the unitary bias of the constitution. In
an early session B. R. Ambedkar told the House that he wanted ‘a strong united centre (hear, hear)
much stronger than the centre we had created under the Government of India Act of 1935’.2 And K.
M. Munshi argued for the construction of ‘a federation with a centre as strong as we can make it’.32 In
some matters Munshi was close to being a Hindu chauvinist; but here he found himself on the same
side as the Muslims. For the horrific communal violence of 1946 and 1947 bore witness to the need
for a strong centre. In the words of Kazi Syed Karimuddin, ‘everybody is not Pandit Jawaharlal Nehru’
(inrespect of his commitment to inter-religious harmony). There were ‘weak and vacillating
executives in all the Provinces’, said the kazi. Thus ‘what we want today is astable Government. What
we want today is a patriotic Government. What we want today is a strong Government, an impartial
and unbending executive, that does not bow before popular whims.’3!

VI

Much attention was paid by the Assembly to the rights of the minorities. The first extended discussion
of the subject took place a bare ten days after Partition. Here, a Muslim from Madras made a vigorous
plea for the retention of separate electorates. ‘As matters stand at present in this country’, said B.
Pocker Bahadur, it was ‘very difficult’ for non-Muslims ‘to realise the needs and requirements of the
Muslim community’. If separate electorates were abolished, then important groups would be left
feeling ‘that they have not got an adequate voice in the governance of the country’.32

The home minister, Sardar Patel, was deeply unsympathetic to this demand. Separate electorates
had in the past led to the division of the country. ‘Those who want that kind of thing have a place in
Pakistan, not here,’ thundered Patel to a burst of applause. ‘Here, we are building a nation and we are
laying the foundations of One Nation, and those who choose to divide again and sow the seeds of
disruption will have no place, no quarter, here, and I must say that plainly enough.’33



There were, however, some Muslims who fromthestart were opposedto separate electorates.
These included Begum Aizaz Rasul. It was ‘absolutely meaningless’ now to have reservation on the
basis of religion, said the begum. Separate electorates were ‘a self-destructive weapon which separates
the minorities from the majority for all time’. For the interests of the Muslims in a secular democracy
were ‘absolutely identical’ with those of other citizens.34

By 1949 Muslim members who had at first demanded separate electorates came round to the
begum’s point of view. They sensed that reservation for Muslims ‘would be really harmful to the
Muslims themselves’. Instead, the Muslims should reconstitute themselves as voting blocs, so that in
constituencies where they were numerous, no candidate could afford to ignore them. They could even
come to ‘have A decisive voice in the elections’; for ‘it may be that an apparently huge majority may
at the end . . . find itself defeated by a single vote’. Therefore, ‘the safety of the Muslims lies in
intelligently playing their part and mixing themselves with the Hindus in public affairs’.2

A vulnerable minority even more numerous than the Muslims were the women of India. The
female members of the Assembly had come through the national movement and were infected early
with the spirit of unity. Thus Hansa Mehta of Bombay rejected reserved seats, quotas or separate
electorates. “We have never asked for privileges’, she remarked. “What we have asked for is social
justice, economic justice, and political justice. We have asked for that equality which alone can be the
basis of mutual respect and understanding and without which real co-operation is not possible between
man and woman.’36 Renuka Roy of Bengal agreed: unlike the ‘narrow suffragist movement[s]’ of
‘many so-called enlightened nations’, the women of India strove for ‘equality of status, for justice and
for fair play and most of all to be able to take their part in responsible work in the service of their
country’. For ‘ever since the start of the Women’s Movement in this country, women have been
fundamentally opposed to special privileges and reservations’.3Z

The only voice in favour of reservation for women was a man’s. This was strange; stranger still
was the logic of his argument. From his own ‘experience as a parliamentarian and a man of the
world’,)said R. K. Chaudhuri,

I think it would be wise to provide for a women’s constituency. When a woman asks for
something, as we know, it is easy to get it and give it to her; but when she does not ask for
anything in particular it becomes very difficult to find out what she wants. If you give them a
special constituency they can have their scramble and fight there among themselves without
coming into the general constituency. Otherwise we may at times feel weak and yield in their
favour and give them seats which they are not entitled to.38

VII

There would be no reservation for Muslims and women. But the constitution d